
EXEMPTIONS FOR POLICE AND FIREFIGHTER~ 
UNDER THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOY· 
MENT ACT 

HEARING 
BEFORE THE 

SUBCOMMITTEE ON EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES 
OF THE 

OOM:MITTEE ON EDUOATION AND LABOR 
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 

NINETY-NINTH CONGRESS 

SECOND SESSION 

HEARING HELD IN WASHINGTON, DC, MARCH 12, 1986 

Serial No. 99-90 

ed for the use of the Ccmmittee on Education and Labor 

NCJRS 

@~ov 10 \986 

ACQUISITIONS 

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE 

WASHINGTON : 1986 

'or s(lle by the Superintendent of Documents. Congressional Sales Office 
U.s. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402 

If you have issues viewing or accessing this file contact us at NCJRS.gov.



COMMI'ITEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR 

AUGUSTUS F. HAWKINS, California, Chairman 

WILLIAM D. FORD, Michigan 
JOSEPH M. GAYDOS, Pennsylvania 
WILLIAM (BILL) CLAY, Missouri 
MARIO BlAGGI, New York 
AUSTIN J. MURPHY) Pennsylvania 
DALE E. KILDEE, Michigan 
PAT WILLIAMS, Montana 
MATTHEW G. MARTINEZ, California 
MAJOR R. OWENS, New York 
RICK BOUCHER, Virginia 
CHARLES A. HAYES, Illinois 
CARL C. PERKINS, Kentucky 
TERRY L. BRUCE, Illinois 
STEPHEN J. SOLARZ, New York 
MERVYN M. DYMALLY, California 
DENNIS E. ECKART, Ohio 
TIMOTHY J. PENNY, Minnesota 
CHESTER G. ATKINS, Massachusetts 

JAMES M. JEFFORDS, Vermont 
WILLIAM F. GOODLING, Pennsylvania 
E. THOMAS COLEMAN, Missouri 
THOMAS E. PETRI, Wisconsin 
MARGE ROUKEMA, New Jersey 
STEVE GUNDERSON, Wieconsin 
STEVE BARTLETT, Texas 
ROD CHANDLER, Washington 
THOMAS J. TAUKE, Iowa 
JOHN R. McKERNAN, JR., Maine 
RICHARD K. ARMEY, TeJ(as 
HARRIS W. FAWELL, Illinois 
PAUL B. HENRY, Michigan 

SUBCOMMITTEE ON EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES 

MATTHEW G. MARTINEZ, California, Chairman 
PAT WILLIAMS, Montana STEVE GUNDERSON, Wisconsin 
CHARLES A. HAYES, Illinois PAUL B. HENRY, Michigan 
CHESTER G. ATKINS, Massachusetts JAMES M. JEFFORDS, Vermont 
AUGUSTUS F. HAWKINS, California (Ex Officiol 

(Ex Officiol 

(II) 

.. 



CONTENTS 

Page 
Hearing held in Washington, DC, on March 12, 1986 ............................... .... ...... ..... 1 
Statement of: 

Furnas, Col. Larry, assistant superintendent, Indiana State Police, repre
senting the National Association of Attorney Generals; Harold Schait
berger, director, Department of Government Affairs and Public Rela
tions, International Association of Firefighters; and Robert B. Kleismet, 
president, International Union of Police Association ................................... 10 

Hughes, Hon. William, Member of Congress ...................................................... 2 
Rinaldo, Hon. Matthew, Member of Congress .................................................... 3 

Prepared statements, letters, supplemental materials, et cetera: 
Chesworth, Donald 0., superintendent, New York State Police, prepared 

statement of........................................................................................................... 75 
Finley, James A., deputy superintendent/legislative liaison, Department 

of State Police, State of Illinois, letter to Hon. Matthew G. Martinez, 
dated March 6, 1986 ............................................................................................. 99 

Hough, Gerald, letter to Hon. Matthew J. Rinaldo, dated March 11, 1986, 
expressing the support of the Michigan Department of State Police ........ 75 

International Association of Chiefs of Police, prepared statement of............ 99 
Kliestmet, Robert B, president, International Union of Police Associa-

tions, AFL-CIO, prepared statement of ........................................................... 20 
Murphy, Philip A., Jr., counsel, Commission on Human Rights and Op-

portunities, State of Connecticut, prepared statement with exhibits ........ 25 
National League of Cities, prepared statement of ............................................. 92 
National Sheriff's Association, prepared statement of..................................... 103 
Rinaldo, Hon. Matthew J., a Representative in Congress from the State of 

New Jersey, prepared statement of.................................................................. 4 
Russell, Pat, president, and Don Benninghoven, executive director, 

League of California Cities, letter to Hon. Matthew G. Martinez, dated 
March 5, 1986 ........................................................................................................ 79 

Schaitberger, Harold A., director, Department of Governmental Affairs 
and Public Relations, International Association of Firefighters, pre-
pared statement of ............................................................................................... 16 

Scheppach, Raymond C., executive director, National Governor's Associa-
tion, letter to Hon. Matthew G. Martinez, dated March 10, 1986............... 98 

Small, Bob, chairman, Governor's Oversight Committee for Mandatory 
Retirement Age of Public Safety Officers, letter to Eric Jensen, dated 
February 28, 1986 ................................................................................................. 75 

(Ill) 

U.S. Department of Justice 
Natlonallnstilute of Justice 

ThiS document has been reproduced exactly as received from the 
person or organization originating it. Points of view or opinions stated 
In this document are those of the authors and donot necessarily 
represent the official position or poliCies of the National Institute of 
Justice. 

PermiSSion to reproduce thiS GOID'Ligl;1tild material has been 
granted by • 

Public Domalll 
. U~S-:- House-of-Representatlves~ 

to the National Criminal Justice Reference Service (NCJRS) 

Further reproduction outside 01 the NCJRS system requires permis
sion of the co~t owner 



----~---- ~-- ---- --

EXEMPTIONS FOR POLICE AND FIREFIGHTERS 
UNDER THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EM
PLOYMENT ACT 

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 12, 1986 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
SUBCOMMITTEE ON EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES, 

COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR, 
Washington, DC. 

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:30 a.m., in room 
2261, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Matthew G. Martinez 
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding. 

Members present: Representatives Martinez and Hayes. 
Staff present: Eric Jensen, staff director; Valerie White, legal as

sistant; Sharon Hawley, presidential management intern; and Jeff 
Fox, minority counsel. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Congressman Hughes, why don't you sit down 
here at the table, and I will just make a brief opening statement 
and we will start then with your testimony, and as Congressman 
Rinaldo comes in, just make sure he sits down, and Mr. Hughes 
will be in his testimony and he can go ahead and join him, and 
then we will take him after we take Mr. Hughes. 

Let me just start out by saying this segment of our hearing this 
morning on retirement age ceilings of the Age Discrimination i.n 
Employment Act will focus on proposed exemptions to the ADEA 
for police and firefighters. 

Although the current ADEA mandatory retirement ceiling is 
placed at age 70, if age can be shown to be a bona fide occupational 
qualification for a job, then an exemption from the coverage of 
ADEA can be granted allowing the employer to lower the mandato
ry retirement ceiling. 

Recently, however, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commis
sion, responsible for administering and enforcing the ADEA, has 
been limiting the BFOQ's to narrow and specific job categories, 
rather than for whole occupational job forces. 

In addition, the courts, under the Supreme Court rulings, have 
reinforced the EEOC's position in limit~ng the BFOQ's, even 
though certain Federal employees have been given statutory lower 
retirement ceilings than similarly situated employees in the pri
vate sector. 

One of the bills introduced in this Congress is H.R. 1435 by Mr. 
Hughes. It would make police and firefighters in States and local
ities permanently exempt from the coverage of the ADEA. 

(1) 
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In this portion of the hearing, we will hear witnesses address 
both sides of this issue. 

We will start now with Mr. Hughes. 

STATEMENT OF HON. WILLIAM HUGHES, MEMBER OF CONGRESS 

Mr. HUGHES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to express my 
appreciation on behalf of our colleague, Matt Rinaldo and myself 
for giving us this opportunity to present testimony on this impor
tant issue. 

The legislation we have introduced, as you have aptly described, 
is a bill to exempt State and local governments from the Age Dis
crimination in Employment Act in their hiring and retirement of 
public safety officers. 

I would like to begin by stressing my strong support of the Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act and my general opposition to 
age discrimination. 

Ability, not age, should be the criteria used to obtain and retain 
a job. I firmly believe, though, that as a simple matter of public 
safety and policy, those engaged in law enforcement and firefight
ing must be treated differently. 

In fact, Congress has already acknowledged this to be the case by 
including provisions in the ADEA which permit the establishment 
of special hiring and retirement guidelines for Federal public 
safety officers, firefighters and others who regularly face unique 
mental and physical demands. 

Air traffic controllers, for instance, must retire at age 56, foreign 
service officers at age 65, and Federal firefighterB and law enforce
ment officers, including employees of the FBI, S(~cret Service, and 
Federal Prison System, must retire at the age of 5.5. 

Until the Supreme Court decided in 1983 that the ADEA could 
be applied to State and local governments, most States and local
ities had established similar guidelines with regard to the hiring 
and retirement of their public safety officers. 

While the Supreme Court's decision in the case of EEOC v. Wyo
ming had the laudable effect of extending ADEA coverage to the 
large majority of State and local employees whose jobs don't entail 
extraordinary physical stress, it had the undesireabh~ side effect of 
denying States and localities the same ability to ensure the public 
safety that Congress has reserved for the Federal Government. 

Congress did not provide an ADEA exemption for Federal public 
safety officers without careful deliberation. This exemption has 
been reconsidered as recently as 1978, when the ADEA was amend
ed to eliminate mandatory retirement for other Federal employees. 

The HOl.lse Education and Labor Committee's report on this legis
lation noted, and I quote from that report: 

Certain mental and physical capabilities may decline with age and in some jobs 
with unusually high demands. age may be considered a factor in hiring and retain
ing older workers. For example. jobs such as some of those in air traffic control and 
in law enforcement and in firefighting have very strict physical requirements on 
which the public safety depends. 

The corresponding Senate report included a similar observation, 
and my statement in full that contains that particular quote from 
the Senate report. I will not repeat it here, Mr. Chairman. 
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Clearly, there was a strong belief that the Federal public safety 
officer exemption contained in the original ADEA should continue 
to exist. It is equally clear to me that this same exception should 
apply to their state and local counterparts, who also regularly face 
unusual mental and physical demands. 

Before addressing any questions that members of this committee 
may have, I would like first of all to ask that my statement be re
ceived in the record in full, and I would also like to acknowledge 
my colleague, Matt Rinaldo, who just joined me here at the witness 
table, who likewise is a prime sponsor, has worked very hard in de
veloping H.R. 1435. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. MAR'l'INEZ. At this time I would like to turn to the honorable 

Matthew Rinaldo. Would you like to give us a statement? 

STATEMENT OF HON. MATTHEW RINALDO, MEMBER OF 
CONGRESS 

Mr. RINALDO. Yes, I would, Mr. Chairman. 
I want to commend Congressman Hughes for his hard work with 

regard to this legislation, and I certainly appreciate this opportuni
ty to testify in favor of H.R. 1435. 

Opponents of the bill argue that medical testing offers a reliable 
substitute for pre-established age limitations for public safety offi
cers. Unfortunately, that is simply not the case. 

Distinguished medical experts have testified that medical science 
and technology have simply not advanced to the point where we 
can safely eliminate age limitations and rely exclusively on individ
ual testing. I would like to share some of that expert testimony 
with you this morning, because I think it is particularly important. 

In a recent hearing conducted by the House Select Committee on 
Aging, Dr. Donald Flinn of Texas Tech University Health Sciences 
Center stated that a uniform age at which airline pilots should 
retire is justified because-and I quote-"no age-related psychophy
siological index of intellectual and psychomotor functions exists at 
present." 

Similarly, Col. Earl W. Ferguson, a former U.S. Air Force flight 
surgeon and military consultant to the Surgeon General of the U.S. 
Air Force, testified that firefighters above the age of 55, who may 
be required to exert themselves maximally as part of their job, are 
likely to have significant coronary artery disease which cannot be 
detected by testing. 

As a result, not only is a firefighter's ability to perform a given 
amount of work lessened, but his chance of being incapacitated and 
unable to perform his job at a critical phase increases greatly. 

Dr. Albert Antlitz, head of the Division of Cardiology and the De
partment of Electrocardiology at Mercy Hospital in Baltimore, also 
reported that most police officers 55 years of age and older are 
unable to carry out their duties safety and efficiently due to coro
nary disease not easily detectable by current medical techniques. 

Those who question the need for passage of H.R. 1435 also argue 
that the bona fide occupational qualification exemption contained 
in the Age Discrimination in Employment Act already permits 
State and local governments to establish maximum entry ages of 
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less than 40 and retirement ages of less than 70 for their public 
safety officers. 

It is true that the BFOQ provision allows such guidelines if they 
are "reasonably necessary to the normal operation of the particu
lar business." 

However, the BFOQ defense i.s inadequate for State and local 
public safety officers and results in unnecessary expense, inconsist
ent interpretations, and confusion for State and local governments. 

As of March, 1986 at least 33 States or localities have been or are 
being sued by the EEOC for the establishment of mandatory retire
ment or minimum hiring age laws. 

These States and localities are often burdened by time-consum~ 
ing a.nd expensive litigation against private plaintiffs as well as the 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commissjon. 

Jurisdictions wishing to retain the hiring and retirement stand
ards they established for public safety officers prior to the EEOC v. 
Wyoming decision are now forced to engage in costly medical stud
ies to support their standards. 

Those States and localities lacking the financial resources to 
defend their age limitations must consider forsaking them, thereby 
risking a threat to public safety that Congress carefully avoided by 
establishing age requirements for Federal public safety personnel. 

Using the BFOQ exemption, some State and local courts have 
upheld their pre-established entrance and retirement ages while 
courts in other States and localities have overruled hiring and re
tirement age requirements for the same occupations. 

Significantly. H.R. 1435 is strongly supported by those whose ca
reers and livelihoods will be most affected by this legislation, the 
individual State trooper, sheriff, police officer, and firefighter. 

I have made available, Mr. Chairman, to the subcommittee a list 
of the organizations that have endorsed H.R. 1435 and request 
unanimous consent that it be made part of the record. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Without objection, so ordered. 
[The prepared statement of Hon. Matthew J. Rinaldo follows:] 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. MA'rTHEW J. RINALDO, A REPRESENTATIVE IN 
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY 

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommit~ee, I appreciate this opportunity to 
testify in favor of H.R. 1435. 

Opponents of this bill argue that medical testing offers a reliable substitute for 
pre-established age limitations for public safety officers. 

Unfortunately, that is simply not the case. 
Distinguished medical experts have testified that medical science and technology 

have simply not advanced to the point where we can safely eliminate age limita
tions and rely exclusively on individual test:ng. 

I would like to share some of that expert testimony with you this morning. 
In a recent hearing conducted by the House Select Committee on Aging, Dr. 

Donald Flinn of Texas Tech. University Health Sciences Center stated that a uni
form age at which airline pilots should retire is justified because-and I quote-

"No age-related psychophysiological index of intellectual and psychomotor func
tions exists at present." 

Similary, Colonel Earl W. Ferguson, a former United States Air Force flight sur
geon and military consultant to the Surgeon General of the United States Air Force, 
testified that fire fighters above the age of 55, who may be required to exert them
selves maximally as part of their job, are likely to have significant coronary artery 
disease which cannot be detected by testing. 
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As a result, not only is a fire fighter's ability to perform 0. given amount of wOl'k 
lessened. but his chance of being incapacitated and unable to perform his job at a 
critical phase increases greatly. 

Dr. Albert Antlitz, head of the Division of Cardiology and the Department of Elec
trocardiology at Mercy Hospital in Baltimore, also reported that most police officers 
55 years of age and older are unable to carry out their duties safely and efficiently 
due to coronary disease not easily detectable by current medical techniques. 

Those who question the need for passage of H.R. 1435 also argue that the bona 
tIde occupational qualitIcation exception contained in the Age Discrimination in 
Employment Act already permits State and local governments to establish maxi
mUm entry ages of less than 40 and retirement ages of less thIJ.n 70 for their public 
safety oftlcers. 

It is true that the BFOQ provision allows such guidelines if they are "reasonably 
necessary to the normal operation of the particular business". 

However, the BFOQ defense is inadequate for State and local public safety officers 
and results in unnecessary expense, inconsistent interpretations and confusion for 
state and local governments. 

As of March, 1986, at least 33 States or localities have been or are being sued by 
the EEOC for the establishment of mandatory retirement or minimum hiring age 
laws. 

These States and localities are ortAll burdened by time-consuming and expensive 
litigation against private plaintiffs as well as the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission. 

Jurisdictions wishing to retain the hiring and retirement standards they estab
lished for public safety officers prior to the EEOC v. Wyoming decision are now 
forced to engage in costly medical studies to support their standards. 

Those States and localities lacking the financial resources to defend their age lim
itations must consider forsaking them, thereby risking a threat to public safety that 
Congress carefully avoided by establishing age requirements for Federal public 
safety personnel. 

Using the BFOQ exemption, some State and local courts have upheld their pre
established entrance and retirement ages while courts in other States and localities 
have overruled hiring and retirement age requirements for the same occupations. 

Significantly, H.R. 1435 is strongly supported by those whose careers and liveli
hoods will be most affected by this legislation-the individual State trooper, sheriff, 
police officers, and fire fighter. 

I have made available to the subcommittee a list of the organizations that have 
endorsed H.R. 1435, and request that it be made part of the record. 

I would also like to emphasize, however, that the groups supporting this bill in
clude: the National Governors' Association, the National Association of Counties, 
the National Sheriffs' Association, the International Association of Firefighters and 
the International Association uf Chiefs of Police. 

In concluding, I want to echo Congressman Hughes' remarks with regard to age 
discrimination. 

As the ranking minority member of the Select Committee on Aging, I strongly 
support efforts to ensure that job fitness is based on ability, not age. 

In fact, I am an original co-sponsor of H.R. 4154, which was the subject of hear
ings before your subcommittee earlier this morning. 

This bill would extend the protections of the ADEA to private sector employees 
over the age of 70. 

This subcommittee, however, should rectify the current inconsistency in the law 
that treats State and local public safety oftlcers differently from their Federal coun
terparts. 

H.R. 1435 applies only to the very narrow area of hiring and retiring law enforce
ment officers, permitting State and local governments to make decisions that they 
feel are in the best interest of the general public safety. 

It doE'S not require a State or locality to establish a mandatory retirement age. 
H.R. 1435 now has 78 co-sponsors and enjoys broad bipartisan support from more 

than half the States. 
I urge this subcommittee to act favorably on this measure. 
r will be happy to answer any questions the members might have. 
Thank you. 

Mr. RINALDO. I would like to emphasize that the groups support
ing this bill include the National Governors Association, the Na
tional Association of Counties, the National Sheriffs Association, 
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the International Association of Firefighters, and the International 
Association of Chiefs of Police. 

In concluding, I want to echo Congressman Hughes' remarks 
with regard to age discrimination. 

As the ranking minority member of the Select Committee on 
Aging, I strongly support efforts to ensure that job fitness is based 
on ability, not age. 

In fact, I am an original cosponsor of H.R. 4154, which was the 
subject of hearings before your subcommittee earlier this morning. 
That bill would extend the protections of the ADEA to private 
sector employees over the age of 70. 

This subcommittee, however, should rectify the current inconsist
ency in the law that treats State and local public safety officers dif
ferently from their Federal counterparts. 

H.R. 1435 applies only to the very narrow area of hiring and re
tiring law enforcement officers, permitting State and local govern
ments to make decisions that they feel are in the best interest of 
the general public safety. 

It does not require a State or locality to establish a mandatory 
retirement age. 

H.R. 1435, I might note, now has 78 cosponsors and enjoys broad 
bipartisan support from more than half the States. 

I urge this subcommittee to act favorably on this measure, and 
thank you for allowing me to testify here this morning. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Thank you, Mr. Rinaldo. 
I have listened and heard some of the arguments, pro and con, 

on this thing. One of them that keeps cropping up, even in my dis
trict among the people that I talk to there, is that there is a neces
sity to have certain abilities at a certain time although our physi
cal, psychological makeup and ability to handle stress varies with 
age-and I am not so sure that that is altogether right, but that is 
the argument of some people. 

We normally think of age-related ability in terms of jobs and ac
tivities associated with, let's say, the patrol officer or the firefight
er who actually is on the ladder truck or actually involved in fight
ing the fire. But there are certainly jobs that, regardless of what 
age one attains, can be done by people at an older age without the 
physical fitness requirement, for example, administration jobs, both 
in the police department and fire department. 

In a bill that simply allows the States to set a retirement age 
somewhat based on physical ability, how do you deal with those 
people that could go on being productive to a city or a State or 
county based on their experience and knowledge? 

Mr. HUGHES. Mr. Chairman, let me just, if I could, address that, 
because that is an argument, and it is a legitimate argument, that 
is advanced. But most departments don't enjoy the luxury of being 
able to move personnel in that regard. 

Many departments are already short manned and the ministerial 
jobs are often already handled by people that haven't gone through 
the training that police officers, for instance, or firefighters have 
gone through. And, frankly, there just isn't the capacity to move 
them into ministerial slots. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Well, let's use, for example, the case of a police 
department like Los Angeles, that at one time had over 6,000 offi~ 
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cers. There is so much administration in a big department like 
that, more than, let's say, in the small department of the city of 
Monterey Park, having a total of maybe 60 officers. Those employ
ees in the administration positions and in the detective bureau, or 
let's say the police chief himself, are expected to do a certain 
amount of physical activity, and I could understand the need for 
him to be of a certain physical ability. 

But in the big departments like Los Angeles, let's say, and many 
others throughout the country, there are a lot of administrative 
jobs that are done by police officers who have moved into those jobs 
after being in the field for a certain period of time. They have 
gotten themselves educated, raised in rank and accepted responsi
bilities or control of units-really moved themselves into pretty 
much of a desk job, which doesn't require that physical activity. 

And especially, let's say, in big departments like Los Angeles 
where you wouldn't expect the chief of police to run out and start 
trying to collar robbers and criminals in the street. You know he is 
strictly going to be an administrative officer. And people at a lower 
level are also g:>ing to obtain a certain amount of expertise and 
knowledge in handling a big department like that who probably 
should not be required to retire if they don't want to at the age of 
55. 

How do you deal with that? 
Mr. HUGHES. Well, there is no question but that there would be 

situations where an officer could be moved into a ministerial or ad
ministrative position. Indeed, as you have pointed out, it happens 
quite frequently. People move into administrative positions. The 
chief of police has become more an administrator than, obviously, a 
person who works the street. And the same thing with other higher 
officers. 

Howevel', how would you develop a policy to deal with that? 
Mr. MARTINEZ. I don't know. That is what I am asking. 
Mr. HUGHES. Because it would be very difficult. How would you 

differentiate between those that you would select for that position 
and those that you would deny that opportunity? What do you do 
with people that already hold that position, with a police officer 
that may have seniority over somebody in an administrative posi
tion? Does he bump that individual? 

It would just create a nightmare, it would seem to me. And in 
most instances you don't have that kind of flexibility within a de
partment. 

The beauty of the provision is that most of these departments 
need the flexibility to be able to have individuals go out, if need be, 
on a truck, on an emergency, or in a patrol car, and can serve both 
purposes. And I would say the vast majority of departments fall 
into that category. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Congressman Rinaldo. 
Mr. RINALDO. The fact of the matter is that there are not enough 

administrative positions to put that type of plan into effect. Nor
mally, in most departments and State police organizations, people 
do move up to higher ranking administrative positions, where they 
are in command posts and their duties are strictly ministerial, but 
they are a small percentage of the total work f01(.)e. If they aren't, 
there is something inefficient about the operation. 
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So, I just don't think it could work. In many cases these people 
have told me that they want to retire. That is one of their condi
tions of employment. 

For example, in my home State of New Jersey, the f3tate police 
retire at 55. That is one of the things they look forward to, retire
ment at 55. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. I think you are quite right, and most police offi
cers even actually look forward to another kind of career they are 
going to go into after they retire; firefighters, likewise. But there 
are always those exceptions, those who d) not want to retire for 
some reason or another-and because, as was testified in the earli
er hearing, people age differently. 

I have seeri-in fact, in the city of Monterey Park, two particular 
police officers that both held on past the mandatory retirement age 
because these guys are a couple of little kids, Katzenjammer Kids. 
But they catch more people doing things wrong than anybody I 
know. They just seem to have an affinity for it. That experience 
doesn't want to be lost for that department. This example would be 
the exception. 

Mr. RINALDO. I think you are completely correct, Mr. Chairman. 
I don't think it is possible to draft a bill that would satisfy all of 
the exceptions. I don't think there is any perfect system. But I 
think H.R. 1435 is closest to achieving the kind of maximum pro
tection that we want for our citizens so that public safety officers 
are in the kind of physical condition that we expect them to be in. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. I guess what I am asking is, have we thought 
about any way to allow for that exception? And I guess right now 
we haven't. 

Mr. RINALDO. Well, I will tell you, there is one way in rare in
stances. I know in our State the head of the State police is over the 
mandatory retirement age and the State passed legislation anow
ing an exception. So, I guess you could do that in individual States. 
But I think it would create an administrative horror sho,,{ if you 
tried to do it en masse. 

I think in rare instances it could be done in that fashion. 
Mr. MARTINEZ. Some special mechanism like that at the local 

level. 
Mr. HUGHES. Can I just pick up on that? I think it is important 

to let the States develop and custom tailor their own approach to 
the problem. 

We are faced with a gross inequity in that the Federal Govern
ment does make an exception for people in high-risk and high
stress employment-air traffic controllers, firefighters, police offi
cers-but we deny that same right to States. 

It seems to me that we do have a gross inequity that we have to 
address one way or the other. You know, either you believe that it 
is important for us to make a differentiation, and I believe it is im
portant-I have worked with police now for some 25 years, and I 
know the kind of stress that they face and I know that the law has 
served at least my State well. And just from the support we have 
gotten around the country, I suspect that the law has served other 
States well. That accounts for all the support that we have from 
Governors and the Association of Countip.s, and all the other agen
cies that are concerned and wrestling with this problem. 
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But it is a gross inequity in the law. We make an exception for 
people that undergo high stress but we deny that to the States, and 
that is why we think that it is important for this committee to take 
a look at that and deal with it, and hopefully in the manner in 
which we have suggested in H.R. 1435. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. On the basis of the inequity, I totally agree with 
you, that the States should at least have the rights that the Feder
al Government has given to Federal employees. 

Although I agree with it, I am still always in the back of my 
mind thinking about those exceptions that I know about, that we 
all know about, that occur, and I guess maybe right now the way 
they are being handled is by exemptions at a local level. And al
though we can't always trust that the people in responsible posi
tions will do the responsible thing, I was looking for some mecha
nism that might be added that might take care of that exception. 

But, of course, as Congressman Rinaldo points out, it might 
create more of a nightmare and more of a hassle and hazard than 
if we just left it to the discrepancy of the locals. 

Mr. HUGHES. It is a troubling issue, because I know police offi
cers that, in my judgment, would probably be good risks, although 
you never know. The medical evidence suggests that even the 
people that appear to be the most healthy sometimes are prone to 
attacks. 

I know of an individual situation right now where a lieutenant 
in the police in my community who was the picture of health, 
never suspected he had any problems, just had a major heart 
attack. 

Because of their stressful positions, they are a risk to themselves 
and to others, because they are actively engaged in protecting the 
public interest, and that is why we differentiate, obviously, be
tween those groups and other groups in our society. 

I think it is a legitimate differentiation. 
Mr. MARTINEZ. Thank you. 
Mr. Hayes. 
Mr. HAYES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I just want to indicate my support for the proposed legislation 

being presented by our two colleagues here. 
Just to digress for a minute, I have opposed, except in the areas 

suggested, compulsory retirement through the years. 
The person who happens to, as you well know, have the most dif

ficult position or job, if that is what you want to call it, in the 
world is the President of the United States, and he is already past 
that bewitching age of 70, as you well know. So, age is not really 
the criteria in all instances when it comes to compulsory retire
ment. I just want to make that comment. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Thank you, Mr. Hayes. 
Thank you both for appearing this morning and giving us this 

testimony. It is important, and I think we will try to have some 
more hearings on this bill to try to raise the level of public con
sciousness so that we might do something in the next session. 

Mr. HUGHES. Thank you very much. 
Mr. RINALDO. Thank you. 
Mr. MARTINEZ. At this time I would like to call our panel, Col. 

Larry Furnas, assistant superintendent of Indiana State Police, 



10 

representing the National Association of Attorney Generals; Mr. 
Harold Schaitberger, Department of Government Affairs and 
Public Relations, International Association of Firefighters; Mr. 
Robert Kleismet, president, International Union of Police Associa
tion. 

Col. Larry Furnas, would you like to begin? 

STATEMENTS OF COL. LARRY FURNAS, ASSISTANT SUPERIN
TENDENT, INDIANA STATE POLICE, REPRESENTING THE NA
TIONAL ASSOCIATION OF ATTORNEY GENERALS; HAROLD 
SCHAITBERGER, DIRECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF GOVERNMENT 
AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC RELATIONS, INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIA
TION OF FIREFIGHTERS; AND ROBERT B. KLEISMET, PRESI
DENT, INTERNATIONAL UNION OF POLICE ASSOCIATION 

Colonel FURNAS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the com-
mittee. 

My capacity here is somewhat unusual in that I am a State 
police officer in the State of Indiana, but I also am an attorney and 
have worked very actively with our Attorney General's Office in 
representation of various cases in which they are defending, in par
ticular in defending the Indiana State Police and other local police 
and fire organizations in actions that have been brought by the 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission as a result of manda
tory retirement. 

I would like to start with a few comments and some things that 
have been stated today, if I could, I would like to talk about a 
couple of those things, as well. 

When we talk about things as how do you exclude or how do you 
make the exceptions for the individual, that is the difficult part of 
the entire EEOC position. 

If I may, then, the impetus for this legislation is the 1983 Su
preme Court decision under the EEOC v. Wyoming, which held that 
the ADEA prohibits discrimination against most workers between 
the ages of 40 and 70, and that it is also applicable to local units of 
government. 

Well, we do not quarrel with the central stress of this decision, 
that State and local government employees should be protected 
from arbitrary age discrimination along with their Federal and pri
vate sector counterparts. 

We point out that an exception to the act's application exists for 
public safety officers and maintain that the same exception should 
apply to State and local public safety officers. 

When I 1 efer to public safety, I do include both police and fire, as 
well, Mr. Chairman. 

This bill would make it clear that State and local governments 
may set their own hiring and retirement ages for public safety offi· 
cers, including police and firefighters, just as the Federal Govern
ment has done with Federal public safety officers who regularly 
face unique mental and physical demands. 

The Wyoming decision has brought into litigation nearly every 
State and countless municipalities with the Equal Employment Op
portunity Commission in defending a retirement age of less than 70 
for their State and local public safety officers. 
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Missouri and California, for example, have mandatory retire
ment ages of 60, while Vermont, New Jersey, and my own State of 
Indiana have mandatory retirement of 55. 

The mandatory retirement age will vary from State-to-State and 
often between State and local municipalities, and often even be
tween municipalities within the States. 

The reaction to raising the retirement age to 70 has been uni
form. It has not been acceptable. 

Numerous State and local organizations, as well as numerous 
law enforcement groups, have called on Congress to resolve this 
problem which so directly affects public safety for all of us. 

The National Governors Association, the National Association of 
Attorneys General, the National Association of Counties have all 
endorsed this bill. 

But, more importantly, those individuals who are affected by 
this, as stated by Congressman Rinaldo, the individual State troop
er, the sheriff, the police officer, the firefighter, all strongly sup
port this type legislation. 

In fact, this is one of the very few things that I can recall where 
labor and management have come together uniformly throughout 
the country and stated without waiver that they support this type 
legisla tion. 

I want to stress that I strongly oppose age discrimination and 
would extend the protections of the ADEA to most workers above 
the age of 70 and eradicate mandatory retirement at any age for 
nonpublic safety employees. Ability, not age, should be the crite
rion for obtaining and keeping a job. 

However, public safety positions are unlike other employees in 
Government, and the needs of public safety in such positions out
weigh the individual rights. 

As we age, we are not all as fortunate as our President of the 
United States. For most of us, many gruesome things begin to 
happen to our body after the age of 30. Most of us begin to lose our 
hair, we are a little plulTper, a little slower, a little more bald, and 
yet smarter than ever. 

After 30 our bodies have passed their peak. In fact, the body has 
started dying a little every day, losing about 1 percent functional 
capacity every year. Cells are disappearing, tissues are stiffening, 
chemical reactions are slowing down. Our body temperature drops 
and we begin to shrink as much as one to two inches oftentimes by 
the time we reach age 70. 

No matter what we do, our bodies begin to decay. True, with ex
ercise we will feel better, but unfortunately there is no good evi
dence that exercise will make you live longer and it definitely will 
not cure cardiovascular disease. 

In the area of public safety employment, the physiological 
changes become catastrophic. Weakened eyesight, higher amounts 
of body fat, loss of height, reduced stamina, muscles and strength 
weakened, slower reflexes, reduced lung capacity and reduced 
blood flow which stem from a heart muscle that has deteriorated, 
all lead to a situation which places not only the public safety offi
cer in jeopardy but also the public whom he or she is sworn to 
serve. 
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The irony of all the above is that the EEOC, the agency charged 
with enforcing the ADEA, agrees with the State and local agencies 
that an officer not able to properly perform should be terminated. 

Their position, however, is that each officer should be individual
ly evaluated, rather than forced to retire upon reaching a certain 
age. 

Such a position places enormous liability upon the agency to con
stantly monitor and observe every individual officer for signs of 
failing health. This is an impossible task to do for medical profes
sionals, let alone police administrators, and it is a burden not 
placed on Federal public safety employees. 

Federal agencies, such as the FBI, Secret Service, Drug Enforce
ment and military, all of whom often work side by side with the 
local police officer or fireman, have a mandatory retirement age of 
55 01' younger. Yet the demands placed on the Federal officer are 
usually much less strenuous and exerting than those require of this 
local counterpart. 

A review of the legislative history reveals that Congress author
ized age limits for Federal law enforcement officers because of the 
nature of their jobs and not because they were performed by Feder
al rather than State or local employees. 

There is nothing in the legislative history to demonstrate a con
gressional belief or intent that age limits for State and local law 
enforcement personnel were to be treated any differently than 
those applicable to Federal employment. 

The argument of the EEOC that State and local governments 
may maintain retirement ages of less than 70 or maximum entry 
ages pursuant to the bona fide occupational qualification exception 
of the ADEA is true if the entity seeking to uphold it can demon
strate that the age limit is reasonably necessary to the normal op
eration of the particular business. 

This is an untenable position but it has been made even more 
difficult by the position of and the actions of the EEOC. 

The EEOC has taken the BFOQ exemption from the Civil Rights 
Act and decided that age discrimination should be put in the same 
class as race and sex discrimination. 

Indeed, the EEOC has codified into its regulations the following 
requirements: That an employer asserting a BFOQ defense has the 
burden of proving that, one, the age limit is reasonably necessary 
to the essence of the business; two, that all or substantially all indi
viduals excluded from the job involved are in fact disqualified; or 
three, that some of the individuals so excluded possess a disqualify
ing trait that cannot be ascertained except by reference to age. 

Such a burden is impossible to overcome without expenditures of 
great sums of money, public time, and effort. 

For these reasons, the exceptions should be carved into the 
ADEA allowing States to establish their own ages of hiring and re
tirement of their public safety officers. 

Exclusionary language of this type would not compromise the 
basic purpose of the ADEA. 

I guess at that gesture I would say that part of the problems 
with carving out exceptions on an individual basis is that the 
burden under the act is totally upon the employer. He cannot 
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remove anyone from that employment unless it is clearly evident 
that the person is incompetent to do the work. 

Every study, every piece of expert material that I have seen, 
read, have reviewed, all indicate that that measure of performance 
is impossible to evaluate and cardiovascular conditions are impossi
ble to evaluate without doing a full catherization of the heart. But 
we can't require people to submit to that form of surgery. That is 
something that an individual must do. 

So, if any exceptions were going to be made, it should be that the 
individual should prove that he is able to continue employment 
after a certain age. 

The standard adopted by the EEOC, particularly in cases involv
ing public safety officers, has been interpreted differently from 
court to court. While some entrance and retirement ages have been 
upheld for sheriffs, police, firefighters, and State troopers, other in
volving the same occupations have been struck down. Conflicting 
judicial holdings have created a nightmare of chaos and confusion 
in State and local governments in the public safety sectors. 

Jurisdictions wishing to uphold their standards must prepare for 
costly, time consuming and exhaustive litigation against the EEOC 
andlor private plaintiffs. 

Those who lack the resources to defend their age limits must 
consider scrapping the limits, thereby suffering the very conse
quences Congress has avoided for itself and Federal public safety 
personnel. 

In Indiana alone there are over 50 separate public safety entities 
under suit at the present time with the EEOC. The costs in defend
ing the position of the Indiana State Police alone, which was an 
unsuccessful effort because we had no established BFOQ's, will ap
proach $1 million when consideration is given to possible back pay 
awards. 

The establishment of BFOQ's will not eliminate the legal battles 
between the EEOC and the State and local entities. The States 
must spend huge sums of money in establishing such qualifications, 
setting up periodic testing procedures of uncertain reliability, and 
yet will find themselves in Federal court defending each and every 
requirement set forih by them. 

Indiana is not giving up its battle with the EEOC, however, in 
that we feel that the paramount interest of public safety must pre
vail, and for that reason a commission has been established under 
executive order of our Governor consisting of members of our State 
legislature, public safety officials, and laymen, to consider imple
mentation of BFOQ's for public safety officers. 

Experts from medicine, psychology, physiology, the military and 
others are being employed to aid in establishing the BFOQ's. 

The cost of these experts will approach a quarter of a million dol
lars just in the initial stages of their study. 

In the interim, however, older officers are being allowed to 
return or remain in the employ of the public safety agency, which 
has the additional effect of placing the employer, the employee and 
the public at heightened risk because of the increasing prevalence 
of cardiovascular and other diseases as one grows older, which cre
ates an inability of that individual to perform. 
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Return of these officers has been traumatic in that it has forced 
displacement of persons promoted into the previously vacated posi
tions. 

Pension and insurance statisticians tell us that the increased age 
will also cause an increase in occupational injuries and disability 
pension costs, as well as it is requiring numerous modifications to 
retirement benefits for these public safety employees. 

This particular bill, H.R. 1435, would halt this tragic situation. It 
would allow the states to implement the maximum hiring and 
mandatory retirement ages for those in the occupations involving 
public safety, in the area of police and fire, and for these reasons 
we would encourage your favorable consideration of the bill. 

Thank you. 
Mr. MARTINEZ. Thank you. 
I would remind the other witnesses that they can summarize, 

and their written testimony will be entered into the record in its 
entirety. 

Mr. Schaitberger. 
Mr. SCHAITBERGER. Mr. Chairman, I will summarize our state

ment. 
The International Association of Firefighters represents approxi

mately 170,000 professional firefighters throughout the United 
States and Canada. 

We, therefore, take a deep interest in the impact of Age Discrim
ination in Employment on public safety employees. 

We would first like to express our appreciation to the subcommit
tee chairman for his timely scheduling of hearings on this impor
tant issue. 

Let me state at the outset that the IAFF wholeheartedly sup
ports the ADEA and all efforts to ban discrimination on account of 
age, race, religion, sex, or national origin. 

However, there are professions in which a mandatory retirement 
age and a maximum hiring age are crucial to the competent per
formance of the job. 

We believe that employment policies which consider age as an 
eligibility factor for professions such as firefighting, which require 
great physical exertion, are based on objective facts and hence have 
merit. 

I would like to talm just a few moments to examine the nature of 
firefighting. 

Firefighters are constantly making transitions from the calm, 
peaceful environment of the firehouse to the hostile atmosphere of 
fire. These constant transformations from quiet to raging infernos 
have numerous physiological and psychological side effects. 

Within 15 to 30 seconds after the fire alarm sounds, research 
studies have found that a firefighter's heart rate can increase by as 
much as 117 beats per minute. In addition, a firefighter's heart can 
beat twice its normal rate throughout the entire firefighting oper
ation. 

The temperature inside a burning structure can range anywhere 
from several hundred degrees to 1,500 degrees. The firefighter 
must be able to endure this extreme heat, intense smoke and 
fumes, and the psychological stress of being in a life-threatening 
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situation in order to successfully extinguish the fire and rescue any 
victim. 

Data shows that firefighters contract heart and pulmonary dis
ease almost twice as often as the general population. 

The adverse health effects of firefighting are cumulative. Al
though firefighters as a population are healthier and in better 
physical condition than the general population for most of their 
adult lives, when they reach their fifties they are afflicted with 
chronic, debilitating diseases, such as heart and pulmonary disease, 
as a significantly higher rate than the general population. 

In fact, the correlation between firefighting and these chronic 
diseases is so strong that 36 States have presumptive disability 
rules for firefighters who become afflicated with certain heart and 
pulmonary diseases. 

We believe that there is ample evidence that the younger fire
fighters can better cope with the strains of firefighting than can 
older ones due to the physical infirmities that characteristically af
flict older men and women. 

The older the firefighter, the greater the odds are that he or she 
will become injured, disabled or die while on duty. 

Placing older employees with a high risk of injury and disease 
into an emergency situation greatly increases the risk that they 
will suffer an injury or die in the line of duty. In a fire situation, 
this would not only endanger the older firefighter, but also the 
other members of the firefighting team. 

Unfortunately, history has proven to all of us if one member of a 
firefighting unit fails to fulfill his duties, the lives of those who 
they are protecting and the lives of the other firefighters are seri
ously jeopardized, based on the team concept rule. 

We believe that it is clear that considering the firefighter's 
duties and environment and the fact that younger men and women 
can more easily and more safely perform firefighting duties, it is 
only reasonable that rules which safeguard the youthful vigor be 
main tained. 

Also, I want to note that our military forces have used age-based 
eligibility rules in the interest of maintaining young and vigorous 
armed forces. 

A historical look back to Roman times shows that the armies of 
the modern world have always been comprised of young, physically 
fit individuals. 

Our own armed forces have determined that this criteria is nec
essary in order to adequately protect our Nation. The age criteria 
for recruiting personnel into the U.S. Navy is ages 17 to 34; the 
U.S. Army is 17 to 35; the U.S. Marine Corps, 17 to 28; and the 
U.S. Air Force is 17 to 26. 

I would like to emphasize that firefighting is like being at war, 
except that OUr people are fighting war every single day. 

Beyond the safety issues, the IAFF believes there are financial 
considerations that support the concept of involuntary retirement. 

Since older firefighters who are nearing their retirement tend to 
be more susceptible to physical infirmities, a greater proportion of 
employees in this age bracket receive disability benefits than em
ployees in younger age brackets. 
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The employer is now forced to spend more on older workers who 
were injured in the line of duty since disability benefits generally 
cost substantially more than normal retirement benefits. 

The employer is additionally compelled to pay more for insuring 
the health of older workers because, as a group, they inevitably 
carry a higher than average risk of illness, particularly in our pro
fession. 

Some individuals have suggested that there are medical and sci
entific tests which could accurately determine a firefighter's ability 
to perform in emergency situations. We question the validity of 
such tests. 

To date, there is absolutely no evidence to suggest that tests of 
this nature are accurate. 

Where firefighting is concerned, the price of any errol' in these 
tests is far too high for society to pay. 

The Age Discrimination in Employment Act provides that it is 
not unlawful for an employer to make age-based employment deci
sions where age is a bona fide occupational qualification reasonably 
necessary to the operation of that particular business. 

We believe there is ample scientific and medical evidence avail
able to successfully defend age rules for public safety workers. 

Many courts have already recognized age as a BFOQ for public 
safety employees. As an example, the U.S. district court in Illinois 
decided in June of 1985 that the State's mandatory retirement rule 
for troopers was adequately supported by medical evidence that fit
ness declines with age and that there was an overriding public 
policy interest in having a young, physically fit trooper force. 

The same conclusion was reached by the eighth circuit court of 
Appeals in 1982 in a case upholding a mandatory retirement rule 
in the Missouri Highway Patrol. 

For these reasons, we urge Congress to act to exclude State and 
local government public employees from the provisions of ADEA. 

The IAFF fully supports H.R. 1435 introduced on March 6, 1985 
by Congressmen Bill Hughes and Matthew Rinaldo, and cospon
sored by 78 additional Members of Congress. 

The bill would allow States and municipalities to determine re
tirement ages for their own law enforcement officers and firefight
ers, just as Congress has done for certain classes of Federal Govern
ment workers who regularly face unique mental and physical de
mands. 

That concludes my testimony, Mr. Chairman. I would be happy 
to answer any questions you may have. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. We will probably have some questions. 
[The prepared statement of Harold A. Schaitberger follows:] 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HAROLD A. SCHAI'l'BERGER, DIRECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF Gov
ERNMENTAL AFFAms AND PUBtIC RELATIONS, INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE 
FIGHTERS 

Mr. Chairman. members ot' the Subcommittee, my name is Harold Schaitberger 
and I am the Legislative Director of the International Association of Fire Fighters 
(lAFFI, AFL-CIO-CLC. The IAFF represents approximately 170,000 professional fire 
fighters throughout the United States and Canada. We, therefore, take a deep inter
est in the impact of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act on public safety 
employees. 
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We would first like to express our appreciation to the Subcommittee Chairman for 
his timely scheduling of hearings on this important issue. 

Let me state at the outset that the IAFF wholeheartedly supports the ADEA and 
all efforts to ban discrimination on account of age, race, religion, sex or national 
origin. Most arbitmry age discrimination occurs due to stereotyping that is largely 
unsupported by objective facts. It was precisely this sort of discrimination that the 
ADEA was created to prohibit, 

However, there are professions in which a mandatory retirement age and a maxi
mum hiring age az'e crucial to the competent performance of the job. Most often, 
great physical and mental demands are inherent elements of these professions. Fire 
fighting is one of those professions. We believe that employment policies which con
sider age an eligibility factor for professionals such as fire fighting, which require 
great physical exet'tion, are based on objective facts and hence have merit. 

I would like to take the next few moments to examine the nature of fire fighting. 
Fire fighters are constantly making trmlsitions from the calm. peaceful environ
ment of the firehouse to the hostile atmosphere of a fire. 'l'hese constant tmnsfor
mations from quiet to raging infernos have numerous psychological r,nd physiologi
cal side effects. Within 15-30 seconds after the fire alarm sounds, research studies 
have found that a tire fighter's heart rate can increase by as much us 117 beats per 
minute. In addition, a fire tighter's heart can beut at twice its normal rate through
out the entire fire fighting operation. 

The temperature inside a burning structure can range anywhere from several 
hundred degrees to 1,500 degrees. The fire fighter must be able to endure this ex
treme heat, inten'le smoke and fumes, and the psychological stress of being in a life 
threatening situation in order to successfully extinguish the fire and rescue the vic
tims. To do so, the fire fighter must be in top physical condition and have superior 
mental acuity. 

These extreme physiological and psvchological stresses very often lead to severe 
cot'onary and pulmonary problems in fire fighters. Numerous studies have docu
mented this con·elation. The data shows that fire fighters contract heart and pulmo
nary disease almost twice us often as the geneml po!>ulntion. The adverse health 
effects of fire fighting are cumulative; although lire fighters as a popUlation are 
healthier and in better physical condition than the general population for most of 
their adult lives, when they reach their 50's they m'e afflicted with chronic, debili
tating diseases such as heart and pullnonary disease (It a significantly higher rate 
than the general population. l In fact, the correlation between fire fighting and 
these chronic diseases is so strong, that 86 states have presumptive disability rules 
for fire fighters who become afflicted with certain heart or pulmonury diseases. 

Complicating the problem is the fact that studies have shown that atherosclerotic 
coronUl'y disease is often asymptomatic and the first indication of heart disease is a 
heart attack andlor sudden death. 2 

Fire fighting is one of the most dangerous professions in the world and fire fight
ers who are not in top physical condition endanger themselves, their co-workers and 
the communities they serve. To put the hazardous nature of fire fighting in perspec
tive, it is important to note that deaths of fire fightt'rs in the line of duty are the 
highest in the nation and outnumber law enforcement officers approximately two to 
one. This year alone it can be expected that over 40 percent of nre fighters will be 
injured to varying degrees in the line of duty. It is cleat' that fire fighting demands 
physical and mental acuity which should neve I' be compromised. 

We believe that there is ample evidence that younger fire fighters can better cope 
with the strains of fire fighting than can older ones due to the physical infirmities 
that characteristically aft1ict older men and women. In this respect, the data on fire 
fighters and heart and pulmonary diseuse is particularly compelling. The older the 
fire fighter, the grenter the odds are that he or she will become injured, d;sabled, or 
die while on duty. Placing older employees with a high risk of injury and disease 
into an emergency situation, greatly increases the risk that they will suffer an 

t See for pxample. Bernard, RJ. Ph.D., "Heart Diseas(' in Pire Pighters" Pire Command, 
August, 197!l. Ferguson. E.W., M.D., Ph.D., "Detection of Coronary Artery Disease in Fire Fight
ers Without Symptoms" International Fire (,hier, April 1\l~1. Peters, J.M., M.D. "Chronic Effect 
of Fire I<'ighting on Pulmonary Function" Nl!w England Journal of Medicine, December 19, 1974. 

U See for example, Myerburg. RJ .• Davh;, J.n .. "The Medical Ecology of Public Sarety: Sudden 
Death Dul' to Coronary Heart Diseasl''' American Heart Journal !l!l:iiH{). ID1i4. Waller, B.F .• Rob
erts, W.C. "Sudden Death While Running in Conditioned Runners Aged 40 Years and Over" 
American Journal of ('ardiology 45:12D2~13()(), H1~O. Ferguson. E.W .• M.D .• Ph.D. "Detection of 
('oronary Arter~' Disease in Fire Fighters Without Symptoms" International Fire Chief, April, 
l!l!l:i. 
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injury or die in the line of duty. In f1 fire situation, this would not only endanger 
the older fire tighter, but also the other members of the fire fighting team. 

To successfully meet the challenges of modern fires, fire fighters must work as a 
team. This means that each member of a fire fighting unit must rely on one an
other. Unfortunately, history has proven to us that if one member of' a fire fighting 
unit fails to fulfill his duties, the hves of those who they are protecting and the lives 
of the other fire fighters are seriously jeopardized. Where tire fighters are con
cerned, the older the fire fighter is, the greater the chance that others could be en
dangered. 

We believe that it is clear that considering the fire fighters' duties and environ
ment and the fact that younger men and women can more easily and more safely 
perform fire fighting duties, it is only reasonable that rules which safeguard the 
youthful vigor be maintained. Here we are discussing an issue of safety. Safety, not 
only for those endangered by fires and accidents, but also the lives of colleagues. 

Also, I want to note that our military forces have used age-based eligibility rules 
in the interest of maintaining young and vigorous armed force.s. A historical look 
back to Roman times shows that the armies of the modern world have always been 
comprised of young physically tit individuals. Our own armed forces have deter
mined that this criteria is necessary in order to adequately protect our nation. The 
age criteria for recruiting personnel into the U.S. Navy is 17-34; U.S. Army is 17-
85; U.S. Marine Corp is 17-28 and U.S. Air Force ill 17-26. Fire fighting is much like 
being at war except that our people are fighting a war every day. The standards 
used by our armed services are adequate and necessary for our public safety em
ployees. 

It should be clear that fire fighters were not the first to bring to Congress' atten
tion the adverse effects of ADEA may have on the operation of a physically demand
ing profession. Title r; U.S. Code Sa35 specifically acknowledges the physical and 
mental demands of air traffic controllers, federal law enforcement officers and fed
eral fire fighters and logi~ally exempts these professions from the ADEA. 

No one would risk an aviation disaster by allowing physically suspect air traffic 
controllers to continue working and certainlj no responsible individual would advo
cate an aged military force. So, when you consider disability and death rates it 
quickly becomes obvious that fire fighters, like air traffic controllers, federal law en
forcement officers, federal fire fighters and military officers should be excluded 
from prohibitions against age requirements. 

The notion that age is sometimes a legltimutt' occupatioI.ul requirement is cer
tainly not nt'w. Indeed. the founding fathers recognized this when they drafted the 
Constitution and included minimum age requirements for holding the offices of 
President. Senator 01' Memb!.'r of Congress. 

Beyond the safety issues, the IAFF beli{w!.'s that there are financial considerations 
that support the concept of involuntary retirement. Since older employees who are 
nearing their retirement tend to be more susceptible to phvsical infirmities, a great
er proportion of employees in this age bracket receive disability benefits than em
ployees in younger age brackets. The employer is now forced to spend more on older 
workers who were injured in the line of duty since disability benefits cost substan
tially more than normal pension benefits. The employer is additionally compelled to 
pay more for insuring the health of older employees because, as a group, they inevi
tably curry a higher than average risk of illness. 

Some individuals have suggested that there are medical and scientific tests which 
could accurately determine a fire fighter's ability to perform in emergency situa
tions. We questIOn the vahdity of such tests. To date, there is absolutely no evidence 
to suggest that tests of this nature are accurate. Where fire fighting is concerned, 
the price of any errol' in these tests is fur too high for s0ciety to pay. We invite 
members of the medical community to examine these tests and to testify before this 
subcommittee on the accuracy of these tests. In the final analysis, we believe that 
you will find that medical tests cannot simulate the fire fighting atmosphere and 
that age is the safest predictor of ability to perform fire fighting functions. More
over. even if there were a test which could accurately predict an individual fire 
fighter's fitness, it would create an unreasonablb rmd impractical burden on munici
palities who would be forced to regularly administet nundreds or thousands of tests 
in an attempt to properly man their departments. 

The Age Discrimination in Employment Act provides that it is not unlawful for 
an employer to make age-based employment decisions "where age is a bona fide oc
cupational qualification reasonably necessaq to the operation of thut particular 
business • • ." We believe th!.'re is ample SCientific and medical evidence available 
to successfully defend age rules for public safety employees. Many courts have al
ready recognized age as a BFOQ for public safety employees. As an example, the 
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U.S. District Court in Illinois decided in June, 1985 that the state's mand I ,y re
tirement rule for troopers was adequately supported by medical evidence Lhat fit
ness declines with age and that there was an overriding public policy interest in 
having a young, physically fit trooper force. (Popkins v. Zagel, 611 F. Supp. 809 (D.C. 
Ill. (1985)). The Same conclusion was reached by the 8th Circuit Court of Appeals in 
a H;,~2 case upholding a mandatory retirement rule in the Missouri Highway Patrol. 
(EEOC v. Missouri State Highway Patrol, 748 F. 2d 447 (1984)). However, this BFOQ 
exception for age-based employment rules will create a great deal of litigation as 
cities and states around the country are called upon one by one to defend their 
rules. The result will be an unreasonable and burdensome litigation load on our fed
eral and state courts. 

Fot' these reasons, we urge Congress to act to exclude state and local government 
public safety employees from the provisions of ADEA. The IAFF fully supports H.R. 
1435 introduced on March 6, 1985 by Congressmen Bill Hughes and Matthew Rin
aldo. The bill would allow states and municipalities to determine retirement ages 
for their own law enforcement officers and fire fighters, just as Congress has done 
for certain classes of Federal government workers who regularly face unique mental 
and physical demands. 

That concludes my testimony Mr. Chairman. I will be happy to answer any ques
tions the committee may have. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. We will hear from Robert Kleismet. 
Mr. KLIESMET. Robert Kliesmet is my name, and I am the presi~ 

dent of the International Union of Police Associations, AFL-CIO, 
the police union. I am also president of the Institute for Police Re
search. 

I appear here today in support of H.R. 1435 on behalf of our 
local, State, and Federal law enforcement officers, members in 29 
States. 

While we oppose unlawful c:liscrimination of any kind, we strong
ly feel that mandatory retirement laws and rules serve a legitimate 
purpose for the protection of our members and the public they 
serve. 

As a 29-year veteran of the Milwaukee Police Department who 
retired 2 years ago, I can relay empirical evidence of the need for 
mandatory retirement laws in law enforcement. 

These old bones are not able to handle the strenuous physical re
quirements of a practicing law enforcement officer in today's com
munity environment. 

When I was a 24-year-old recruit, I had no idea what the effect of 
occupational stress would be on me. As a matter of fact, I had 
never heard of occupational stress, stressors such as role ambigui
ty, work overload, work-related self-esteem, job satisfaction, lack of 
trust in the criminal justice system, lack of trust in the police de
partment management, and so on. 

Apparently, in that time in the history of this country, the era of 
common sense, as I call it, these factors must have been considered. 
That is probably why we had so many early retirement systems in 
the public safety services. 

About 15 yeats ago I served as the director of research for our 
union. In that capacity I directed a study funded by the Police 
Foundation in conjunction with the U.S. Department of Health and 
Human Services. 

That study revolved around the health effects, both physical and 
psychological, the job of law enforcement has on its practitioners, 
the police officers. 

If the results of that study are extrapolated and compared to the 
average American working male, one would find that police offi-
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cers show signs of cardiovascular, gastrointestinal and psychologi
cal health problems at an earlier age than the avel'age American 
working male. In fact, 8 to 10 years earlier. 

These are not the only problems caused by the high stress occu
pation of policing. Divorce rates are higher, we well as alcoholism, 
somatic complaints, and so on. All are much higher than the aver
age American working male at much earlier age for law enforce
ment officers. 

I bring this to your attention to highlight our contention that 
law enforcement needs mandatory rules and requirements for re
tirement. 

Early retirement is an inducement to apply for the occupation of 
policing. 

However, what is the correct age or proper age to be mandatorily 
retired should be the subject of negotiations on the local level by 
the employee representative and the employer. 

There should be no significant legal, administrative, or cost 
impact because most law enforcement officers work under some ex:
isting retirement system which until a few years ago had mandato
ry rules and requirements. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. MARTINEZ. Thank you, Mr. Kliesmet. 
[The prepared statement of Robert B. Kliesmet follows:] 

PREPARED STA'rEMENT OF ROBERT B. KLIESMET, PRESIDENT, IN'fERNATIONAL UNION OF 
• POLICE ASSOCIA'l')ONS, AFL-CIO 

My name is Robert B. Kliesmet, and I the President of the International Union of 
Police Associations, AFL-CIO, the police Union. 

I am also President of the Institute for Police Research. 
I appear here today in support of H.R. 1435, The Age Discrimination in Employ

ment Act Public Safety Officers Amendments of 1985, on behalf of oU!' local, state 
and federal law enforcement members in twenty-nine (29) states. 

While we oppose unlawful discriminuiton of any kind, we strongly feel that man
datory retirement laws and rules serve a legitimate purpose for the protection of 
our members !J.nd the public they serve. As a twenty-nine (291 year veteran of the 
Milwaukee Police Department, who retired two (2) years ago, I can relay empirical 
evidence of the need for mandatory retirement requirements in law enforcement. 
These old bones are not able to handle the strenuous physical requirements of a 
practicing law enforcement officer in today's community environment. When I was 
a twenty-four (24) year old recruit 1 had no idea just what effect occupational stress 
would have on me. No one ever told me about occupational stress. Strossors such as: 
role ambiguity; work overload; work related self-esteem; job classification; lack of 
trust in the criminal justice system, in police department, and so on. Apparently, in 
that time in the history of our contry, the era of "common sense," as I call it, these 
factors must have been considered. That is probably why we had so many early re· 
tirement programs in the public safety services. 

About fifteen years I served as the Director of Research of our union. In that ca
pacity, I directed a study funded by the Police Foundation in conjunction with the 
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (l have brought one copy of the 
results with me for the Committee. Others can be obtained from the Department), 
The study revolved around the health effects, both physical and psychological, the 
job of law enforcement has on its practitioners. the police officers. If the results of 
that study are extrapolated and compared to a similar study of the average working 
American male, one would find that police officers show signs of cardiovascular, gas
tronomical and psychological health problems at an earlier age than the average 
American working male; in fact, at least 8 to 10 years earlier. These are not the 
only problems caused by the high stress occupation of policing'. Divorce rates are 
higher, as well as alcoholism, somatic complaints and so on-all are much higher 
than the average American working male. 

I bring this to your attention to highlight our contention that law enforcement 
needs mandatory rules and requirements for retirement. Early retirement is an in-
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dUceOlent to apply for the occupation of policing. However, what is the correct or 
propel' age to be madatorily retired ~hould be the subject of negotiation on the local 
level by the employee representative and the employer. There should be no signifi
cant legal, adminstrative or cost impact because most law enforcement officers work 
under some existing retirement system which until a few years ago had mandatory 
rules and requirements. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. You had in your written testimony, which you 
did not read, HI have brought one copy of the results with me for 
the committee." Did you? 

Mr. KLIESMET. I don't have it with me because I just came to 
Washington, and my secretary has the file and inadvertently left it 
out. But I will transmit it to the committee. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. All right. Thank you. 
Mr. KLIESMET. And I can give you as many as you may need. 
Mr. MAR'rINEZ. All right. One is fine. Thank you. 
One of the things you mentioned during your testimony, Colonel 

Furnas, was your assistance in fighting the EEOC cases and the ex
treme cost associated with the cases. This is one thing that this bill 
would eliminate, if it would allow for local entities to establish the 
retirement age and exemptions under the ADEA. 

But a further thought arose in my mind. How many of these 
cases have been brought, that you are aware of, that actually are 
filed in favor of the employee, where the employee is allowed to 
continue employment? Or has that been the case? 

Colonel FURNAS. You mean, how many of them have been al
lowed to? 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Yes; in other words, evidently in the cases you 
are defending that the EEOC has brought, somebody has filed a 
complaint with the EEOC claiming that he was arbitrarily termi
nated at a certain age although he still feels he is able to do the job 
and that that is unfair under the current law, which is age 70. 

Colonel FURNAS. Right. 
Mr. MARTINEZ. No; in those cases, how many cases have been 

won by the person filing, or has EEOC won? Because I noticed in 
another testimony that EEOC has lost several. But in your case, 
how many have they won? 

Colonel FURNAS. That is correct. In the State of Indiana, the 
EEOC has prevailed in every case. We had no mandatory BFOQ's 
that were established. It was all based strictly upon age and it was 
a statutory provision for local and municipal agencies. With the 
State agency, it was a contractual provision in a pension trust, and 
so we lost on all of those cases. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. How many were there? 
Colonel FURNAS. As I say, there were over 50 cases that had been 

filed. 
Mr. MARTINEZ. What percentage is that of the total? 
Colonel FURNAS. There are approximately 220-some police agen

cies throughout the State. The Indiana State Police was the major 
thrust in the EEOC's efforts, though, because if they get the giant 
the others tumble easily is the way they look at it. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. The point that again crops up in that case is that 
EEOC did, evidently, prove that the complainants were still able to 
do the job, and EEOC won-or did they? 
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Colonel FURNAS. No; they did not prove that they could do the 
job. They proved that our--

Mr. MARTINEZ. That you couldn't force them to retire. 
Colonel FURNAS. That is correct. 
Mr. MARTINEZ. Has there been an adverse impact because of 

that? 
Colonel FURNAS. Well, it was just--
Mr. MARTINEZ. In other words, I assume that they continued to 

work. 
Colonel FURNAS. It just came into place on December 16, 1985. At 

the present time the adverse impact that has occurred has been to 
individuals who had been promoted into-everyone of them had 
been promoted officers-individuals who were promoted in behind 
them upon their initial retirement, they have, in fact, been bumped 
back down into lower positions. And, yes, there are some adverse 
impacts in that. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Let me ask all of you this question, and you all 
respond from your perspective. You are in police, you are in fire, -I 

and you are in police. 
I have some knowledge, serving on a local city council, and then 

the State senate, that some States have requirements for police of
ficers to undergo annual physicals. And I imagine those physicals 
are extensive. 

In your testimony you alluded to the fact that you couldn't pre
dict coronary disease. I think that is wrong, because if you give an 
EKG or get a stress test, there are ways to determine whether 
stress is present in a person, and even the potential for-well, some 
coronary disease. You are right, you would have to go through the 
catherization to determine to what degree. But the fact that you 
can establish that there is coronary disease, or lack of coronary dis
ease, through stress tests and EKG's, would, I imagine, be an auto
matic requirement of any physical that an officer is taking. 

And if a person reaches a certain age and he is simply in robust 
health, even by very extensive measures, wouldn't that person still 
qualify for employment? 

Colonel FURNAS. Mr. Chairman, again I guess in light of that, 
yes, if you could show truly that that was it, that might well be. 
However, the position of the EEOC, again, in these type of cases is 
that it does not matter unless you can show that a strong heart is 
necessary to be a police officer, it doesn't matter. 

Mr. SCHAITBERGER. Mr. Chairman, I would like to point out one 
flaw in trying to rely on typical medical examination to use at 
least in firefighting, which I can speak to. 

The type of tests which are performed to determine any degree 
of heart or pulmonary disease is not an adequate test to use as to 
whether an individual can perform under the situations they actu
ally function in, and that is the area of the test that is missing, and 
that is the area where the scientific community and the medical 
community admit that they can't really correlate between the reac
tion and what the body can do under the type of situation that fire
fighters function when actually engaged in a firefighting operation. 

It is not like running on the treadmill. It is not like walking up 
and down the stair test. When you are crawling through a building 
looking for a couple of children in totf" darkness with a fire on 
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your rear and the stress and the strain that that places on your 
body and your system, that really cannot be measured. 

And because of the team concept, one individual that can't main
tain their effort can, not only jeopardize the citizens that you are 
there to protect, but really jeopardizes the whole team. 

So, that is why we really would ask the Congress and have asked 
this committee in the past to take a look at those medical and sci
entific tests that many allude to and they alluded to this morning, 
They cannot be correlated with the operation that our people work 
under. 

If that could be the case, then I think you would be a little closer 
to making those kind of determinations in behalf of the exceptional 
individual. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. That is a valid point. 
Mr. KLIESMET. It is interesting that I just returned from Milwau

kee where I visited two of my colleagues who both came on in the 
department with me and they both were in the hospital suffering 
with a heart attack, one more serious than the other. 

However, they both had had an EKG and physical in the last 
year which didn't show any problem. 

It is interesting that this hearing occurs at this time and what 
went on there, but it would clearly indicate that although one was 
8 months and one was 1 year ago, it didn't show any signs of any 
problems, and it occurred. 

You know, that is just one of the factors. 
However, what I would like to address is a comment that was 

made earlier about finding places for elderly police officers in the 
police business. 

The trend in American policing is to go to civilianization at 
lower pay. If you have a highly paid and trained police officer 
working in a clerical, nonpolice function, you would, at least in the 
unionized departments that I represent, be required to maintain 
them at their level of pay. 

What may need to be done is to be able to create a situation 
where a member can retire, enjoy his pension benefit, and be reem
ployed by the community. Or, as occurred in New York several 
years ago, the city of New York trained police officers for other 
public service jobs, nursing, and other kinds of things. 

Those kinds of items need to be addressed and haven't been ad
dressed in American policing today. 

So, yes; there are a lot of good police officers who are retiring 
and getting out of the businel:;s that could do other governmental 
functions. But that has not been looked at because with Gramm
Rudman corning down and the cutbacks in :;udgets, you are just 
not going to have any money available for those kinds of programs. 
And the cities are already gearing up to reduce the cost of main
taining police departments by privatization and civilianization, 
which is affecting our ability to negotiate for police officers who 
are past the retirement age. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Very good. I thank you. 
Mr. Hayes. 
Mr. HAYES. I don't really have any questions. I think we have 

heard testimony from excellent witnesses. I just glanced through 
the written t0stimony. Here are people who have actually had the 
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experience of working in those areas of public safety which we 
want to exclude from coverage and give the States and localities, 
the local groups, the right, I guess, to retire them at an early age 
than might be in other fields. 

I, certainly, support the position that all of you have indicated 
who have testified here. I see no need for any further questioning 
on my part. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Thank you, Mr. Hayes. 
I have to agree with Mr. Hayes that you have been very excel

lent and have given very excellent testimony. 
The only reason I raise some of the questions I raise is because I 

know these questions are going to be raised as the debate goes on, 
not because I don't support the legislation. 

I do believe the local governments in those instances have a 
better ability to determine what is best for their communities, and 
to some degree I do support the legislation. 

The only thing that I am always looking for is exceptions. Noth
ing in life is ever just blatantly across the board, because you will 
find in every case exemptions. 

But I would not risk the overall program just to satisfy those ex
emptions because they are, after all, just the rare exception. 

Mr. SCHAITBERGER. Mr. Chairman, may I give for myself one 
final comment? I know that the committee in its deliberations is 
really looking at the mandatory retirement question, and a lot of 
the focus this morning and today is on the retirement end. 

I would just add that the chairman and the committee, please 
look at the front end of the question, which we believe may even be 
the more serious of the two problems, and that is listing the maxi
mum hiring age into the service. 

So, we would just &Jk you in your deliberations to please focus on 
that. 

Mr. MARTINEZ. Very good. You have actually given me some in
sight that I didn't have before, and I think that is very important. 

This will be a part of the record for those that care to read the 
record and be educated. 

It also gives us who may be arguing on the side of the bill some 
more ammunition to fight with. 

Thank you very much for being here today. 
One last thing. There was some opposition testimony and it was 

provided by the Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities 
fOl' the State of Connecticut, Mr. Philip Murphy. He was not able 
to be here. But his testimony will be entered into the record also. 

[The prepared statement of Philip Murphy follows:] 
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The Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities (hereinafter 

Commission) respectfully provides this paper in response to this Subcommittee's 

invitation to comment on two bills under YOU)' consideration. The Commission 

thanks this Subcommittee for the opportunity to comment on these two bills. 

After some brief comments on H.R. 4154, which the Conrnission wholeheartedly en

dorses, the body of this presentation will address H.R. 1435, to which the 

Commission is strongly opposeo. 

H.R. 4154 

The Commission is charged ~lith the enforcement of Connecticut's antidis

crimination laws. Section 46a-60(a)(1) of the Connecticut General Statutes 

prohibits, ~ alia, employment discrimination based on age. Connecticut law 

does not contain an age seventy (70) cap except for employees who are entitled 

to benefits "under any pension or retirement plan or system provided for state 

or municipal employees or for teachers in the public schools of the state or 

under a pension or retirement plan or system provided for employees of an in

stitution of higher education." Conn. Gen. gn. Sec. 46a-60(b)(1),(A). The 

statute also contains an exception for executives analogous to that found at 

Z9 U.S.C. Sections 631(c)(1) and (c)(2). Otherwise, under Connecticut law, most 

employees are protected from age discrimination even after their sixtY-ninth 

(69th) birthday. 

Removing the age seventy (70) cap from the Age Discrimination in Employment 

Act (hereinafter ADEA) will serve to further the goals of that legislation by 

expanding the AD£A's protections against the arbitrary termination of employment 

because of age. Further, it will free those state statutes, which currently 

protect the age seventy (70) or older employee, from the threat of preemption by 

the Employees Retirement Income Security Act (29 U.S.C. Section 1144(a),herein

after ERISA). Without this change in the AD~A, state attempts to protect 
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workers over age sixty-nine (69) who are members of ERISA covered plans could 

be defeated. However. were the ADEA to protect these older workers, ERISA would 

cease to be a threat. since statutory provisions of the ADEA are not preempted 

by ERISA. 

H.R. 1435 

This bill proposes to completely deny state and municipal police and fire 

personnel the important protections of the ADEA. The bill is all inclusive; it 

would deny ADEA protection to applicants for employment as well as to incumbent 

employees facing arbitrarily low mandatory retirement ages. Furthel'. this bill 

makes no distinction between line firefighters or police officers and super

visory or administrative personnel. 

The Commission strongly opposes this legislation. We believe it is ill ad

vised in its entirety. This proposed exemption from AOEA coverage is completely 

at odds with past Congressional action concerning the AOEA, and with judicial 

interpretation of that law. Further. there is no overriding administrative or 

medical justification for such an extreme departure from established law. 

The AOEA was enacted in 1967 "to promote employment of older persons based 

on their ability rather than age; to prohibit arbitrary age discrimination in 

employment; [and] to help employers and workers find ways of meeting problems 

arising from the impact of age on employment." 29 U.S.C. Section 621(b). 

Since 1967. Congress has amended the ADEA several times. Originally. the Act 

did' not apply to the federal Government. to the states or their political sub

divisions, or to employers with fewer than twenty-five (25) employees. However. 

in 1974. Congress extended coverage to federal. state and local governmental 

employees. 29 U.S.C. Section 630(b). At the same time, Congress extended 

coverage to employers with twenty (20) or more employees. 29 U.S.C. Section 630(b). 
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In 1978, Congress removed the general exemption permitting forced retirement 

pursuant to a bona fide pension plan. 29 U.S.C. Section 623{f){2). In 1979, 

Congress extended protection to persons aged sixty-five through sixty-nine 

(65-59). 29 U.S.C. Section 531(a). In 1982, the provision permitting the age

based mandatory retirement of tenured teachers was repealed. 

29 U.S.C. Section 623(g)(1}. In short, the history of the AOEA has been one of 

steady expansion toward all older employees, in keeping with the underlying 

purpose of the Act. This bill represents a complete reversal of this trend. 

The United States Supreme Court has consistently upheld these Congressional 

extensions of protection. In EEOC v. Wyoming, 460 U.S. 225 (1983), the Court 

upheld the extension of the ADEA to state and local governments and ruled that 

there was no Tenth Amendment violation. 

In the Wyoming case, a suit was brought challenging Wyoming's policy of 

mandatorily retiring fish and game wardens at age fifty-five (55). The lower 

court held that the ADEA was unconstitutional as applied to state employees. As 

noted, the Supreme Court reversed. In so doing, the Court pointed out that its 

decision did not mean that Wyoming's retirement policy was necessarily unlawful. 

The Court noted: 

Perhaps more important, appellees remain free 
under the ADEA to continue to do precisely 
what they are doing now, if they can demon
strate that age is a 'bona fide occupational 
qualification' for the job of game warden .•• 
Thus, •.• even the State's discretion to 
achieve its goals in the wa~ it thinks best 
is not being overridden entlrely, but is 
merely being tested against a reasonable 
federal standard. 460 U.S., at 240 
(emphasis in original) 

Accordingly, the ADEA presently provides a solution, the bona fide occupational 

qualification (hereinafter BFOQ) defense, to the concerns expressed in Wyoming. 

These are the same concerns which underlie H.R. 1435. 
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The BFOQ is the long standing legitimate exception to ADEA coverage. The 

Supreme Court has recognized it as a reasonable federal standard in the Wyoming 

case, as well as in more recent decisions. In Johnson v. Mayor and City of 

Baltimore, _ U.S. __ , 37 FEP Cases 1839 (1985), the Supreme Court reversed 

the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, and reinstated the decision of the Maryland 

District Court. The District Court ruled that the defendants had failed to 

establish a BFOQ for their policy of mandatorilY retiring firefighters at age 

fifty-five (55). Unless a BFOQ is established, such a policy would clearly 

violate the ADEA. The ADEA permits a defendant to claim and prove a BFOQ for 

any position. 

The BFOQ standard has consistently been narrowly construed, in both judicial 

and administrative forums. Western Airlines v. Criswell, _U.S._, 

37 FEP Cases 1829 (1985). The legislative history of the ADEA repeatedly states 

that the degeneration that accompanies aging is an individual matter. 

Western Airlines v. Criswell, 37 FE? Cases at 1833. The individual nature of the 

effects of the aging process, and the statute's clear reliance on job require

ments mandate an individual approach to forced, age-based retirement. The 

proposed blanket e~emption for police and firefighters hiring and termination 

decisions evades the entire purpQS~ of the AOEA. 

Since this bill is a radical departure from almost twenty years of Congressional, 

administrative and judicial action. it must seek justification in medical and, per

haps, fiscal concerns. A proponent of the bill might say that although aging 

varies with the individual, phYSical ability cannot be individually determined. 

A proponent might argue that it would be prohibitively expensive to individually 

determine phYsical ability in the police and fire contexts. Several courts have 

considered such claims in the context of the ADEA. These courts have heard 

59-730 0 - 86 - 2 
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extensive medical testimony both on the effects of aging and on the expense and 

reliability of medical evaluations of physical capacity. See, e.g., ~ 

City of Buffalo, 596 F. Supp. 939 (W.O.N.Y. 1984), aff'd 770 F.2d 12 (2d Cir. 1985); 

Johnson v. Mayor and City of Baltimore, 515 F.Supp. 1287 (O.Md. 1981); rev'd. 

731 F.2d 209 (4th Cir. 1984); rev'd. _U.S._, 37 FEP Cases 1839 (S.Ct. 1985). 

These courts found that physical capacity varied \~idely from person to person 

and that age could not be used as a BFOQ, particularly when a relatively young 

age was dictated for retirement or as a maximum hiring age. The courts further 

found that physical condition could readily and inexpensively be determined on 

an individual basis. This same medical testimony counsels against the wholesale 

exclusion of police and fire personnel from the coverage of the AOEA. Police 

and fire departments must monitor the physical condition of applicants and em

ployees regardless of their age. There is no reason why a person should be denied 

an individual evaluation of continued ability to serve, merely because he or she 

has celebrated a particular birthday. The Connecticut fair employment practices 

statute, Connecticut General statute Section 46a-60(b)(3), specifically allows 

an employer to examine an employee to determine ability for continued employment 

on an individual basis. Similarly, there is no reason not to assess an applicant 

for protective service work on the basis of his or her individual ability, instead 

of disqualifying him or her entirely on the basis of an arbitrarily set maximum 

hiring age. This bill does not allow for individual consideration at all, and . 
it resurrects fallacious stereotypes about older persons, stereotypes the AOEA 

was intended to put to rest. 

Implicit in the introduction of this Bill, H.R. 1435, is an assumption that 

all firefighters and law enforcement officers are physically unable to work to 

the usual retirement age, typically sixty-five (65) or seventy (70), provided 
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for other state or municipal employees. In considering this legislation, there

fore, it is worthwhile to carefully examine that assumption. Through 1 itigation 

already waged over the BFOQ exception of the ADEA, you have the benefit of a 

substantial amount of expert medical opinion as to the physical capabilities of 

older police and fire workers. (Exhibit A is an excerpt of some of that testi

mony and is dicussed infra). We have attached some of the decisions on this 

issue. (See Exhibits Band C, attached. Exhibit B is the District Court of 

Maryland's decision in Johnson v. Mayor and City of Baltimore, cited earlier as 

eventually sustained by the Supreme Court. Exhibit C is the District Court of 

New York's decision in Hahn v. City of BUffalo, also cited earlier.) From the 

review of the findings in these decisions, two key points emerge, regardless 

of whose experts one cons i ders. Fi rst, some fi refi ghters and 1 aw enforcement 

officers are fully competent to perform their jobs well into their sixties. 

Equally clear is the fact that it is not impractical to determine medically which 

personnel represent a risk to public safety, and should therefore be removed 

from service. 

There is no real dispute that, with age, overall physical ability tends to 

decline, and the possibility of a heart condition increases. These tendencies 

are gradual and linear; in other words, for the general population, neither tend

ency shows a marked change at any given age. There is no one age at which there 

is a marked falloff, for the general population, of physical endurance, nor a 

marked increase in the incidence of heart'disease. Given these gradual tendencies, 

however. it is a different matter entirely, to assert that they occu~ because of 

age. An objective look at the expert opinions in these exhibits leaves little 

doubt that such an assertion may not be valid for Significant portions of our 

population. 
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The experts identify several "risk factors" which contribut to both ones 

physical ability and ones susceptibility to heart ailments. Three of these are 

identified as major factors--hypertens;on, excess body cholesterol, and 

cigarette smoking. Somewhat less important, but still a major consideration, is 

ones family history. Other contributing factors, although of less imDortanc~, 

are sex, ~, physical inactivity and the presence of diabetes. In light of 

these factors, it seems inappropriate to consider legislation that would focus 

exclusively on age as the barometer by which to measure ones continued fitness 

to serve in the protective services. 

It is also inappropriate to consider legislation such as this when you re

flect on some of the statistics presented in the cases which belie the gradual 

tendency toward d~clining physical ability with age. In one study of the general 

population, thirty percent (30%) of males in their fifties had body fat levels 

equivalent to the average man in his twenties. Twenty percent (20%) of men in 

their fifties could assimilate oxygen into their bloodstreams at the same rate 

as the man in his twenties. Looking at raw strength, between fifteen to twenty 

percent (15-20%) of men in their fifties are stronger than the average man in 

his twenties. These are not insignificant numbers. Clearly a sizable number of 

the general population remains physically competent despit advancing age. In 

nonsedentary occupations such as firefighting and law enforcement, one would 

hardly expect a decline in these significant percentages. 

The attached exhibits also point to a'dditional factors which contribute to 

any perceived decline in performance among protective service workers. One is 

tenure in the position--the so-called "burnout" factor. Another is a decline 

in morale brought on by the fact of limited opportunity for advancement through 

the ranks. Finally, one must consider testimony that the older, more experienced 
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worker's judgment may compensate for any perceived or actual, decline in physical 

stamina. In at least one case (see Exhibit B), the injury rate for younger fire

fighters was significantly higher than that sustained by older, more experienced 

personnel. 

The evidence in these exhibits also shows that it is not a difficult burden 

to determine, with a high degree of medical certainty, which protective service 

workers of a given age are physically competent to continue in their duties, and 

which are not. This Conmittee's attention is specifically called to the testi

mony of Doctor Samuel Fox in the Johnson v, Baltimore case. (See Exhibit A. 

The complete transcript of Dr. Fox's testimony runs to some one-hundred-sixty 

(160) pages. For obvious reasons of economy, we have included as Exhibit A only 

pages 477-481, which speak directly to the issue of identifying those workers at 

significant risk.) In summary, Dr. Fox describes a procedure of medical tests, 

nonburdensome in terms of both time and expense, by which a determination as to 

continued physical fitness to serve could be made on ninety-five percent (95%) 

of all firefighters who took it. Further determinations could be made on the 

remaining five percent (5%) through the use of one or two additional tests, for 

an increased, but not prohibitive, expense. 

It is significant that none af the experts referenced in the attached ex

hibits assert that distinguishing between those older protective service workers 

who are physically able to continue, and those who are not, is impossible ar 

impr.actical from a medical standpoint. We believe that it is practical from an 

administrative standpoint as well. It must be considered at the outset that not 

all workers will desire to work past the earliest date at Which they can retire. 

Many, perhaps most, protective service workers look forward to and count on re

tirement at age fifty (50), sixty (60) or whatever other age is provided for 
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voluntary retirement. Therefore, a large number of workers will not require any 

testing at all. For those that do wish to continue, an investment of two to 

three (2-3) hours and less than two-hundred dollars ($200) does not constitute 

an excessive burden, in light of the fundamental right involved. 

These tests can predict, with a high degree of medical accuracy, the older 

worker's capacity to continue satisfactorily in the protective services. Are 

they risk free? No test result can guarantee future performance. However, they 

can predict future performance with a high degree of confidence. We all function, 

as persons or as governmental bodies, with full knowledge that many of our deci

sions entail certain risks. We can, as in the instance of determining the 

continued competence of protective service workers, however, reduce those risks 

to acceptable levels. 

CONCLUSION 

In short, while some older firefighters and law enforcement personnel may no 

longer be physically competent to perform their duties, it is obvious that many 

others are more than capable of continued service. It is equally apparent that 

it is medically and administratively feasible to distinguish between the twa. It 

is for this reason that the Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities 

opposes H.R. 1435. 

We are not testifying as a medical expert. Those who have the expertise in 

the fields of aging and physical ability ~ave told the courts and can tell you 

that individual detenninations of fitness can be made practically and at relatively 

low cost. Those opinions do not give support to the underlying assumptions behind 

this bill. Yes, there is a gradual trend toward physical decline and increased 

risk of heart disease that accompanies age. There are, however, significant num

bers of individual exceptions to these trends. This bill sacrifices the rights 
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of each of those individuals to continued employment in his or her chosen field. 

It does so to the benefit of no one, for the evidence does not show that public 

safety would b~ enhanced. 

H.R. 1435 opens the door to the codification of other stereotypes, which 

~re often false and are always blind to the individual. This bill stands in 

direct counterpoint to the noble g~al of ensuring the employment of older per

sons based on their individual ability instead of their age, which was the 

purpose behind the enactment of the ADEA almost twenty years ago. The Connecticut 

Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities urges your favorable action on 

H.R. 4154 and urges your rejection of H.R. 1435. Thank you. 
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VB 110. 117 9 - 9 9 B, £!.Y.!!! 
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OF Dl'IT,TIHORE, etc., at Ill. 

DIl~ timorc, ~!ilryland 

111:>r.il 29, 1981 

Defore the HOHORADLt lILEX7lNDtR IIARVr;V, II, 

u. S'. District Judge, for further trilll proceedings, at 

10:00 a.m. 

APpnARN1CES : 

PAUlo n. nr.m\AN, ESQ. 
InLLIAM ENCEU\1\lI, r:SO. 
Atto;rneys fot.' Plaintiffs 

AHIlROI'lr. T. llllR~tllJ'l, ESQ. 
LESLIE t~. GM:LIK, ESQ. 
GLENN M. OROSSMAN, ESQ. 
Attorneys for Dcfcnuants 

-000-
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own interest to know if they have a problem before they 

experience any difficulties and yet at acceptable low cost 

to the system or individuals, and at very acceptable low 

hazard, which we always have to consider relative to under

taking any procedure. 

We do not have to go to angiograms today, but 

even if one did wish to do that, the well-run laboratory 

dol,ng angiograms hus one-tenth of one percent mortality 

rate on an average in the Unitad States. 

J 

Q Now, in terms of deSigning a type of objective 

test in the way of a medical test, in order to determine 

whether or not a ,firefighter could i~ fact safely and 

efficiently perform his job, could you describe for the 

Court what you believe to be the basic type of tests which 

would be necessary in order to do that? 

A Yes, certainly height and weight would be 

relevant. But we know that weight by itself is not too 

strong an indicator. In laboratory data, the cholesterol 

and triglyceride determinations are available widely and 

as discussed earlier, high.d~nsity lipid protein cholesterol 

determinations are coming under high quality. standards. But 

fortunately here in Baltimore, we have one of the 12th 

national lipid research center units at Hopkins, under 

Dr. Flitterovich, that does superb work in the lipid 

definition. And I 'think is open to approach at a reasonable 
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cost" as is an equivalent unit at George Washington 

University in Washington. 

478 

So that definition of lipid, the fasting blood 

sugar or two hour after eating, Bo-called, post-pranial 

blood sugar determination will also, in my mind, be cost 

effective. 

Smoking history and blood pressure are easily 

obtained. But we have to depend on the subject's reporting 

for the veracity of the smoking history. 

Family history is more difficult to work with 

but clearly is worth the brief amount of time for recording, 

and if there io suggestion of premature disease, it enhances 

the persuasion to look further. 

The discussion of psychological stress and strain, 

I think, is one of the more difficult things, but clinicians 

can get a feel for the way in which individuals handle that 

type challenge at a useful level with very few questions. 

Therefore, I think we have the first line of 

entry into a system, with laboratory tests, which should be 

available for less than $30, and very brief review of 

circwnstances that need not be undertaken by physicians 

allied health science personnel can elicit history and take 

blood pressure. 

After that, an exercise tolerance test on a 

treadmill to perceive symptomatic maximum is, in my mind, 'a 
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very worthwhile undertaking, can be negotiated, I think, on 

a group basis, for something a little over a hundred dollars -

clearly under $200 -- with a ten electrode l2-lead high 

quality recording capability, including computer averaging, 

which your high levels of exercises, this is very important 

there are four manufacturers of machines that provide that 

quality and they are widely available. 

After that, if continued interest or concern 

exists, the fluoroscopic evaluation for calcium and the 

distribution in the coronary arteries is not frequently 

performed but should be by all those -- and should be 

available at a cost no greater than $50. 

The amount of radiation imposed on the subject 

with a brief image intensified fluoroscopic survey is very 

acceptable, low -- much less than the daily allowable dose. 

The next seage of evaluation, if still questions 

remain, would be the radio nuclei ventriculogram, a procedure 

which was in large part resultant from the work of Dr. 

Henry Wagn~r at Hopkins in his very innovative leadership in 

developing radio nuclei applications to the field of 

cardiology. This is Widely available in the Baltimore

Washington area, and you lie on your back in most 

configurations, peddling a resistance bicycle while the 

scintillation crystal that picks up the contained radiation 

or isotope in the heart is placed over the chest and with 
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increasing resistance imposed by the exercise bicycle 

settings, one gets up to a high level of exercise. This 

type evaluation is available for under $400 depending on 

whose accounting one is dependent upon in the Baltimore- I 

Washington area. 

Beyond that, there are other isotope studies. 

The Thallium profusion scan, so~called, which is a little 

more expensive, and heart catheterization, which we hope 

would not be necessary. 

But, by building a series of sequential 

evaluat.ions, ,one can determine with a very high degree of 

accuracy the probability of the existence of significant 

coronary disease. 

Q Let me ask you this, Doctor: Is it necessary, 

in every case, to go to the lengths that you have just 

described? 

A By no means. I think that less than 5 percent 

of the population of firemen, age 50 and above, would ever 

get into the hands of a nuclear cardiologist doing a nuclear 

test at 300 and 400 dollars. 

Q So you think that 95 percent could be evaluated 

on the basis --

A And resolved. 

Q And resolved up to and including the exercise 

stress test? 
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A Yes, because an hour of that test, as ! think 

I demonstrated, when you look at more than just the simple 

S~T segment displacem~nt, and you look at the manner in which 

the patient sustained his blood pressure, the -- his general 

appearance, the character of the blood pressure sounds as 

they come through, not just the arithmetic values -- many 

things that we, as clinicians, have learned to use and which 

are available to us, you do not need to go to the expensive 

sophisticated demanding techniques. 

We have a slide illustrating this approach if 

that would be relevant. 

THE COURT: I really don't think we need to go 

into the detaila. Do you want the doctor to be finished 

today? I think we're going into an awful lot of detail. 

MR. BEKl-IAN: Your lIonor, that's all the questions 

that I have for Dr. Fox. 

THE COURT: Very well, cross-examination? 

CROSS-EXAIUNATION 

BY MR. GROSSMAN: 

Q Dr. Fox, you'~ been here throughout the whole 

trial, haven~ you? 

A I have. 

Q Did you hear Dr. Davis yeaterday say that 

persons rea:h their maximum oxygen -- their V02 Max at age 

35 -- do you agree -'\lith that? 
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Exhibit B 

JOHNSON v. MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF BALTIMORE 1287 
CIt. 11111 F.5IIpp. 1m (1181) 

Robert W. JOHNSON, Avpat T. Stem, 
Jr .. TIaOIlWl C. Doyle, Mitchell Par\a, 
Robert L. Robey aod Jutefl Lte Porter, 
PhhItlff., 

2. Municlpal Corporations *'" 53 
If city ordinance conflicts with provi. 

sions of Age Discrimination in Employment 
Act of 1967, ordinance in question must fall. 
Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 
1967, § 2 at &eq. ns a.mended 29 U.S.C.A. 

Equal Employment Opportunity Conunla. § 621 et seq. 
lion, InU"eniDg Plaintiff, 3. Eitoppel *"'52.10(3) 

v. 
The MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 

BALTIMORE aDd II)'IDIUl A. Pnuman, 
AI ChIIlrman and Donald D. Pomerleau, 
Calhoun Bond, Edward C. Heckrotte, 
St .. Charlet Daqherty, Paul D. Wolman, 
Jr. aDd Curt HelnfeJder, lIletllben of the 
Board of TruIteea, Fire aDd Pollce Em
ployeea Retirelllent S,..telll of the CIty 
of Baltlmore, Defendant.. 

CW. A. No. 8-'19-998. 

United States District Court, 
District of Maryland. 

June 9, 1981. 

Six fire fightera brought auit challeng
ing provisions of city code which required 
that certain f"Jre department employees 
retire at agel! 65 aDd 60. The District 
Court, Aieunder Harvey, n, J., held that: 
(1~ city WAIl subject to proviaiOlll of Age 
Diacrimination in Employment Act of 1967; 
(2) plaintitffl did not waive their rights un
der Act by joining f"Jre and police employ
oo'l! retirement sytItem of city; (8) provi
JJiol\8 of city code requiring that certain fire 
department enqiloytlOl retire at q'(!I 65 and 
60 violatAld ADEAi aDd (4) claim of 82-
year-old plaintiff waa ripe for adjudication. 

Order accordingly. 

L Ct'fil BJPtI -1.15 -t 
City wu subject to proviBiol\8 of Age 

Diacrimination in Employment Act of ~, 
IIince 197' &mODdment to ADEA to include 
IItateIs and political aubdivWolll within defi
nition of term "ompJoyer" wu collltitution
aL Age ~tion In Employment Act 
of 1967, ., 11(b) sa IUl.'£nded 29 U.s.,C.A. 
f 680(b). 

Before court can find that federal right 
hall been waived, it muat be eatablillhed that 
there was intentional relinquishment or 
abandonment of known right or privilege: 

.. FAtoppel *"'116 
Courts indul~ every reasonable pre

sumption against waiver of fundamental 
rights, and court cannot presume acqllies
cence in 1018 of a fundamental right. 

5. Civil BJPtI -9.15 
Fire f"tghters, by joining, betW(ll.!ll 1962 

and 1967, city fJre and police employees 
retirelJJent system, provisions 'Df which re
quired them to retire at ages 65 or 60, did 
not waive their right to rely on benefits 
conferred upon them by Age Discrimination 
in Employment Act which did not include 
employees of state and local governments 
until 1974 and did not preclude involuntary 
retirement. of individual because of age pur
suant to established pellllion plan or Beniori
ty sytItem until 1978. Age Discrimination 
in Employment Act of 1967, § 2 et seq. 81 

amended 29 U.s.C.A. § 621 et seq. 

6. CiYI1 RJPtI -8.15 
Fire fighters were not· contn.ctually 

bound to retire at agee IS5 or 60 becauae 
they agreed to terms of city t"tre and police 
employees rWrement sylltem requiring 
them to retire.at age 65 Oi' 60, since auch 
waiver or releue contravened policy behind 
Age Dilcrimination in Employment Act of 
1967. Age Dilcrimination In Employment 
Act of li67, S 2 et aeq. all amended 29 
U.s.C.A. S.621 et I0Il. 

7. CiYI1 BJPia -U(G) 
Prima facie cue of age di1lcrimination 

ill made out where plaintiff provea that he 
ill member of the protoc:ted group; that he 
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has been terminated; that he has been re
placed by person outside protected group; 
and that he was qualified to do the job. 
Age Di&crimination in Employment Act of 
1967, § 2 et seq. as amended 29 U.S.C.A. 
§ 621 et seq. 

8. Civil RlghtB 0:::>9.15, 44(6) 
Provisions of city code requiring that 

certain fire department employees retire at 
ages 55 and 60 violated Age Discrimination 
in Employment Act of 1967; city failed to 
meet its burden of proving that age consti
tuted bona fide occupational qualification 
or that it was impol!l!lible or highly impracti
cal to deal with retirement of ftre fighters 
between ages of 60 and 65 on an individual
ized basis. Age Discrimination in Employ
ment Act of 1967, §§ 2 at seq., 4(f)(I) as 
amended 29 U.S.C.A. §§ 621 et aeq., 
628(f)(I). 

9. CIvil RIght. 0:::>43 
Once plaintiff has made out prima fa

cie case of age discrimination under Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, 
burden shifts to employer to establish bona 
fide occupational qualification defense . 
.Age Di&crimination in Employment Act of 
1967, §§ 2 et seq •• 4(f)(I) &8 amended 29 
U.S.C.A. §§ 621 et aeq .• 628(f)(I). 

10. Declaratory Judplent 0:::>209 
Claim of 82-year-old ftre fighter who. 

under provisions of city code would be re
quired to retire at age 55. was ripe for 
adjudication. even though be would not be 
required to retire for 2S YeanJ, and there
fore, ftre fighter was entitled to declaratory 
judgment and bjunction prohibiting de
fendants from enforcing those provisions of 
city code. Age Discrimination in Employ
ment Act of 1967, §§ 2 et seq., 12 as amend
ed 29 U.S.C.A. §§ 621 et seq., 631. 

lL Statute. ~1) 
Act must fall -ptirely if effect of de

claring portion of it invalid would render 
remainder incapable of affecting purpoee 
for which act was enacted. 

I. PIaIDtItfI! abo conteod that the City ordinance 
YioI&teI20 U.s.c. I 215. HO'I'i1lVer. that provI
ilion of die Fair Labor Standards Act II merely 
an ~t provIsIoa Incorponted Into the 
ADEA. See 29 U.s.c. I 626(b). 

12. Constitutional Law 11=0253.2(2) 
Legislation authorized by aection five 

of the Fourteenth Amendment can prohibit 
practices which would pass muster under 
equal protection clause, absent an act of 
Congress. U.S.C.A.Const. Amend. 14. 

Paul D. Bekman, William H. Engelman 
and Kaplan, Heyman, Greenberg, Engel
man &. Belgrad, P.A., Baltimore. Md., for 
plaintiffs. 

Frederick P. Charleston, Trial Atty., 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commis
lion, Baltimore, Md., for intervening plain
tiff. 

Ambrose T. Hartman, Deputy City Sol., 
and Glenn M. Gl'068man and J... William 
Gawlik, Asst. City Sols., Baltimore, Md .• for 
defendants. 

ALEXANDER HARVEY. II, District 
Judge: 

In this civil action, the aix plaintiffs, who 
IU'e Baltimore City firefighters, IU'e chal
lenging provisions of the Baltimore City 
Code which require that certain Fire De
partment employees retire at the ages of 
f'lfty-five and sixty. Plaintiffs contend that 
this legislation (1) violates provisiona of the 
Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 
1967 (the "ADEA,,). 29 U.S.C. § 621, et 
aeq; I (2) contravenes 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 
and (8) is violative of the Fourteenth 
Amendment. AIl relief, pla,intiffs are seek
ing II declaratory judgment, a permanent 
injunction, back pay for plaintiff' Johnson, 
attorneys' fees and COIIts. 

Five of the six plaintiffs are pn'8ently 
over sixty years of age.1 Had they not filed 
this luit, each of these five plaintiffs would 
now have boon mandatorily retired, purIIu
ant to applicable provisiona of the Balti
IDot'e City Code. However, with the con-

1. PlaIntiff. Johnson, Stem, Doyle, PuiI and 
Robey are aU OYer IIxty yean of aae. Plalntitfl 
have compiled with the exbaustloa require
menta of 29 U.S.c. f 626(d). 
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sent of the defendants, n Temporary Re
straining Order has been entered in this 
CUll, permitting these five plaintiffs to re
tain their jobs and their employment berle
fits during the pendency of this action. 
The llixth plaintiff, James Lee Porter, is 
preeently thirty-two years of age. He will 
be required to retire under the Baltimore 
City law in question in the year 2003, when 
he becomes fifty-five. 

Named as defendants are the Mayor and 
City Council of Baltimore and the Chairman 
and members of the Board of Trustees of 
the Fire and Police Employees Retirement 
System of the City of Baltimore (herein
after the "FPERS"). Subllequent to the 
commenoement of this action, the Equal 
Employment Opportunity CommiBsion was 
permitted to intervene as a party plaintiff 
and has filed an intervening complaint. 
Following extensive pretrial prooeedings, 
this case came on for trial before the under
signed Judge, sitting witllout a jury. Testi
mony Willi heard from expert and other 
witnesses, and numerou8 exhibits have been 
entered in evidenoe. Findings of fact and 
conclWlions of law under Rule 52(a), F.R. 
Civ.P .. are contained in this Opinion, wheth
er or not expressly 80 dellignated. 

The challenged provisions of law 

Prior to 1962, employees of the Baltimore 
City Fire Department, like other municipal 
employees, were covered by the Employees 
Retirement System of the City of Baltimore 
(hereinafter the "ERS,,),' &e Article 22, 
§§ 1-1'1, Baltimore City Code (as amended). 
ThiI pension Dnd retirement ayatem con
tailUl a provision for mandatory retirement 
at age lIflVenty. 

Pursuant to enabWi legislation enacted 
by the Maryland State Legislature, the Bal
timore City Council, in 1962, approved an 
ordinance eatabliahing & new retirement 
I)'Item far Fire Department and Pollee De. 
pe.rbntmt _pIoyees OI1iy, namely the 

FPERS, which is at issue here. The provi
aions applicable in thirJ case, as set forth in 
Article 22, § 84(a), Baltimore City Code (as 
amended), are as follows: 

(2) Any member in service who 11118 at
tained the age of fifty-five shall be 
retired on the first day of the next calen
dar month after attaining such age, ex
cept that a member who has attained the 
rank of Fire Lieutenant or Polioe Ser
geant, or equivalent grade as certified by 
the Department head and approved by 
the Board of Trustees, ~hall be retired 
when he has attained the age of eixty
five. 

(4) Further, anything in this 8ubtltle to 
the contrary notwithstanding, any em
ployee covered by this System, under the 
rank of Fire Lieutenant or Police Ser
geant, or equivalent grade, who was in 
aervice on July I, 1962, may be continued 
in IlCrvice until attaining age 60. 

In this 8uit, the plaintiffs contend that 
these provisions which require them to 
retire at ages fifty-five and llixty violate 
the ADEA, § 1988 and the Fourteenth 
Amendment. 

II 

Facts 
Plaintiff Robert W. Johnson commenced 

his employment with the Baltimore City 
Fire Department in October of 1948. On 
April 29, 1979, Johnson attained the age of 
aixty years. Under § 84(a)(4), Jobnaon was 
retired involuntarilY on May I, 1979. This 
luit was filed on !r!ay 29, 1979. Pursuant to 
the TemPorary Restraining Order entered 
by the Court, Johnson was restored to pay 
status on June 11, 1979.' In addition to the 
other relief 80ught by the other plaintiffs, 
Johnson aeeks back pay from lIay 1 to JUl!e 
11, 1979 in the amount of $1,000.00. Plain~ 
tiff August T. Stern, Jr. commenced his 

&. EmpIoyi!eJ 01 the City of BalUmore other 4. Plalntll'f Johnson II the only ODe of the plain-
than ~'and poueemcn continue to be tItta wboae employment has been lntetTUpted. 
cow.nd by the ERS. 'lbUI, he II tI'.e only plalntll'f ~Idng ~ pay. 
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employment with the Fire Department in 
February 1946. He became sixty yel\l'S of 
age on September 17, 1979. PlAintiff 
Thomas C. Doyle started working with the 
Fire Department in March of 1947, and 
became sixty years of age on October 7, 
1979. Plaintiff Mitchell Paris commenced 
his employment with the Fire Department 
in December of 1946, and he attained the 
age of sixty on January 21, 1981. Plaintiff 
Robert L. Robey started working with the 
Fire Department on October 10, 1951, and 
became sixty on March 26, 1981. Plaintiffs 
Stern, Doyle, Paris and Robey have also 
boon continued as Baltimore City firefight
ers pursuant to this Court's Temporary Re
ntraining Order. Like plaintiff Johnson, 
they all desire to continue to work for the 
Baltimore City Fire Department beyond 
age sixty. Plaintiffs are not here challeng
ing the right of the defendants to retire 
them involuntarily at age sixty-five, which 
is the mandatory retirement age under 
present law for Lieutenants and other offi
cers of the Fire Department. 

Plaintiff James 'Lee Porter commenced 
his employment with the Baltimore City 
Fire Department on May 6, 1969. On Octo
ber 23, 2003, plaintiff Porter will attain the 
age of fifty-five. Since he did not become a 
fJ.ref'tghtcl' until after July 1, 1962, he will 
be required under the aforementioned 
§ 84(aX2) and (4) to retire at age rifty-five 
whether he wishes to or not. 

Plaintiffs Johnson, Stern, Doyle, Paris 
and Robey were all formerly members of 
the ERS. When the new ordinance 6lltab
&hing the FPERS was adopted by the City 
Council in 1962, these five plaintiffll, in 1962 
or thereafter, ehoee to be covered by the 
new retirement system rather than the old. 

III ,~ 

The ADEA 
When it enac:ted the ADEA in 1967, Con

er- Included & IStntement of ita fmdings 
and put'JX*e ill puring thia legislation. 29 
U.s.C. I ctn providea &II follows: 

(a) The ~ hereby finds and de
cU.rea that--

(1) in the face of rising productivity 
and affluence, older workers find them
oolves disadvantaged in their efforts to 
retain employment, and especially to re
gain employment when displaced from 
jobs; 

(2) the setting of arbitrary age limits 
regardless of potential for job perform
ance h& become a common practice, and 
certain otherwise desirable practieee may 
work to the disadvantage of older per
sons; 

(8) the incidence of unemployment, es
pecially long-term unemployment with 
resultant deterioration of skill, morale, 
and employer acceptability is, relative to 
the younger ages, high among older 
workers; their numbers are great and 
growing; and their employment problems 
grave; 

(4) the existence in induatries affecting 
commerce, of arbitrary dis!:rimination in 
employment beeauae of age, burdens 
commerce and the free flow of goods in 
commerce. 
(b) It is therefore the purpooe of this 
chapter to promote employment of older 
persons baaed on their ability rather than 
age; to prohibit arbitrary age discrimina
tion in employment: to h~lp employers 
and workers find ways of meeting prob
lema ariaing from the impact of age on 
employment. 
§ 62S(aXl) is as follows: 
(a) It shall be unlawful for an employ
er--

(1) to fail or refDBe to hire or to dis
charge any individual 01:' otherwiee dis
criminate againat any individual with re
IpOOt to his ootnpenaation, torma, condi
tiona, or privt1eges of employment, be
eauae of IIUeh individual'lI age; 0 0 0 

AI originaityenacted in 1967, the ADEA 
wu not applicable to governmental entities. 
However, in 1974, Congreas amended the 
Act to illClude elates and political IUbdlvi
Iiooa within ita 'COVerage. The term "em
ployer" DOW iodudes "a St&t.e or political 
aubdivision of a State and any agency or 
IllItrumentality of a State or a (lOlitical 
subdivision of & State 0 • Otl See 29 U.s.C. 
I 6SO(b). 
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Certain employer practices were recog
nized by the Act as being lawful. 
§ 628(f)(1) provides as follows: 

(1) It aball not be unlawful tor an em
ployer • • • (1) to take any action 
otherwise prohibited under subsec
tions (a) • • • of this section where 
age is a oona fide occupational quali
fication reasonably necessary to the 
normal operation of the particular 
business, or where the differentiation 
is based on reasonable factora other 
than age; • • • 

As originally enacted in 1967, § 62i1{f)(2) 
provided as follows: 

(1) It shall not be unlawful for an em
ployer • • • (2) to obBel'Ve the terms 
of a bona fide seniority aystem or any 
bona fide employee benefit plan such 
as retirement, pension, or insurance 
plan, which is not a subterfuge to 
evade the pllJ1lO6eB of this chapter, 
except that no such employee benefit 
plan shall excuse the failure to hire 
any individual; 

In 1978, § 623(f)(2) was amended 80 that 
it now reads: 

(2) to obeerve the terms of 11 bona fide 
aeniority system or any hona fide employ
ee benefit plan such as a retirement, pen
Ilion, or insurance plan, which is not a 
subterfuge to evade the PUl'pOlle8 of this 
chapter, except that no such employee 
benefit plan IIhall excuJle the failure to 
hire any individual, and DO such aeniority 
II}'!Jtem or employee benefit pll1l1 "haJJ re
quire or permit the involuntary retire
ment of lUJy iDdividuN specified by IlOO

tion 681(a) of this title becaUlle of the age 
of "ucb individual. (Empbaais added.) 
Congresa added the language empbaaized 

above for the expreu purpoec ot oVeJTUling 
the Supreme Court's de&ion in United Air 
Lines, Inc. v. JlcMlUJn~ 4.8( U.S. 192, 98 
B.Ct. m, 54 L.Ed.2d 402 (1977). See House 
Conference Report 95-960, 95th Cong., 2d 
&.ion, [lm] U.8.Code Cong. and Admin. 
News, pp..~ 529. In the McMann cal!e, 
the Supreme <Aurt had held that a bona 
f"1de . penJion plan eatablisbed prior to the 

I. TbIa ~ bewne el'tectlve 011 May 1. 
187 •. 

effective date of the ADEA llOuld not be a 
subterfuge to evade the purposes of the 
Act. 484 U.S. at 203. The 1978 amend
ment to § 623(f)(2) makes it clear that the 
Act applies to FPERS, even though that 
retirement plan was established before the 
ADEA was enacted. Furthermore, as the 
Fourth Circuit noted in EEOC v. Baltimore 
and Ohio R.R. Co., 632 F.2d 1107, 1112 (4th 
Cir. 1980), the 1978 amendment explicitly 
prohibits the provisions of § 623(f)(2) trom 
being utUized as a defense to involuntary 
retirement of protected individuals. 

In this 8uit, plaintiffs IUlBCrt that 
§ 84(a)(2) and (4) of Article 22 of the Balti
more City Code are contrary to § 623(a)(l) 
and § 628(f)(2) because the FPERS requires 
the involuntary retirement of eaeh of them 
because of their age. Defendants contend 
(1) that the ADEA is unconstitutional; (2) 
that plaintiffs have waived their right to 
rely on the benefits of this federn! statute; 
and (8) that puruuant to § 623(f)(l), age is a 
bona fide occupational qualification for 
firefighters which is reasonably neoenaary 
to the normal operation of the Baltimore 
City Fire Department. 

IV 

The constitutionality of the ADEA as 
applied to states and political 

subdivisions 
Relying on Nlltional League of Cities v. 

UlJfJry, 426 U.S. 8SS, 96 S.Ct. 2465, 49 
L.Ed.2d 2115 (1976), defendants f"trBt contend 
that the ADEA may not be corurtitutionally 
applied to employees ot Ii state 01' political 
lubdiviaion. Ar, noted bereinabove, Con
greM amended the Act in 1974 to include 
states and' political subdivisions within the 
definition of the term "employer", as uaed 
in the Act. See 29 U.S.C. § 6SO(b).' De
fendants contend that by extending the 
coverage of the ADEA to public employees 
in 19'74, Congress baa unconstitutionally 
uaurped the regulation of t:IIJIential govern
ment tunctions properly reaerved to state 
and local governments. 
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Defendants' oonstitutional argument was 
previously rejected by the Fourth Circuit in 
Arritt v. Griae11, 567 F.2d 1267 ("th Cir. 
1977). In that cue, a police officer in 
Moundsville, West Virginia had been denied 
employment by that city because he was 
forty years of age and therefore ineligible 
to take the required physical and mental 
eJtlUDinations under West Virginia law, 
which had established an eighteen to thirty· 
five year age limit for auch ~pplicanta. In 
an opinion written by Judge Thomsen, the 
Fourth Circuit reversed the District Court's 
entry of summary judgment in favor of the 
defendanta and remanded the CWIC to the 
lower oourt for the development of a full 
factual record ooncerning plaintiffs claim 
that the West Virginia statute violated the 
ADEA. 

AIl in this CWIC, the defendanta in Arritt 
argued that the Supreme Court decision in 
National League of Cities v. Usery, supra, 
invalidated the 1974 amendments to the 
ADEA which extended ooverage of ita anti. 
discrimination provisions to state and local 
government employers. That decillion of 
the Supreme Court had held that the exten· 
sion of provilliODII of the Fa.ir Labor Stan· 
dards Act to atate and local government 
employees engaged in are&lI of traditional 
governmental functions oould not he upheld 
all a oonstitutionally valid regula.tion of in· 
terntate oommerce because the Tenth 
Amendment limits exercise of the powers of 
Congretlll under the commerce clause. Af· 
ter oonsidering the legislative history of the 
ADEA and the Supreme Court'. opinion in 
Fitzpatrick v. Bitzer, 4Z1 U.S. «5, 96 s.Ct. 
2600, 49 L.Ed.2d 614 (19'76). the Fourth Cir· 
cuit in Arritt upheld the 19'74 amendments 
to the Act. Writing on behalf of the pIJIel, 
Judge Thomsen oondtlded that in enacting 
the ADEA and extdding it to the states, 
Congress had exerciaed its powers under § 5 
of the Fourteenth Amendment rather than 
under the oommerce clause. li67 F.2d at 
1270-l2'11. 

.. Other CUM roadlInB the wne ooncluslon In· 
dude ManlWI v. Delaware River It &y AU· 
tbonty, 471 F.sUW. 886 CO.Del.l979); Rem· 

. II. 2] The recent Arritt decision is oon· 
trolling in this case. AIl the Fourth Circuit 
there held, the 19'74 amendments to the 
ADEA are not unoonstitutional. ThUB, the 
City of Baltimore is lIubject to the provi· 
sions of the ADEA, and if a city ordinance 
oonflicts with provisions of this Congres
sional statute, the ordinance in question 
must fall.' 

V 

Waiver 
Defendanta next argue that even if the 

City of Baltimore and ita Fire Department 
IN subject to the provisions ot the ADEA, 
the plaintiffs waiVI:.'(j their right to rely on 
benefits conferred upon them by this Act 
when they vo)untl.rily became membern of 
the FPERS in 1962 or thereafter. In sup
port of this oontention. defendants &allert 
that five of the plaintiffs contractually 
agreed to retire at age sixty wben they 
OOcame membern of the FPERS. 

In 1925, the City of Baltimore established 
the (ll1It actuarin.lIy funded pension IIytItem 
in Maryland for the general protection of 
municipal employees, known aa "The Em· 
ployees' RetirelD\\nt System of the City of 
Baltimore" (the "ERS"). See Article 22, 
§§ 1-17, Baltimore City Code (aa amended). 
That pension system, both then and now, 
oontains a provision for mandatory retire
ment at age Beventy. Both rll'llfightern and 
policemen were covered by the ERS. 

Following various studies supported by 
City firemen and their unions, a rocommen· 
dation wu DUtde to the City Board of Enti· 
mates in 1960 that retirement benefits for 
members or the Fire Department should he 
Iibcnllized. Following the enactment of en· 
abling ~1ation by the State Legislature 
in 1961, an ordinance Willi introduced in 
1962 before the Baltimore City Council, p.."O
viding for the establishment of the Fire and 
Police EmpIoYOOl Retirement SyatA:m (the 
"FPERS"). This legislation lowered the 
mandatory retirement a:re for ruoemen aJld 

mkk ... lWncs County. ~5 F.Supp. 914 (D.N. 
0.1977); and Unry v. Board 01 ~ of 
Salt r...Jce City, 421 F.Supp. 7111 CO.UtAh 1976). 
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police office.rtl from age seventy to Ilgtl fif- Rights Act of 1964. See Alexander v. Gard
ty-five 01' sixty. A "grandfather claUlle" DeJ'oDenver Company, 415 U.S. 86, 94 S.Ot. 
was included to permit firefighters, oUler lOll, S9 L.Ed.2d 147 (1974). In that case, 
than ofrlCler8, who were in aervice on July I, Ule Supreme Court concluded tbat there 
1962 to continue to work until age sbtty. could be no proopective waiver of an em
MON<!ver, those in service on that. date ployee's rights under Title VII. Noting 
could, if they chose to do so, continue to be that. an individual's right to equal employ
covered by Ule ERS. However, anyone who ment opportunities rept'e&ented a Congres
was employed after July I, 1962 was re- sional command that each employee be free 
quired to retire at the age of fifty-five and from diJlcriminatory practices, the Supreme 
was not permitted to be covered by the Court pointed out that. waiver of BUch a 
ERS. Office.rtl of the Fire Department right would result in defeating the para
were permitted to continue until age sixty- mount Congressional purpose behind Title 
five before being required to retire. VII. 415 U.S. at 51-52, 94 S.Ol at 1021. 

The proposed new ordinance was present- Accordingly, the Supreme Court concluded 
ed to the membership of both the Fire that an employee's rights under Title Vll 
Department and the Police Department, are not su.soeptible of proopective waiver. 
and some 59% of Ule Fire Department per- [6] These principles are equally appJica
BOnnel affeeted voted in favor of the new blo here. Plaintiffs made their decisions to 
system. In June of 1962, the ordinance was join Ule FPERS in 1962, 1968 and 1967. 
passed by Ule City Council. Some members Tbe ADEA was enacted by Congress in 
of the City Fire Department chose not to 1967, but. it was not until 1974 that employ
join Ule new system, but continued to be ees of state and local governments were 
covered by the ERS. Others, including the included within provisions of the statute. 
plaintiffs, elected to become members of In 1978, the law was again amer.ded to 
the FPERS. Plaintiffs Stern and Doyle preclude the involuntary retirement of an 
joined the new system in 1962, while plain- individual because of age pursuant to an 
tiffs Robey and Paris dill so in 1987. Plain- established pension plan or seniority $YS
tiff Joh\l8On, in July 1962, initially decided tem. Under these circumstances, it can 
to remain in the ERS, but in June of 1963, hardly be concluded that plaintiffs waived 
he elected to become a member of the their rights under the ADEA by joining the 
FPERS. Defendants contend U1at when FPERS between 1962 and 196'1. In thoee 
the plaintiffs elected to become members of years, they had no right to challenge provi
the new system, they waived any rights lions of the FPERS which reqlJired Ulem to 
they might have under the ADEA I\nd vol- retire at age sixty or fJfty.fi~e, and Ulere
untarily agreed to retirement at age sixty. fore there was no known right for them to 

[3, .] Before a court can find that a relinquish when they decided to join the 
federal right bas been waived, it mUlt be new retirement system. Under federal 
established that Ulere was an intentional standards, one may not relinquish intention
relinquishment or abandonment of a known ally an unknown righl NelaGn v. Peyton, 
right or privilege. JoblJllOlI v. Zerb1t, 804 .15 F.2d 1154, 1158 (4th Cir. 1969), oert. 
U.s. ~, .(M, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 102S, 82 L.Ed. denied, IJiY1 U.s. 100"/, 90 S.Ct. l2S5, 25 

.1461 (1938). Courts lJdulge every reasona- L.Fd.2d 4.20 (1970); Dodge v. Turner, 274 
blo presumption apirust waiver of lunda- r.supp. 285, 289 (D.Utah 1967); 800 Walker 
mental rights, and a. court cannot presume v. Peppersaclc, 816 F.2d 119, 127-28 <.tth 
acquieeceuee in the IilCIII of a fundamental Cir. less). 
right. let. at ~, 58 s.Ct. at 102S. This Court's conclUJIion that phUntiffs 

TboIIe principles were reoently applied by bave not waived their rights under the 
the Supreme Court in a WI! preeenting the ADEA is supported by the FourU1 Circuit's 
qlleltion of a claimed waiver of lUI employ- opinion in McMann v. United Air Lines, 
ee'. rights under Title VII of the Civil Inc., M2 F.2d 217 (4U1 Cir. 1976). In that 
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CIl.fIC, the Court placed no significance on 
the fact that the plaintiff could have chooen 
DOt to join the retirement plan claimed to 
violate the ADEA. Ii42 F.2d (It 219, n.1. 

(6) Nor is there merit te defendants' 
argument that plaintiffs are bound contrac· 
tually to retire at I\ges sixty or fifty·five 
because they have ~ te the terrnn ot 
the FPERS. A similar contention was re
jected by Judge Miller of this Court in 
Cbastang v. Flynn .t Emrich Co., 865 
F.Supp. 957 (D.Md.l9'lS). There, the argu
ment had boon made that the plaintiffll had 
waived their Title VII rightu by executing 
releallCll. Judge Miller held that a statutery 
right "oonferred upon a private party, but 
affecting the public inwrent may not be 
waived or relCalloo, if ouch waiver or rolcllOO 
contravenw the lltatutory polley." 365 
F.Supp. at 008. The same principle:! are 
applicable here. 

For tIlClIC renoons, this Court finds llnd 
ooncludes that the plaintiffs did not waive 
or Burrender their rights under the .ADEA 
when they joined the FPERS at variOUI! 
times betwoon 1962 and 1967. 

VI 
The bona fide occupational quaJifiCSItion 

defcIUJe 
The principal issue presented in this ca&C 

and the one to which DI08t ot the evidence 
baa boon din:ctcd is wbe~her age is a bona 
fide occupational quali!'JCation (hereinafter 
"BFOQ'~ for Baltimore City firefighters. 
Thia dc1'enae is epeclfically rooognir.ed by 
§ 62S(f)(l), which permits an employer to 
take any action otherwise prohihited by the 
Act where age is a bona fide ooeupational 
qualification "relUIOtllIobly 00ClttI8arY to the 
DOrmal opel'ation of the partiCUlar buainesa 
• II ." Relying on this statutery previllon, 
dc1'endants con~ that the Act is not vi0-
lated by pro~ of the Baltimore City 
Code which require that five of the plain
tiffs retire at age sixty, whether or not they 
wiIh to do 10.' 
7. nu. poftloD of the 0pIn10II (Soc:tlon VI) wI1I 

d\8c:uu oaJy the cJaima of the five pIalntU't. 
1IItIo In! ~ over IIxty yeara of '·Je. Ac· 
con2IaaI:Y. the term .'f>IaInurt." ..... UIOd In thIJ 

(a) Prima facie casa 

[7] Plaintiffs initially have the burden 
of elItabliahing that their rights under the 
ADEA have been violated. A prima facie 
CIIIIC of age diacrimination is made alIt 

where a plalntlfl proves (1) that he i.e a 
member of the protected groUPi (2) that he 
hu boon torminatedi (8) that he hll6 been 
replaced by a person outside the protected 
groUPi and (4) that he was qualified te do 
the job. MlII'8hrJf v. &ltimore .t Ohio ]WJ. 
road Company, 461 F,Supp. 862, 312 (D.Md. 
1978), afrd in part and rev'd in part, EEOC 
v. &1timore .t Ohio IWlroad Company, 682 
F..2d 1107 (4th Cir. 1980). 

[Ol In this C81iC, thllre is little doubt that 
plaln~ft8 have tully $atiafied thin burden 
and have elItablished a prima facie case 
under the ADEll.. Plaintiffs, who are over 
sixty yeal'!l of age, are DK!mbers of the 
group protected by the Act. The employ
ment of plalntlff Johnson lUll! in fact bc.en 
terminated, and the other plaintiffs would 
have been involuntarily terminated htId this 
Court not entered a Temporary Restraining 
Order which continued their employment. 
Had the employment of the plaintiffs been 
terminated under the FPERS, younger per-
110M would have taken their place. Finally, 
the evidence discloees that the plaintiffs, 
de!pite their &gOt are fully qualified te per
form their dutiell 116 Baltimore City fU'e
rlgbtel'8. No evidenoo to the contrary hu 
boon presented. Rather, the record in this 
ct.8C clearly elItablishes that plaintiffs' per
formance of their duties hu boon more 
than aaUs!l&Ctory. 

For theae ~ns, this Court finds and 
concludes that plaintiffa have made out a 
priIM facie ca&e of age dia.':rimination un
der. the ADEA. As applied to them. the 
provisions of § 84{a) which require that 
they retire involuntarily .t age sixty violate 
the ADEA. unleaa de1'cndanta can prove 
that their acta under the Ordinance are not 
unlawful plttluant to § 628(f)(1). 

SociJon. Men to all pIalnutr. except PtlrUr. 
whOle claim wUI be diICIWCd bereIrIatt«. Tbe 
term "flreflahtert" aa used bereID. Includel 
~ vehicle driven and pump O(lCI'atort. 
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(b) Defendants' burden mind when it enacted the ADEA. Congress 
[t] Once a plaintiff has made out a pri- went so far as to express~y inco~~te !nto 

lmI fAcie ca.se of age discrimination under the statutory language Itself Ita fmdin~ 
the ADEA the burden shifts to the employ- that older workers find themselves disad
er to eatablish a BFOQ defel1Jle. Arritt v. vantage<! in their efforts to retain employ
Grisell Ilupra' Houghton v. McDonnell ment, that the setting of arbitrary age lim
Dougl~ Corpdration 55S F.2d 561 564 (8th ita regardJes.~ of potential for job perform
Cir.), cert. denied,4S4 U.S. 966, 98 S.Ot. 506, anee has become a common practice, and 
54 L.Ed.2d 451 (1977),' In Arritt, the that the employment problems of older 
Fourth Circuit rejected the standard adopt- workers are grave. § 621(a}. Congress 
eel by too Seventh Circuit in Hodgson v. further expressly stated that the purpose of 
Greyhound Lines Inc. 499 F.2d 859 (7th the ADEA is to promote the emplii1rment of 
Cir. 1974), cert. denied, 41l! u.s. 1122, 95 older persons based on their ability rather 
S.Ot. 805 42 L.Ed.2d 822 (1975},.for measur- than their age, to prohibit arbitrary age 
ing the burden lI!I8umed by the employer diacrimination in employment and to lI!I8ist 
when a prima facie case of age diacrimina- employers and workers in finding ways to 
tion has been made out. Rather, the meet problems arising from the impact of 
Fourth Circuit adopted the two-pronged age on employment. § 621(b). 
test formulated in Usery v. Tamiami Trail Recent opinions discussing the BFOQ de
Tours, Inc., 681 F.2d 224, 2116 (5th Cir. 1976). fense aaaerted by an employer under 
ThuB, in this case, the defendants have the § 628(f){1) indicate that the burden imposed 
burden to ahow (1) that the BFOQ which it on a defendant of establishing this affirms
invokes is "reaaonably neceasary to the ell- tive defense is a Bubstantial one. In 
aence of ita business" of operating an effi- Houghton v. McDonnell Douglas Corpora
clent fire department within the City of tion, supra, the Eighth Circuit revel'8ed the 
Baltimore, and (2) that defendants have finding of the District Court that the em
"reaaonable cause, i. e., a faci:Jal basis for ployer of a test pilot had proll"rly terminat
believing that all or 8ubstantially all per- ed his employment at age fifty-two, be
sona within the elll!l8 • • • would be unable cause age WIUI a BFOQ for teat pilots. Cit
to perform safely and efficiently the duties ing Weeks v. Southern Bell Telephone & 
of the job involved, or that it io impoMible Te/egraph Co., 4tl8 F.2d 228, 285 (5th Cir. 
or impractical to deal with persona over the 19(9), the Eighth Circuit concluded that to 
age limit on an individualized basis." 567 uphold the District Court's finding that de
F.2d at 1271. In this case, the ela.ss in- fendant had met ita burden in that case 
volved includes all Baltimore City firefight- would allow too BFOQ exception to swal
era, other than officers, who are sixty but low the rule. 55S F.2d at 564. In EEOC v. 
LOt yet aixty-five years of age. Defendants City of St. Paul, 500 F.Supp. 1185, 114.6 
here must prove that there is a factual beais (D.Minn.198O), the Court, in concluding that 
for believing that all or substantially all age was not a BFOQ for fire chiefs of the 
Baltimore City firefighters hetween sixty City of St. Paul, noted that Congtell8 "ap
and sixty-five are unable to perform their parently intended that the bona fide ()()Cu
duties safely and effICiently, or that Balti- p.Uiona\ qualifie&tion be very narrowly con
more City firefjehters between thoee ages Itl.ued, and thus applicable in very few 
may not pcs1~ or practieally be dealt cases. See 29 C.F.R. § 860.102 (1980)." In 
with on an individuallzed basis. Sexton v. Beatrice Foods Co., 630 F.2d 478, 

In conmdering whether defendants have 686 (7th Cir. 1980), the Seventh Circuit, in 
in thia cue met their burden of establishing· considering § 62S(f}(2), obeerved that exeep
a BJPOQ defense, this Court must be guided tiona of this sort to a remedial mtatute are 
),y the objectivCII which Congress had in to be narrowly and strictly eolUltrued. 

-
L JD the Houabtoo cue, the Elt!bth Clra1It con

dIIded that the etnployUs ac:lmlJalon that the 
plaintiff's rem~l Will IOJely OIl the bula of 
hla age pr'eIfti\ted a per ft! vfobtl~ of § W(a). 
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(c) Discu81Iion 

On the record here, this Court finds and 
concludes that defendants have not met 
their burden of pro\ring under § 628(f)(1} 
that ~ constitutes a BFOQ for the re
quirement of § 84(a) that the plaintiffs 
retire at age sixty. Defendants have not 
convinced this Court that the retirement of 
City firefighters at that age is reasonably 
necessary for the operation of an efficient 
i\re department within the City of Balti
more. Furthermore, defendants have not 
shown, on this record, that there is a fllCtual 
basis for them to believe that all or subotan
tially all Baltimore City firefighters be
tween the ages of sixty and sixty-five, oth
er than officers, would be unable to per
form their duties wely and efficiently. Fi
nally, defendants have not proved tiL'it it is 
impossible or imprllCtical to deal with fU'e
fighters between sixty and sixty-five on an 
individualized basis. 

In attempting to meet their burden, de
fendants (\l'8t emphasize the arduous na
ture of firefJghting duties and the phynical 
demands of the job. They point out that 
the duties of i\refighters include periods of 
relative inactivity followed by thooe of in
tense phynical a.ct.ivity. During a fire, 
plaintiffs and other firefighters are expooed 
to intenae beat (or in winter, extreme cold), 
must work in IImoke-ruled environments in 
the presance of toxic 8ubotances and must 
perform their duties under great stress. 

In the absence of other evidence in the 
record, these facts might have significance. 
However, wben the record as a whole is 
considered, this Court is satisfied that de
fendants have not met their burden of prov
ing that aU or lIubetantially all employees of 
the Baltimore City Fire Department cannot 
wely and efficiently perform their de
manding duti~ between the ages of sixty 
and sixty-five.$-

Insofar as five of the plaintiffs are con

ability to perform their duties adequately 
at ages sixty through sixty-four inclusive. 
Plaintiffs are not here challenging the right 
of the defendants to require their mandato
ry retirement at age sixty-five. That is the 
age when officers of the Fire Department 
must retire, and plaintiffs are not contend
ing that they have the right under the 
ADEA to work as firefighters beyond that 
age.' For these reasons, nothing in this 
Opinion should be construed as deciding 
whether the City of Baltimore has the right 
to require the mandatory retirement of Fire 
Department employees at age sixty-five. 

The starting point in evaluating the job 
performance of Baltimore City firefighters 
after age sixty is the manner in which the 
plaintiffs themselves have performed since 
they attained that age. The evidence is 
overwhelming that plaintiffs have not only 
performed satisfactorily since they became 
sixty, but in most instances their perform
ance has been more than satisfactory and 
even exceptional. Plaintiff JohnllOn is six
ty-two years of age, plaintiffs Stern and 
Doyle are sixty-one and plaintiffs Paris and 
Robey are sixty. The evidence pre!lCnted 
indicates that all five of these plaintiffs are 
today as qualified !\II younger employees of 
the Department to perform their duties as 
f\refighters. Indeed, defendants have not 
lIOught to introduce any evidence to indicate 
that anyone of the plaintiffs cannot carry 
out his assigned duties becauae of phynical 
or other reasons. One Fire Department 
Captain testified that advancing age bad 
not adversely affected plaintiff Stern's per
formance, and another Captain characteriz
ed Stem as being an "exceptional" fU'e
fighter today. Stern was rated as "out
standing" in his 1979-1980 performance 
ellaluation report. Other evidence indi
C$ted that other plaintiffs were "good", "ef
fective" or "very efficient" in th'e perform
ance of their f\refighting duties. 

oemed. this cue involves their performance The testimony of firefighter Grove (who 
for a period of only five years, namely their is not a plaintiff) supports that of the plain-

.. 1ndeed, plaintlfta' evidence Indlcates tluIt off!
c.s reauWiY perlorm at fires the same duties 
as ftretJghlenl of lesser rank and. convenely, 
that fIno.>!I$hlenl IIJldesUke clfia!TI' duties in 

the ablleDce of the latter. Euenu.ny. pbintlffs 
are _Icing in thls cue the same mandatory 
retirement age that the CitY applies to otfIcers 
01 the Fire Department. 
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tiffs and of the Fire Department officers 
who evaluated plaintiffs' performances. 
Grove is trixty-nine years of age and wiIl 
have been with the Department for thirty
nine years when he retires in August of 
1981 at age 70." In a tbree-aIann fire that 
oocurred in January 1981, Grove performed 
arduous firefighting duties over a period of 
four hours without difficulty. His testimo
ny and that of the plllintiffs themselves 
supports this Court's findings on this record 
(1) that plaintiffs have performed their 
iU'e!ighting duties satisfactorily since they 
became sixty, and (2) that they may be 
expected to c.>ntinue to so perform until 
they reach the age of aixt:y-five.l' 

Defel'n,anta' argument that BubetantiaIly 
all Baltimore City firbf:g-hters would be un
able at age sixty to perform their duties 
wely and efficiently is undercut by the 
fad that historical1y Baltimore f!remen 
have always worked past that age and even 
up to age seventy. As diseUl!lled herein
above, the ERS, established in 19'..l5, did not 
require retirement until the age of seventy. 
Even when the FPERS became effective in 
1962, many f"tref"lghters, like the witness 
Grove, cl-..ose to remain covered by the earli
er system and, like Grove, have continued to 
perform their dllties satisfactorily after 
they reached the age of sixty. This contin
ued employment of f"trefighters beyond the 
age of sixty bas in no way affected the high 
caliber of the services performed by the 
Baltimore City Fire Department. As Chief 
O'Connor testified, the Baltimore City Fire 
Department, prior to 1962, was rated as one 
of the best in the country, and it continues 
to be 80 rated. It is difficult to understand 
now such a rating could have been achieved 
if all or substantially all of the Depart
ment's f"trefighters over the age of sixty 

II. Grove cbole.,to remain a member of the ERS 
and Is theref~ not required to retire under 
City law until he becomes seventy years of age. 

II. pla!ntlff Robey wa. actively enpged In 
l!ehtina a major fire between 12:00 mldnlghl 
a:Id 7:00 A.M. OD AprIl 24. 1981. wbkh wu 
GIlly three c;\aya before thU cue came on for 
IDa1. 

U. At the pre.ent time, tba'e ~ el&bt City 
llreftabten who ~ between the aget of Jlxty 

cannot now and could not for marlY years in 
the past perform their duties 'wely and 
efficientIy.u 

The further question raisel'l is why an 
effort was not made at an ~lI"lier date to 
fIx a retirement age of sixty, if the ruk to 
the public was as great as defendants now 
contend. If anything, the burdens under
taken by an older firefighter are lellS today 
than they were in prior years. :{n 1958, 
f"lrefighters worked a 66-hour wook. hut 
this has been reduced over the years to the 
present 48-hour week. Moreover, techno
logical improvements over the years, includ
ing in partiCUlar the widespread use of oxy
gen breathing apparatus,U have made the 
job le.ss onerous for both older and younger 
members of the Department. 

Defendants' selection of the arbitrary age 
of sixty for the mandatory retirement of 
Baltimore firefighters is particularly SUB

pect in view of what other municipal flre 
departments have done. A IIUrvey of the 
mandatory retirement ages of f"1re depart
ment personnel in thirty of the largest 
cities in the United States indicates that 
only four cities have a mandatory retire
ment age of sixty. Twenty-two cities have 
a retirement age of sixty-flve or older or 
have no mandatory retirement age at all 
for f"!refighter&. 14 Nothing in the l't'«Ird 
indicates that Baltimore Fire Department 
personnel perform duties any more arduous 
than those undertaken in other cities. To 
accept defendants' contention that subetan
thIllyall f"!refighters above age sixty cannot 
wely and effectively perform their duties 
would indicate that a large number of f"!re 
departments aCfOIIlI the country are inade
quately or improperly manned. 

joo seventy, and aIxty·five wbo ~ between 
the ages of flfty·five and flfty.nine. 

ISo Thls apparatus II dealjpled to protect fire.. 
tighten from smoke. carbon monoxide and oth· 
er harmful iUelI at the scene of a fire. 

14. Three cities require retlnlment at aae abrty. 
three or ylxty·f(lur. BaltImore wu the only 
city with a fIfty.five year old nlIirement aae for 
ftrefighrers. 
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Defendants rely very heavily in this case 
on the medical evidence they have produc
ed. Defendants argue that disease 
proce58eS in persons aged fifty-five or older 
preclude the safe and efficient performance 
of their duties by fU'efighters over that age 
and that these medical conditions cannot be 
ascertained by means other than knowledge 
of the individual's age. It is asserted that 
the mandatory requirement of City law 
that fJroflghters retire at age fifty-five or 
sixty is based on sound physiological and 
medical data I1nd is the moot reliable way to 
remove firefighters with coronary disease 
from the Fire Department. Defendants 
contend that the expert testimony present
ed by them proves that it is impossible or 
highly impractical to deal with the retire
ment of Baltimore City fJroflghters over 
sixty on an individualized basis. 

On the record bere, this Court finds and 
concludes that defendants have not met 
their burden of proving that it is impossible 
or highly impractical to deal with the 
retirement of Baltimore City firefighters 
between the ages of sixty and sixty-five on 
an individualized basis. As to this issue, the 
expert testimony presented by plaintiffs 
was much more convincing than that of 
defendants. In particular, this Court found 
Dr. Samuel M. Fox, III to be a moot impres
sive witness, and his testimony will be cred
ited in substantial part. Dr. Fox is an 
experienced cardiologist who specializes in 
exercise testing." He testified that the 
chronological age of an individual must of 
COUl'l!e be considered but that it is not deter
minative of that individual's ability to per
form duties such as those required of a 
f'U'ef'Jgbter. Rather, exercise tolerance 

15. Dr. Fox Is a Professor of Medicine at 
Geo11letDWn University School of MedIcine, 
wu fonnerly a member of the Pruldent'. 
CoundI on Phvak!t Fitness and Sports and I. a 
put PresIdent orlhe American CoUege or Car· 
dIoIogy. These are only a few or his many 
llCCOIlIp!lshments. 

.t. Dr. Davis Is particularly weD quaUfled to 
ttlStMY c:oncernln& the duties requlred of a fire. 
ftaIItm. He hu been an aelive membet of the 
~ ParIt (MIl.) FIre DepArtment IInce 
UMI6. 

tests, supplemented by other tests and pro
cedures if necessary, should be and can be 
ulled to determine whether a firefighter is 
physically and medically fit to perform his 
duties. Because of technological improve
ments in recent years, physicians can today 
much more readily test for cardiological 
problems which a fireman or other similar 
worker might have. 

The testimony of Dr. Fox is supported by 
that of both Dr. PaulO. Davis II and Dr. 
Elhlworth R. Buskirk,l7 Neither of these 
witnest\C8 is a physician, but both have ex
tensive experience in exercise physiology. 
This Court accepts their testimony that age 
should not be the determining factor in 
ascertaining whether an individual between 
sixty and sixty-five is capable of perform
ing physical tasks such as those required of 
a fJrofighter.u These witnesses conceded 
that increasing age uDqueetionably has an 
effect on physical performance and that 
aerobic capacity decreaaee with age.ItBut 
decreasing pt1ysical ability is offeet by the 
experience and knowledge which. an older 
employee has gained over the years. An 
older, more experienced (U'ef'lghter is better 
equipped to pace himeelf and is more know
ledgeable concerning unnecessary risks than 
the younger. Indeed, the evidence in this 
C8IIe indicates that younger f'U'ef'Jgbters re
ceive more physical injuries than do older 
ones, apparently because younger f'Jrofigbt
era aaaume more unneoeaaary risks. 

Plaintiffs' expert witnC88C8 also readily 
concede that fU'ef'lghters as a c1aaa are par
ticularly subject to heart diaeaee and that 
the ri!k of heart disease inCl'e&llCG with age. 
But facls such lUI these do not under the 
ADEA permit defendants to stereotype 

.7. Dr. BuaIdrk Is a Proteuor of AppIlod PbysI. 
oIl1I!Y at The Pennsylvania State UnlveraIty. 

III. It was Dr. Davis' opinion that It Is both 
possible and prac:tJcal to detennIne plaintiffs' 
capacity and ability to c:outInue to perform 
their jobs ..rely and eMdently by ~ or 
medk:aI examinatlOlll, periodic rev\ewa of cur· 
rent job performance IlDd other objectM testa. 

.t. After aae seventy, deteriontioo In pbymc:al 
pertonnsnce iA more rapid. TblI fact b.u little 
Iisnlficance In this ease. 
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City fIrefighters between the ages of sixty test). As Dr. Fox testified. this is not I1n 
and sixty-five /I.I1d conclude that all or 8Ub- expensive test, and more expensive and 
atantWly all of them are no longer capable more invtlllive testing meehnnislnB need be 
of performing their MIIigned duties lIIIfely employed only in those instances where it is 
and elf"lCientiy. A1l the Court llllid in Aaron indicated that follow-up testing is re
v. Davia, 414 F .supp. 458 (E.D.Ark.1976), at quired." 
pjIge 461: The expert testimony relied upon by the 

Genera1ly, it is the relative eMe with defendants WaD less convincing than that of 
which poosibly incapacitating defects are the plaintiffe. Neither Dr. Albert M. Ant
detectable that determines whether the lit! nor Dr. Earl W. Ferguaon baa the expe
qualifications imposed by the employer rieooe that Dr. Fox baa bad in both cardiol. 
are job-related 01' "reasonably necessary ogy and exen:lIle tolerance testing. In his 
to the nonna! operation of the p&rtieular teltimony Dr, AnUlt! indicated that he 
business," as provided in the Act. In this hilIllleif ~ examined a sixty-three year old 
area, a claim for exemption from the officer of the Fire Department to deter
statute's pl"06Cl'iptions will not be permit- mine whether that individual should be 
ted on the basis of the employer's stereo- retired. Following his exaDiination of six. 
t,yping assumption that moet, or even ty-tbree year old Fire Lieutenant Anthony 
many, employees in a particular type of V. Herr in ma. Dr. Antlit! conclUded that 
job become physically unable to perform the caroiac status of this Fire Depp.rtment 
the duties of that job after reaching a officer, who had stopped working because 
certain age. See Weeks v. Southern Bell ot hypertelllJion, would permit him to en. 
Telephone & Telegrapb Co., 408 F.2d 228 gage in his usual work as an officer with 11 

(5th Cir. 1969). (Empbasis added) truck company. However, at the trial, Dr. 
The ADEA recognizea that stereotyping Antlit! testified that since 1978 be bad 

IUIlIllmptions of an employer are not aecept- learned what lieutenants now do in fl!'e. 
able unleaa it is impoosible or highly imprac- companies and that today he would not let 
tical to deal with members of a given class Lt. Herr go h.ck to fighting rlI'CS at age 
on an individutJized huis. As the testimo- aixty-three. Thus, defendants' own evi
ny of plaintiffs' experts indicate, it is both dence indicates that Fire Department per
poesible and practical to determine whether IOnnel with cardiae problelns can be evalu
an individual firellghter between the ages ated on an individualized basis and retired 
of aixty and sixty·five is physically disabled if DeCelIMIj'. Otfler evidence in the record 
from performing his l188igned duties. In .bows that examinations of the IOrt deooritl
moet eases, the coat of such testing is not ed by Dr. Antlit! (and te::lting, if neoesaary) 
great, and IlOme of 1hia CQ8t will be paid could be BUttelltlfully perfonned for plain
under the Fire Department Health Care tiffs and other rtre!'lghters between aixty 
Program. Conventlonal riak facton CUI and Ib:ty-five yean of age. 
first be determined by way of interviews, Dr. Alexander R. Lind, a physiologist 
and, in many iustancea where recognized ea1led to testify by defendants, hued biB 
risk facton are abIIent, further testing conclWlion that suhltantially alI fu-eilghters 
would not IAI required. 'Where indicated by over. rlfty-five could not properly perform 
the pl'ellCD'le of 0tl or more risk factor'll, a t.beiT duties in large p.rt on his study of 
t'tre!'ighter sixty fu.ra of age or older can minen in South Mriea.11 Such individuals 
take an exercise tolerance test (aleo re- hardly composed an appropriate cWa for 
femld to in testimony as /1.11 exercille.treaa compariaon with Baltimore City (might-

.. Tbeee more ~ and more Invulve 
fIlIIow-up testa Illchide radIonucilde ImasJna 
u.s 1;aI'dI.ac catheterization. 

21. Dr. Lind tettH'kld In HOUIhton v. Mc.DoaneU 
DaqJlu CoIparatioD, IUpnI. III ~ the 

DIatrlct Court', rooclUlion Ulat c!efa)dant bad 
met Its burden In that cue, the EIahth CIrcuIt 
charroc:/.erIzc the Company'. evidence u being 
"of • poenI nature." 



------~ ----~-~ 

56 

1300 515 FEDERAL SUPPLEMENT 

era, since all of the miners studied were 
black and worked full eight-hour shifts in 
mines where it was very humid and where 
the temperature ranged from 85· to 100·. 

What the ADEA requires in /I, case in
volving municipal workers like firefighters 
is a balancing of the right of each individu
al employee to continue to work in spite of 
his age against the risk to the public and to 
other employees created by the nature of 
the duties to be performed. As the Court 
said in Aaron v. Davis, supra, at 461: 

It is apparent that the quantum of the 
showing required of the employer is in
versely proportional to the degree and 
unavoidability of the risk to the public or 
fellow employees inherent in the require
ments and duties of the particular job. 
Stated another way, where the degree of 
IlUch risks is high and methods of avoid
ing same (alternative to the method of a 
mand"tory retirement age) are inade
quate or unsure, then the more arbitrary 
may be the fixing of the mandatory 
retirement age. 

In support of its conclusions in this case, 
this Court would cite and rely on both Aar
on v. Davis, supra and EEOC v. City of St. 
Paul, /Jupra. Both of thoae cases dealt with 
the rights of firefighters under the ADEA. 
In Aaron, an ordinance of the City of Little 
Rock required that all members of the fire 
department retire at age sixty-two. Fol
lowing a trial, Chief Judge Eisele concluded 
that the record did not support the special 
relevance of the age sixty-two mandatory 
retirement requirement of the Little Rock 
ordiuance. Accordingly, the Court held 
that the provisions of the ordinance in ques
tion were arbitmry, capricious and wholly 
lacking in any justifiable businet18 neoesaity. 
414 F .supp. at 468. 

In ~ty of St. Paul, supra, a Minnesota 
statute- and an ordinance of the City of St. 
Paul had established a mandatory retire
ment age of sixty-five for all uniformed 
£11'e department employees. Following a 
trial, District Judge A1aop held that provi
Iiona of this legilllation requiring Fire 
Chiefs to retire at age aixty-five violated 
the ADEA. Noting that the only Chief 

over age sixty-four about whom testimony 
had been presented could adequately per
form his duties, the Court found that the 
evidence in the case did not give the City of 
St. Paul a factual basis for believing that 
substantially all Chiefs were unable to per
form their duties safely and efficiently af
ter the age of sixty-four. 500 F.Supp. at 
1145. 

In City of St. Paul, the Court upheld the 
challenged legislation insofar as it required 
the retirement of firefighters and captains 
at age sixty-five. 500 F.Supp. at 1144. De
fendants argue that this part of the deci
sion supports their contention that age is a 
BFOQ for firefighters. This Court would 
disagree. There is no inconsistency be
tween this Court's decision that defendants 
have not on the record here met their bur
den of proving that retirement at age sixty 
is a BFOQ for firefighters and Judge Al
sop's conclusion that the defendants in City 
of St. Paul had met their burden concerning 
such compulsory retirement at age sixty
five. Certainly as an employee's age in
creases, there is a decrease in the quantum 
of proof necessary for an employer to meet 
its burden of proving a BFOQ under 
§ 62S(f)(1). Aaron v. Davis, supra at 461. 
Plaintiffs have not in this case (as did the 
plaintiffs in City of St. Paul) sought to 
work beyond age sixty-five. Nothing con
tained herein is intended to suggest that 
Baltimore firefighters could not be required 
by the City to retire at age sixty-five, since 
that question is not before the Court in this 
ease. The issue here hns been whether de
fendants have met their burden of proving 
that retirement at age sixty is a BFOQ for 
City firefighters. This Court finds that 
they have not. 

In IlUm, the Baltimore City law in ques
tion, 118 applied to these plaintiffs and oth
era like them, violates the ADEA because it 
seta an arbitrary age limit for terminating 
the plaintiffs' employment. As they have 
done all their lives, plaintiffs keenly wish to 
continue to work IS £lI'e£Jgbters until they 
are sixty-five. Section 84(a) does not per
mit plaintiffs' performance to he meuured 
in terms of their ability. Rather, an ubi· 
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trary line has been dMlwn based on stereo.. !!ert that since Porter will not have to retire 
typed aooumptions. Plaintiffs have been until the year roos, his claim is too specula. 
told that solely because of their age, their tive to be considered by this Collrt at this 
!!ervices are no longer required. In this time. Relying on Eccles v. Peoples Bank, 
caoe, defendants have failed to meet their 883 U.S. 426, 68 S.Ct. 641, 92 L.Zd.2d 784 
burden of proving thal, when a firefighter (1948), defendants argue that there are 
becomes sixty, age is an occuoational quali· many contingent events which might occur 
fication reasonably neceasary to the noma] before plaintiff Porter is required to retire, 
operation of the Baltimore City Fire De· and that the occurrence of anyone of these 
partment. The provisions of § 84(a)(2) and events would render moot any decision 
(4) of Article 22 of the Baltimore City Code, made by this Court Ill! to him. 
as applied to plaintiffs and others like them, 
therefore violate the ADEA. 

VII 

The claim of plaintiff Porter 

Plaintiff Porter is the only one of the six 
plaintiffs in this case who was not employed 
by the Fire Department on July 1, 1962-
Under § 84(a)(2), he must therefore retire 
at age ilfty·five. Defendants contend that 
since plaintiff Porter is presently thirty·two 
years of age, he is not a proper plaintiff in 
this suit. 

Defendants argue that plaintiff Porter is 
not one of those persons protected by the 
ADEA, since the prohibitions of the Act are 
limited "to individuals who are at least for· 
ty years of age but less than seventy years 
of age."u 29 U.S.C. § 631. However, 
when read together with the rest of the 
lItatute, this provision does no more than 
define the acts prohibited by the statute 
and would not deprive plaintiff Porter of 
standing in this case. If Porter survives 
and is still employed· by the Fire Depart. 
ment when he attains the age of f"dty-five, 
he will clearly be protected by the Act. 
More importantly, since this Court has 
found that the provisions of § 84(a) which 
mandate retirement of a City firefighter at 
age sixty violateth\ ADEA, a fortiori the 

• provisions of the ~lation which mandate 
that plaintiff Porter must retire at age 
f"dty-five are likewise invalid. 

The tlIII!IIllltial question which must be ad· 
dreeaed in determining whether plaintiff 
Porter bas !/tanding is whether his claim is 
DOW ripe for adjudication. Defendants as-

22. The Ul18 amendmenu to the Act Increased 
the top age Umlt from slxty-flve to lleventy. 

[10, 11] When the legislation in question 
is considered flrom a pMlCtical point of view, 
this Court concludes that abstract concepts 
of justiciability should be disregarded. This 
Buit challenges provisions of § 84(a) of Arti· 
cle 22 of the Baltimore City Code. Two 
groupe of employees /I,re Ilffected by the 
legislation, those who joined the Fire De
partment prior to July 1, 1962 and those 
who, like plaintiff Porter, began their em· 
ployment Ilfter that date. The provisions 
of the law applying to the!!e two separate 
groupe are hardly seveMlble. Quite obvi
ously, if the ADEA invalidates provisions of 
the City Code which require mandatory 
retirement of a firefighter at age sixty, 
that Act likewise invalidates similar provi
sions mandating retirement at age fifty. 
five. The principle of statutory severability 
plays a special role when a court.is pre.1Ient
ed with questions of ripenestl. See Wright, 
Miller &. Cooper, Federal Practice and Pr0-
cedure, § S582 at 258 (1975). InsevCMlbility, 
therefore, may make ripe issues that other
wise would be better deferred. 1d. at 259; 
IN!e Carter v. Carter Coal ComJllll\Y, 298 
U.S. 238, 56 S.Ct. 855, SO L.Ed. 1160 (1936). 
As the Court of Appeals of Maryland said 
in Heubeck v. Mayor and City Council of 
Baltimgre. 005 Md. ma, 211, 107 A.2d 99 
(1954), 'an Act must fall entirely if the ef· 
feet of declaring a portion of it invalid 
would render the remainder incapable of 
effecting the purpoee for whieh the Act was 
enacted. 

Under the particular circumstances of 
this case, considerations of judicial economy 
lead this Court to the concluaion that plain-
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tiff Porter's claim is ripe for determination 
at this time. It would make little sense, in 
view of the findings and conclusions made 
herein, to defer consideration of Porter's 
claim until a later date. Accordingly, plain
tiff Porter is entitled to a declaratory judg
ment and injunction prohibiting defendants 
from enforcing provisions of § S4(a) which 
mandate that he must retire at age fifty
five. 

VIII 
Plaintiffs' other claims 

In view of this Court's conclusion that 
§ S4{aX2) and (4) of Article 22 of the Balti
more City Code violates provisions of the 
ADEA, it is not necessary to detennine 
whether this City law likewise contravenes 
42 U.S.C. § 19R5 and the Fourteenth 
Amendment. fiowever,:~ !Ihould be noted 
that the Fourth Circuit's dec~lIion in Arritt 
v. Grisell, supra, makes it "ery doubtful 
that plaintiffs would prevail illsofar as their 
a1tel-native claims are concerned. 

[12] In the second part of the Anitt 
opinion (567 F.2d 1271-1272), the Fourth 
Circuit upheld the District Court's granting 
of summary judgment in favor of the de
fendants !III to plaintiff'a claim that the 
West Virginia statute violated § 1988 by 
denying the plaintiffs right to the equal 
protection of the laws. Relying on Massa
cbusett.9 Bean:' of Retirement v. Murgia, 
427 U.S. 807, 96 S.Ct. 2562, 49 L.Ed.2d 520 
(1976), . the Fourth Circuit concluded that it 
could not be asid that the age limitation 
contained in the Wellt Virginia statute did 
not rationally furthl'.r 1\ legitimate .tate 
purpoee insofar &II the claim based on the 
equal protection clause, as distinguished 
from the statutory claim under the ADEA, 
was concerned. As Judge Thomsen pointed 
out, there~ no inconsistent'Y in concluding 
that a sta!ate violates the ADEA but doetl 
not violate the Equal Protection Clause of 
the Fourteenth Amendment, since legislll
tion "authorized by § 5 of the Fourteenth 
Amendment can prohibit pl'lciicea which 
would paIIII mUBter under the Equal Protec
tion Clause, absent an act of Congre)8." 
567 F.2d at l272. 

In any event, in this case, it is not neces
eary to consider in dl:;tail the arguments 
preoonted by the plaintiffs in seeking to 
distinguish this case from Arritt and Mur
gia. Plaintiffs are entitled to the relief 
they seek under the ADEA, and there is 
therefore no need for this Court to go on 
and undertake to analyze the evidence in 
tenns of plaintiffs' claims asserted under 
§ 1988 and the Fourteenth Amendment. 

IX 
Conclusion 

For the reasons stated, plaintiffs are enti
tled to the relief they seek. Plaintiff John
lIOn is entitled to a judgment in the amount 
of $1,000.00, representing back pay due him 
from May 1 to June 11, 1979. All plaintiffs 
are entitled to a declaratory judgment, a 
permanent injunction and costs. In addi
tion, plaintiffa are entitled to attorneys' 
fees in Ian amount to be detennined by the 
Court at a later date. CoullllCl should meet 
and undertake to agree on the fonn of an 
Order to be entered herein. 

SIDARMA SOCIETA ITALIANA DI 
ARMAMENTO SPA, VENICE 

v. 
HOLT MARINE INDUSTRIES, INC., Holt 

MarIne System Companlea, Watenide 
Ocean NavlptioD of Pemuylvanla, 
Thomu Holt, Holt H.aulInr and Ware
hoUlina SYltema, Ine., Holt Marine Ter
minal, InC., B. H. Sobelman, Inc. and 
Holt ~ SystellUl. 

No. 75 elv. IWj5 (RJW). 

United States District Court, 
S. D. New York. 

June 9, lJ)81. 

Plaintiff moved pursuant to Arbitra
tion Act to vacate arbitntion award, and 
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Missouri statutes. Although the Court 
may have the power to decide these state 
clalms under its pendent jurisdiction, see 
United Mine Workers v. Gibbs, 883 U.S. 
715, 86 S.Ct. 1180, 16 L.Ed.2d 218 (1965), 
the exercise of its pendent jurisdiction is 
within the discretion of the Court. Id., at 
726, 86 S.Ct, at 1139; Mayor 0/ Philadel· 
phia v. Educational Equality League, 415 
U.S. 605, 627, 94 S.Ct. 1323, 1836, 89 
L.Ed.2d 630 (1974). The Court in Gibbs, 
383 U.S. at 726, 86 S.Ct. at 1139, indicated 
that "if the federal claims are dismissed 
before trial, even though not insubstantial 
in a jurisdictional sense, the State claims 
should be dismissed as well." Given the 
fact that the federal claims have been dis· 
missed, this Court will also dismiss the 
state claims. 

Accordingly, 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that defend· 
8llts' motion to dismiss be and is GRANT· 
ED. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that plain· 
tiff'1l complaint be and is dismissed without 
prejudice. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that plain. 
tiffs motion to compel state public safety 
director to revoke illegally obtained non· 
elected peace officer certification issued de
fendant, motion to compel election board 
officials to strike defendant's name off No
vember 6, 1984, general election ballot as 
unlawful, invalid and disqualified candidate 
for Sheriff, and motion for summary judg· 
ment be and are DENIED as moot. 

Suzanne M. HAHN. Patricia J. Koch. 
IIfary Catherine O'Sullivan, Diane M. 
Smith, Sandra C. Walker, Linda D. 
Craig, Josephine M. Hodge, Rhlrley E. 
Bowers, Plalntiffs, 

and 

Equal Employment Opportunity Com· 
mlasion, et aI., Plaintiffs·Intervenors, 

v. 

The CITY OF BUFFALO, a Municipal 
Corporation; James B. Cunningham, In 
hili capacity 8.8 Pollee Commlll8loner, 
City of Buffalo Police D!!partment; An· 
thony J. Colluccl, Paschal C. Rubino, 
and Michael L. Broderick, In their ca· 
pacltles 8.8 Commlll8loners, City of Buf· 
falo Civil Service; and The New York 
State Dept. of Civil Service, Defend· 
ants. 

Thom8.8 J. DOMINO, Plaintiff, 

v. 

John V. CLARK, New York State Depart. 
ment of Civil Service; Victor S. Bsbou, 
In his capacity 8.8 President of the New 
York State CIvil Service Comml8Blon 
and Head of the New York State De
partment of Civil Service; James G. 
McFarland, In hili capacity 8.8 Commis
sioner of the New York State CIvil Ser· 
vice Comml8Sion; and Josephine Gam
bino. In her capadty as Comml881oner 
of the New York Civil Service Commis· 
Blon. Defendants. 

Kenneth A. KUCZKA, Plaintiff, 

:f. 
John V. CLARK. New York Sta~ Depart. 

ment of Ch-II Service; Victor S. Bahou, 
In hla capacity as Piuldent of the New 
York State Civil Service Commiaalon 
and sa HcMul of the New York State 
Department of Civil Service; James G. 
McFarland, In hla capacity sa Conuni&
llioner of tJle New York State Civil Ser
vice ~mm1l11ion; and Josephine Gam· 
bino, In her capacity as Commi.88loner 
of the New York State Civil Service 
Commiaaion, Defendants. 
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David R. KARNEY, Plolntiff, 
v. 

John V. CLARK, New York Stute Depart. 
ment of Civil Service; Victor S. Bahou, 
as President of the New York Stute 
Civil Service Commission and 88 Head 
of the New York Stute Department of 
Civil Service; James G. McFarland, 88 

a Commissioner of the New York Stute 
Civil Service Commission; and Joseph
ine L. Gambino, 88 a Commissioner of 
the New York Stute Civil Service Com
mission, and Kenneth J. Braun, 88 

Sheritr of Erie County, Defendantll. 

NOB. CIV-80-874C, CIV-86-796C, 
CIV-86-797C and CIV-86-U84C. 

United States District Court. 
W.D. New York. 

Oct. 30, 1984. 

Unsuccessful applicant.~ for position of 
police officer filed Buit against city charg
ing age dil1crimination. The District Court. 
Curtin. Chief Judge. held that: (1) enforce
ment of New York statute providing that 
no person wh,Q is more than 29 years of age 
should be eligible for appointment as a 
police officer did not deny applicants over 
age 29 equal proteetion of the lawSj (2) 
statute violated ,';ghts to which those un
suecessful applicants over age of 40 were 
entitled under Age Discrimination in Em
ployment Act; and (3) unsuccessful appli
cants who had not I'l~ached age 40 did not 
have standing to assert claims under Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act. 

Judgment accordingly. 

1. Constitutional l..aw <1=>'238.5 
Applicable legal stamL'U'd in constitu

tional challenge to New Yl)rk State Givil 
Servi~w section providing that no per
son more ilian 29 years of age was eligible 
for appointment as a police officer was a 
more relaxed standard than the "strict 
DCrUtiny" standard that would apply if case 
involved eiilier a SWIped classification or a 
fundamental right, requiring only iliat stat· 
ute be rationally related to legitimate stute 
interest. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14; N.Y. 

McKim.ey's Civil Service Law § 58. subd. 
l(a). 

2. Constitutional Law 18=>238.6 
Municipal Corporations <8=>176(3) 

Enforcement of New York statute pro
viding that no person who is more till1n 29 
years of age shall be eligible for appoint
ment 88 a police officer did not deny ind~ 
viduals over age of 40 equal protection of 
ilie laws in view of evidence clearly show· 
ing iliat facts upon which age classification 
was apparently based could reasonably be 
conceived to be true and in light of fact 
iliat statute was reasonably related to le
gitimate goal of maintaining a safe and 
efficient police department. U.S.C.A. 
Const.Amend. 14; N.Y.McKinney's Civl1 
Service Law § 58, subd. l(a}. 

3. Stutes e=>U6 
Tenth Amendment does not bar appli· 

cation of Age Discrimination in Employ' 
ment Act to state and local governments, 
U.S.C.A. Canst.Amend. 10; Age Discrim$. 
nation in Employment Act of 1967, 
§ 4(a)(1). 88 amended. 29 U.S.C.A. 
§ 623(a)(1). 

4. Civil Rightll <8'=>9.16 
To establish bona fide oecupational 

qualification defense to charge of discrimi· 
nation on basis of age, employer mUllt 
show iliat job qualifications are reasonably 
necessary to essential operation of business 
and that iliere is a factual basis for believ· 
ing iliat all or substantially all persons 
wiiliin class proteeted by Age Discrimina· 
tion in Employment Act would be unv.ble til 
perform job effectively and safely, or that 
it is impossible or impracticable to deter' 
mine job fitness on an individualized basis. 
Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 
1967. § 4(a)(I), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 
§ 623(a)(1). 

5. Civil Rights <8'=>9.15 
An employer's desire to have the l!I06t 

cost-effective work force cannot justify age 
discrimination where age is not a bons fide 
occupational qualification. Age Discrimi
nation in Employment Act of 1967. 
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§ 4(a)(1), as 
§ 62.3(a)(1). 

amended, 29 U.S.C.A. Saperston, Day, Lustig, Gallick, Kir-

6. Civil Rights ~9.15 
New York statute providing that no 

person who is more than 29 years of age 
shall be eligible for appointmertt as a police 
officer violated rights to which applicants 
over age 40 were entitled under the Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act. Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, 
§ 4(a)(1), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A. 
§ 623(a)(1). 

7. Civil Rights <8:=>41 
Applicants for position of police officer 

who had not yet reached age of 40 did not 
have standing to assert claim under Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act that 
their rights were violated by enforcement 
of New York statute providing that no 
person who is more than 29 years of age 
shall be eligible for appointment as a police 
officer. Age Discrimination in Employ
ment Act of 1967, § 4(a)(1), a8 amended, 29 
U.S.C.A. § 623(a)(1}. 

William A. Price, Buffalo, N.Y., for plain
tiffs Hahn, Koeh, O'Sullivan, Smith, Walk
er, Craig, Hodge, Bowers and plaintiffs-in
tervenors Brozyna, Nowaldy, Tobias, Shaw, 
Elliott Williams, Willis, Richter, Aston, Ber
ry, Neiman, Bienko, Rindfleisch, Farley, 
Lema, Michel, Delano, Kerr, James, !letz, 
DeJesus, Harris, Wagstaff, Hokes, Glad
den, Jordan, McDonald, Moore, Abdallah, 
Mack, Cusella, Shea, Tutuska, Arcara, Ma· 
laney, Mullen, Jones, Minor, Feaster, 
Hutcherson, Motley, Stallworth, Richard
son, Ostrowski, Polakiewicz, Moulin, Col
lier, O'Sullivan and Witaszek. 

Cohen, Swados, Wright, Hanifin, Brad
ford & Brett, Buffalo, N.Y. (Barbnra R. 
Heck James, Buffalo,.N.Y., of counsel), for 
plaintiffs.intervenorsLuxenberg, Decker, 
Wolf, Klipfel, Davis, Emery Williams, M. 
Schmidt, B. Schmidt, Cotter, Lorenz and 
Wipperman (Cheryl S. Fisher, B~lffalo, 
N.Y., of counsel), for plaintiffs-intervenors 
Wehner and McCabe; for plaintiff Th)mino 
in CIV-80-796C; and for plaintiff Kuczka 
in CIV-80-797. 

59-730 0 - 86 - 3 

schner & Gaglione, Buffalo, N.Y. (Richard 
A. Clack, Buffalo, N.Y. of counsel), for 
plaintiffs-intervenors Hoy, Mikulski and 
Moore. 

Edward A. Pace, Buffalo, N.Y., for plain
tiffs-intervenors Clark, Cooper and Quinn. 

William R. Hites, Buffalo, N.Y., for 
plaintiff-intervenor McMahon. 

Dubin & Sommerstein, Buffalo, N.Y. (Ed
win P. Hunter, Buffalo, N.Y., of counsel), 
for plaintiffs-intervenors Giacchino and 
Shea and for plaintiff-intervenor Karney in 
CIV-8()-l184C. 

Sargent & Repka, Buffalo, N.Y. (Nicho
las J. Sargent, Buffalo, N.Y., of counsel), 
for plaintiffs-intervenors Dillon and Leone. 

Garvey, Magner & Love, Buffalo, N.Y. 
(Jeffrey L. Taylor, Buffalo, N.Y., of coun
sel), for plaintiff-intervenor Breitnauer. 

E.E.O.C., Buffalo, N.Y. (Saul Krenzel, 
New York City, of counsel), for plaintiff-in
tervenor E.E.O.C. 

Robert Abrams, Atty. Gen., State of N.Y. 
(Douglas S. Cream, Asst. N.Y. State Atty. 
Gen., Buffalo, N.Y., of counsel), for defend
ant State of N.Y. 

John Naples, Corp. Counsel, Buffalo, 
N.Y. (Peter J. Gerard, Asst. Corp. Counsel, 
Buffalo, N.Y., of counsel), for defendants 
City of Buffalo, Cunningham, Collucci, Ru
bino and Broderick. 

Eugene F. Pigott, Jr., Erie County Atty., 
Eluffalo, N.Y. (Robert E. Casey, Asst. 
(lounty Atty., Buffalo, N.Y., of counsel), 
for defendant Braun in CIV-8()-l184C and 
for defendant Clark in CIV-8()-796C, CIV-
8()-797C, and C1V-80--1184C. . 

CURTIN, Chief Judge. 

Thhl cuse involves age discrimination in 
the hiring of police officers in Buffalo, 
New York, and other municipalities in the 
Buffalo area. Section 58(lXa) of the New 
York State Civil Service Law provides that 
no person who is more than 29 years of age 
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shall be eligible for appointment as a police 
officer.! 

The plaintiffB are individuals over the 
age of 29 whose age disqunlifies them from 
employment in various police departmenta. 
Some of the plaintiffs are over 40 yelU'S 
old. These plaintiffs have standing to 
claim that section 68(l)(a) violates their 
righta under section 4(a)(1) of the Age Dis
crimination in Employment Act [ADEA], 29 
U.S.C. § 623(a)(1).2 The remaining plain
tiffs are over age 29 but less than age 40. 
The plaintiffs between the ages of 29 and 
40 claim that section 68(l)(a) denies them 
the equal protection of the laws. PlaintiffB 
under the age of 40 do not have standing to 
assert cla.ims under the ADEA, because the 
act Ilpplies only to persons between the 
ages of 40 and 70.1 The Equal Employ
ment Opportunity Commission (EEOC] has 
intervened on behalf of those plaintiffs as
Berting claims under the ADEA. 

The United States Court of Appeals for 
the Second Circuit has recently held that 
the presence of a one-house veto clnuse in 
the Reorganization Act of 1977, 5 U.S.C. 
§ 901 et seq., invalidates the authority of 
the EEOC to enforce the ADEA. Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commuurion t'. 

i. Section S8(1Xa) provides tlult: 
t. NotwUhstartdlng any other provision of 

this law or any general, special or local law to 
the contrary, no person slulll be eligible for 
provlsionai or permanent appol[ltm~nt In the 
competitive class of the civil S<'irvlcc 115 a p<>-
lice officer of the capital police force of the 
state office of general services after June first, 
nineteen hundred seventy-eIght, or as U police 
officer of any police force, or police depart· 
ment of .iny county, city, town, vlllnge, hous
Ing authority or police district unless he shull 
satisfy the following basic requirements: 

(a) be is not less than twenty nor more 
than twenty.nJne years of nge, provided, how· 
ever, that the time spent on military duty or 

CBS, Inc., 743 F.2d 969 (2d Cir.1984). To 
avoid unnecessary disruption of the mnny 
enforcement cases now pilnding, the court 
stayed ita judgment until December Sl, 
1984, so thl1t Congress could correct the 
defect in the statute, Absent such cartee· 
con, the complaint ill that case would be 
dismissed. 

The decision in EEOC v. CBS would not 
require dillmissal of the complaint in the 
present case. Here, three of the original 
plaintiffr. are over 40 years of age. The 
EEOC participated as an intervenor. This 
case is still viable without the participation 
of the EEOC, unlike EEOC v. CBS, l!1 
which the EEOC was the sole plaintiff. In 
any event, Congress has passed, Bnd the 
President h!\!l signed into law, H.n. 6225. 
which has remedied the deficiency in the 
EEOC's authority to enforce the ADEA. 

Critical to the claim under the ADEA is 
the /ssue of whether a maximum hiring age 
of less than 40 is a bona fide occupational 
qualification [BFOQ) reasonably necessary 
for the operation of municipal police de
partments. If age less than 40 is a BFOQ 
as defined in section 4(£)(1) of the ADEA, 
29 U.S.C. § 623(£)(1),4 then the continued 

2, Section 4(a)(1). 29 U.s.C. § 623(a)(I), provides 
as follows: 

(a) It shall be unlawful for an employer-
(I) to fall or refuse to hire or 10 discharge 

any Individuai or olberWise discrimbate 
against any ·Indlvldual wllh respecl 10 his 
compensation. tenns. conditions. or privllqt$ 
of employmenl. because of such IndividUAl's 
age. 

3. Although section 58(1)(a) requires tbat pro>
spective appointees be less lhan 29. only persoQ.\ 
between ages 40 and '10 are protected by the 
ADSA. 29 U.s.C. § 631(a). Therefore. (or put. 
poses of Ihe ADEA. the court musl consider the 
age limit only al age forty. Su, Aluf"/UflU V. 
American Airlines. Inc., 667 Fold 98 (/J.C.CIt. 
1981). cert. d~lllw. 4S6 U.s. 915. 102 S.Ct. 1770. 
72 L.Ed.2d 174 (1982). 

on lennlnalleave, nol exceeding It lotal of six 
~. shall be 5ubtracte<l from Ihe IIge~ of any 
iIloplicanl who hils passed his twenty·nlnth 
birthday as provided in subdivision ten-a (If 4. 
section Iwo hundred (orty.three of the mili-

Section 4(0(1) provides 11ul1: 
It shall not be unlawful for an employa', 

employment aaency. or labor ol'ganlzalioo-tary law. and provided furtber. however. thai 
prior 10 June thirtieth. nineteen )lundred !leV. 
enty·two. the maximum quallfylng age provld. 
ed hereunder shall be detennlned as of the 
dale when the applicant takes the written ex
atrtlnalion. 

(I) 10 take any action otherwl$e prohlbllCll 
under sections (a). (b). (c). or (e) of this ICC
tion where age Is a bona fide oc:cupt.IiOO» 
qualification rel:SOnOOly ne«ssnrY to the Il0l'' 
mal operation of the particular business. ot 
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enforcement of section 5S(lXa) does not required to analyze eection 58(lXa) under 
mlllte the ADEA. the "strict scrutiny" standard, a difficult 

The court has heard the trial testimony 
of experts in the fields of medicine and law 
enforcement. The court's decision is there
fore based upon a fully developed record of 
testimony and exhibits. Upon review of 
this record and the npplicable law, I con
clude that the enforcement of section 
58(lXa) does not deny plsintiffs the equal 
protection of the laws. However, I find 
that section 58(lXa) violates the rights to 
which the plaintiffs over age 40 are entitled 
under the ADEA. 

The court has granted preliminary relief 
to the eight original plaintiffs in this case. 
This relief has been extended to the more 
than 70 persons who have since intervened 
as plaintiffs. Under the terms of the or
ders granting such relief, the defendants 
have been enjoined from enforcing section 
58(lXa). Accordingly, the intervenors who 
have written the competitive examinations 
necessary to become police officers have 
been placed upon the eligibility lists from 
which officers are appointed. Some have 
been appointed and have taken jobs as po
lice officers in spite of not meeting the age 
requirement. 

In another procedural matter, the court 
has consolidated the cases of Domino v. 
Clark, CIV-B0-796C; Kuczka t'. Clark, 
CIV~80-797C; and Karney v. Clark. CIV-
80-1184C. with the present action. 

test which few statutes can pass. .Bernal 
11. Fainier, - U.S. -, 104. S.Cl. 2312, 81 
L.Ed.2d 175 (1984). However, the applica
ble leglll standard in this case is a more 
rel/lXed standard which requires only that 
the statute be rntionnlly related to a legiti
mate state interest. Massachu8ctt.<l Board 
0/ Retirement 11. Murgl'a, supra. 

[2] Courts are reluctant to overturn 
state statutes in cases where suspect clas
sifications and fundamental rights are not 
involved and where the "rntionality" test 
applies. Vancc 11. Bradley, 4.40 U.S. 98, 97, 
99 S.at. 989, 943, 59 L.Ed.2d 171 (1979). 
The evidence in the present case clearly 
shows that the facts upon which the age 
classification is apparently based could rea
sonably be conceived to be true. 1 also 
find that the statute is reasonably related 
to the legitimate goal of maintaining a safe 
and efficient police department. I must 
therefore conclude that section 5S(lXa) 
does not violate the equal protection clause. 

Section 58(1)(a) has been the subject of 
equal protection analysis in at least four 
cases decided by federal district courts. 
The statute was upheld in three of these 
cases. Sec, Tober 11. Scoficld, CIV-82-51T 
(W.D.N.Y. December 29, 1983); Sica 11. 

County 0/ Nassau, CIV-81-8497 (E.D.N.Y. 
March 9, 1982); C%n, et al. 1.'. New York, 
585 F.Supp. 1108 (S.D.N.Y.1982). Section 

The following are the court's findings of 5S(lXa) was held to be unconstitutional in 
fact and conclusions of law. McMahon 11. Barciay,510 F.Supp. 1114 

1. EQUAL PROTECTION 
(1) Section 58(lXa) concerns eligi;'i1ity 

for government employment and discrimi
nates against persons over age 29. Age 
classifications of this sort Bre not "sus
pect." and the l'1kht to governinent employ
ment has been held not to be fundamental. 
Mll88achusett.<l Board of Retirement p. 
Mur¢a, 42'7 U.S. 807, 313, 96 S.Ct. 2562, 
2566, 49 L.Ed.2d 520 (1976). If this case 
involved eithel" a suspect classification or a 
fundamental right, then the court would be 

wh= the differentialion Is based on te~son· 

(S.D.N.Y.1981), 11 case d,ecided before the 
decisions were handed down in the other 
three cases. Each of the aforementioned 
cases was decided on a motion for summa
ry judgment. The present case is the first 
in ~which an extensive record was devel
oped. 

There are Borne apparent incongruities in 
section 58(IXa) which lend surface sUpPQrt 
to the argument that it is not rutional1y 
related to the State's interest. The statute 
genernlly forbids hiring pel"8ons older than 
29, but it makes exceptions in certain cases. 

able ractors other Ibnn age. 
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One important exception is for persons 
over age 29 who have spent time in military 
service. The time spent in military service, 
not exceeding a period of six years, may be 
Bubtracted from the ages of these appli
cants. Civil Service Law § 68(1)(a). An
other exception applies to police depart
ments which experience "aggravated re
cruitment difficulties" which cause person
nel shortages. The age limitation may be 
raised temporarily to 85 under such eircum
stances. Civil Service Law § 68, subd. I-a. 

The evidence in the present case indi
cates that the number of persona appointed 
under the exception for persons in military 
service is quite small. As for the exception 
concerning departments with "aggravated 
recruitment difficulties," this is an emer
gency provision which is not at all incon
sistent with the defendnnts' contention that 
the appointment at young men and women 
is necessary for the operation of efficient 
and safe police departments. 

The law enforcement experts who testi
fied for the defendant State of New York 
al\ agreed that the age limit for appointing 
police officers should remain as it is. 
Charles F. Peterson, Deputy Commissioner 
of the Suffolk Count;y Police Department, 
testified that younger men are easier to 
train for police work. [Tr. V, 71.] William 
G. MeMahon, Deputy Commissioner of the 
New York State Division of Criminal Jus
tice Services, testified that younger appoin
tees are more highly motivated and better 
able to perform difficult assignments. [Tr. 
IV, 86.] There was also testimony to the 
effect that the average "street life" of a 
police officer was about ten years [Tr. IV, 
54], and the medical evidence uniformly 
pointed to the plain fact tnat physical capa' 
bilities tend to decline somewhat after age 
29. This evidence might suggest that the 
!lost capable and efficient police force is 
composed of officers who are hired at a 
young age and spend their best years on 
the force while in peak physical condition. 

The issue before the court on the equnl 
protection question is not whether the 
court believes that these facts and infer
ences are true. The court notes that this 

inquiry is vastly different from the IUlalysis 
required by the plaintiffs' claim under the 
ADEA. All we shall aee, the ADEA claim 
requires a far more searching scrutiny of 
the evidence. As for the equal proter.tion 
claim, the question is whether the defend· 
ants' evidence could "reasonably be con· 
ceived to be true by the governmental deci
sionmaker./1 Vance v. Bradley, 440 U.S. 
at HI, 99 S.Ct. at 949. The plaintifls' 
burden is to convince the court that these 
facts cannot reasonably be believed. This 
burden is demanding, Colon v. City 0/ New 
York, 535 F.Supp. at 1113, and the plain· 
tiffs have failed to bear it in this case. 

The facts upon which the age classifies· 
tion is npparently based are believable. 
Taken as true, they would indicaw that the 
age requirement of section 58(1)(a) is ra· 
tionally related to the goal of maintaining 
an efficient and safe police department. 
Therefore, section 68(1)(a) does not deny 
the plaintiffs the equal protection of the 
laws. Accord, Arritt v. GriseU, 567 F.2d 
1267 (4th Cir.1977) (West Virginis statute 
prollibitillg appointment of persons over 
age 35 to city police departments is consti
tutional). 

II. ADEA 

A. Constitulio11ality As Applied to 
State and Local Governnumts 

[3] Until 1974, the substantive provi
sions of the ADEA did not apply to stste 
and local governments. HQweve~, the Act 
wu then amended to bring governmentAl 
entities within its scope. 29 U.S.C. 
§ GSO(b)(2). The State of New York lid 
raised the threshold question of whether 
Congress acted constitutionally when it 
broadened the scope of the ADEA in ~ 
Cashion. The State argues that the app1ica
tion of the ADEA to stste and local gOvern
ments violates the tenth amendment, citing 
National League o{ Cities 11. Uaef'!/, 426 
U.S. 833, 96 S.Ct. 2465, 49 L.Ed.2d Wi 
(1976). This argument need not detain ~ 
long. In Equal Employment 0pp0rlIld
tv Commiuion v. Wyoming, 460 U.s. 2!6, 
lOS S.Ot. 10~, 75 L.Ed.2d 18 (1988), the 
Supreme Court held thnt the tenth amend-
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ment did not preclude the application of the 
ADEA to a Wyoming law which required 
that game wardens retire at age 55. The 
Court noted that the great majority of 
courts had upheld the 1974 amendment to 
the ADEA. Id. lOS S.Ct. at 1059 and n.6. 
Since the Court's decision in Wyoming, 
many courts have upheld the application of 
the ADEA to state and local governments 
in cases similar to the case at bar. See, 
6.g., Equal Employm~'1tt Opportunity 
Commission v. City of Altoona, Pcn1U1J/l· 
vania, 723 F.2d 4 (3d Cir.1983), cert. de· 
nied, - U.S. -, 104 S.Ct. 2386, 81 
L.Ed.2d 344 (1984), Ramirez v. Pucrto 
Rico F'ire Service, 715 F.2d 694 (1st Cir. 
1983); Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission v. Los Angeles County, 706 
F.2d 1039 (9th Cir.1983), c..~rt. denied, -
U.S. -, 104 S.Ct. 984, 79 L.Ed.2d 220 
(1984); E.E.O.C. v. County of Allegheny, 
705 F.2d 679 (3d Cir.1983); Mahoney v. 
Trabucco, 574 F.Supp. 955 (D.Mass.1983), 
I'Ct,'d on other grounds, 738 F.2d 35 (1st 
Cir.1984). Accordingly, I hold that the 
tenth amendment does not bar the applica
tion of the ADEA to state and local govern· 
ments in this case. 

B. The BFOQ Defense 

Since section 58(1){a} expressly discrimi· 
nates against prospective appointees to mu
nicipal police departments on the basis of 
age, there is no question as to whether the 
plaintiffs have stated a prima facie case 
under the ADEA. Rather, the question is 
whether the age restriction is defensible as 
a BFOQ. ItlakJ' v. Commissioner of Edu
cation of St«te of New York, 568 F.Supp. 
252,254 (N.D.N.Y.1983); EEOC v. County 
oj Los Angeles, 526 F.Supp. 1135, 1138 
(C.D.CaI.1981), afl'd, 706 F.2d 1039, cert. 
denied, - U.S. -, 104 S.Ct. 984, 79 

. L.Ed.2d 220 (1984). ,. 

[4] "The BFOQ is' an extremely narrow 
exception to the general prohibition against 
age discrimination." Air Line Pilots Asso-

5. The State GI1JUe5 that the court should apply 
the less stringent test stated in Hodgsoll v. Grey· 
hound 1.Jnes, inc .• 499 F.2d 859 (7th Cir.1974), 
em. dmid, 419 U.s. 1122. 95 S.Ct. 805. 42 
LEd.2d 822 (1975). Howcver. in Orut v. City 0/ 

ciation, International 11. Tmns World 
Airlines, 713 F.2d 940, 951 (2d Cir.198S), 
cert. granted, - U.S. -, 104 S.Ot" 1412, 
79 L.Ed.2d 739 (1984), citing Orzel v. City 
of Wauwatosa Fire Dep'~ 697 F.2d 743, 
748 (7th Cir.1983). To establish the BFOQ 
defense, the employer must meet the re
quirements set forth in Usery v. Tamiami 
Trail TouTS, 531 F.2d 224 (5th Cir.1976).5 
The employer must show 1) that the job 
qualifications are reasonably necessary to 
the essential operation of the business and 
2) that there is a factual bnais for believing 
that all or substantially all of the persons 
within the cllllls protected by the ADEA 
would be unable to perform the jot effec
tively and safely, or that it is impossible or 
impracticable to determine job fitness on an 
individualized bllllis. Id., at 235-36; EEOC 
v. County of Los Angeles, 706 F.2d at 
1042-43; Orzel v. City of Wauwatosa Fire 
Dep'~ 697 F.2d at 753; E.EW.C. v. City of 
st. Paul, 671 F.2d 1162, 1166 (8th Cir. 
1982). 

It is clear that the safety of others is 
part of the essence of police work. Many 
courts have stated that the presence of a 
safety factor reduces the level of proof 
necessary to establish a BFOQ. See, e.g., 
Orzel 11. City of Wauwatosa Fire Dep't, 
697 F.2d at 755; 'I'uohy v. Ford Motor 
Company, 675 F.2d 842, 845 (6th Cir.1982); 
E.E.O.C. 11. Santa Barbaro, 666 F.2d 373, 
377 (9th Cir.1982). However, this does not 
relieve the defendant of its burden of es" 
tablishing both elementS of the BFOQ de
fense; it only means that establishing the 
defense will normally be less difficult when 
safety is part of the essence of the defend
ant's business. 

It should also be noted that third-party 
safety is. not "essential" to all businesses in 
precisel~ the same way. In Tamiami, the 
Fifth Circuit noted that H(t)he greater the 
safety factor, menaured by the likelihood of 
harm and the probable severity of that 

Wauwalo.ut Fire Dep~. 697 F.2d 743 (1983), the 
Seventh Circuit rejected what It called lin "ex· 
pAnsivc" reading of Greyhound and viewed 
Greyhoulld as being consistent with the tc:s1 for. 
mulated by the Fifth Circuit in Taminmi. 
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harm in case of an accident, the more strin
gent may be the job qualifications." 531 
F.2d at 286, Thus, the district court in 
It.E.O.C. v. County of Los Angeles noted 
that the !larety of large numbers of per
sons is not continually dependent upon the 
"moment to moment physical vitality" of a 
police officer. 526 F.Supp. at 1141. 'l'his 
was in marked contrnst to the Tamianti 
case, which involved intercity bus drivers. 
The nature of the safety factor differs 
widely among various types of employ
ment. Aaron v. Davis, 414 F.Supp. 453, 
452 (E.D.Ark.1975). 

The first element of the BFOQ test is 
concerned with the relationship between 
the underlying job qualifications and the 
essence of the business. Here, the essence 
of the business is "the operation of an 
efficient police department for the protec
tion of the public," and the primary func
tion of a police officer is "to protect per
sons and property and to maintain law and 
order," ATritt v. GriIIell, 567 F.2d at 1271, 
1272. The first element of the BFOQ test 
does not present allY difficulty in the 
present case. This is not a case like Dial! 
v. Pan American World Airways, 442 
F.2d 385 (5th Cir.1971), cert. denied, 404 
U.S. 950, 92 S.Ct. 275, 30 L.Ed.2d 267 (sex 
discrimination in employment as flight cab
in attendants), where the essence of the job 
was disputed. The parties here are in basic 
agreement about what a police officer's 
duties are, and they agree that becoming s 
police officer requires good physical condi· 
tioning. 

The plaintiffs do not attack the basic 
police officer job qualifications. Rather, 
they contend that there is no factual basis 
for believing that all or substantially all 
persons over age 40 are unable to meet 
these job qualifications and perform the job', 
safely an~ef{ectively. They also contend 
that it is pOllsible and practicable to derer
mine job fitness on an individualized basis. 
These two contentions are the alternative 
prongs of the second element in the BFOQ 
standard. 

The court finds that the defendants have 
not snstained their burden of proving that 

all or substantially all persons over age 40 
could not perform the duties of a police 
officer safely and effectively. Several wit
nesses experienced in law enforcement tes
tified for the State. All of them belieVed 
that the present age limit should be re
tained. However. none of these witnesses 
stated that all or nearly all persons over 
age 40 could not perform the duties of a 
police officer. 

William G. McMahon, Deputy Commis· 
sioner of the New York State Division of 
Criminal Justice Services, acknowledged 
that there are officers in their forties and 
fifties who can outperform patrolmen who 
are in their twenties and thirties [Tr. IV, 
pp. 54-55], Charles F. Peterson, Deputy 
Police Commissioner of the Suffolk County 
Police Department, stated that, although 
the body declines after age 40, he does not 
believe thst there are physical traits pos
sessed by the class of persons over 40 
which preclude this class fTOm performing 
patrol officer work. He noted that in some 
cases, officers over 40 do outstanding 
work. [Tr. V, pp. 116-118.] 

However, the defendants' law enforce
ment experts sharply criticized the work of 
policemen Who are in their forties. Deputy 
Commissioner Peterson said that older offi· 
cers tend not to be "self st.arters," whereas 
younger officers are highly motivated. He 
also testified that appointees should be al· 
truistic and that altruism declines with age. 
[Tr. V, pp. 69, 88-89.] Deputy Commission· 
er McMahon stated that younger officers 
are better able to do the more difficult 
assignments. He agreed that they are 
more highly motivated. [Tr. V, pp. 16-16.) 

The law enforcement experts also testi
fied that officers over 40 tend not to recov
er from injuries as quickly as younger oW
cers. [Tr. V, p. 87.) Another criticism was 
that older officers were worse at handling 
emergency situations. Chief Oliva ex
plained that a typical emergency would in
volve a civilian with a heart attack or other 
injury. He also spoke of accident preven
tion and traffic enforcement. Asked if an 
officer's "productivity" in these areas de
creased with age, Chief Oliva answered: 
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Yes, I think summarily from the top of seventy-sbc of these are over age 50. [Stip
my head I can see, you know, an avoid· ulation, Item 104, p. 2.] 
ance of traffic enforcement, perhaps a A second factor detracting from the 
nonchalant performance of his duties in weight of the opinions offered by the 
terms of cultivating intelligence on the State's law enforcement experts is that the 
street, which is very critical in our opera· decline in performance appears to be due in 
tions, developing an ability to ignore ce.... large part to job tenure rather than age. 
tam things when perhaps they should be Deputy Commissioner McMahon acknowl· 
attended to[.] [T]hat may come with ex- edged that a decline in an officer's motiva
perience or it may come with age, ! am tion could be attributed to his reaching the 
not really sure, but it becomes ... appa.... end of his seven-to-ten-year "street life." 
ent with the older officer. f.Tr. IV, p. 53.] Deputy Commissioner Pe

[Tr. V, pp. 32-33.] 

Deputy Commissioner McMahon also tes
tified that younger officers were better at 
handling "crisis intervention" situations. 
He explained that these include such inter
personal conflicts as domestic violence, ac
cidents, and robberies. A "team effort" is 
often required, and the safety of civilians 
and other officers sometimes depends upon 
one officer's performance. f.Tr. IV, pp. 32-
85.) McMahon then testified that the age 
restriction should be retained because "the 
younger the police officer you have, the 
more highly motivated that person is and 
the more able he is to perform in the diffi
cult assignments." f.Tr. IV, p. 36.] 

McMahon's testimony raised another im
portant point: the more physically able an 
officer is, the less likely he or she will have 
to resort to deadly physical force. f.Tr. IV, 
p. 85.] A person's physical capncities tend 
to decline with age, and of course, the use 
of physical force should be minimized. 

There are several factors which severely 
limit the probative force this evidence has 
in demonstrating that substantially all per
SODS over age 40 cannot be safe and effec
tive police officers. One factor has already 
been noted: officers over age 40 now serv
ing in various police departmlnts are doing 
competent police work. In some cases, 
their work is excellent. More than half of 
Buffalo's 797 police officets were over age 
40 Ill! of F>ebruary 19, 1982. One hundred 

6. P¢Ienon made JpCcific reference to the effect 
an officer's famIlborIty with the criminal justice 
1J1I= bas upon bls attIlude. Familiarity with 
plea barplnlng IUld absentee witncsscs were 

terson said that altruism and enthusiasm 
decrease with age and that the older offi
cers' performances were negatively affect
ed as a result. However, age was only one 
factor he cited as a cause of the decline in 
an officer's enthusiasm. Peterson's testi
mony indicated that a police officer's hav
ing "seen it all before" is at least part of 
the reason why his enthusiasm waned. 
f.Tr. V, p. 88.J Peterson explicitly stated: 
"There is no doubt that as a man goes 
through police .work he loses some of his 
altruism and some of his enll,usiasm for 
it." f.Tr. V, p. 138.]' 

Chief Oliva, although he never changed 
his mind about the need for the hiring age 
limit, responded affirmatively when the 
court asked him if he believed that an 
officer's enthusiasm for the job decreases 
as he spends more time with the depart
ment. Chief' Oliva also stated that there 
comes a "tenure time .. when they become 
ring wise." He added that loss of enthusi
asm "is an inherent quality that develops 
with an individual who becomes seasoned." 
Finally, when asked about appointees who 
were hired while in their thirties under the 
exception for military service, Chief Oliva 
stated that these officers "have been satis
factory empJo~s." f.Tr. V, pp. 5O-55.J 

On balance, the testimony of the defend
ants' law enforcement experts has failed to 
persuade the court that all or substantially 
all persons over age 40 are either physical
ly or emotionally unfit to perform the 

two cynicism..,ngendering factors that were nOI· 
cd. Suppression of evidence was another. [Tr. 
V, pp. 69, 89.] 
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duties of a police officer saf,,]y and effec· 
tively. The perceived worsening of atti· 
tude appears to be induced much more by 
tenure than by age. I note in this connec· 
tion that nearly all of the "older" officers 
upon whose performances this testimony 
was based were hired while in their twen· 
ties. They had been police officers more 
than 10 years before turning 40. I also 
note one expert's observation that BB per
cent of all police officers fail to advance to 
the rank of sergeant. Failure to advance 
to higher ranks is also a major factor con
tributing to the decline in an officer's en
thusiasm for the job. [Tr. V, p. 67.) 

As previously noted, the law enforce
ment experts formed their opinions by ob
serving officers who had served several 
years before turning 4.0. Each expert con
ceded that some officers over 40 have 
enough physical ability to do competent 
work. This is in spite of the fact that an 
officer's physical condition is not closely 
scrutinized after he or she is appointed. 
One expert even stated that the older offi
cers who do not seek non-patrol duty are 
usually in better shape than policemen over 
ten years younger. [Tr. V, p. 117.) 

The basic thrust of this expert testimony 
was only that there is a tendency toward 
physical decline in older officers. No one 
suggested that all or nearly all officers 
over age 40 actually deteriorate to the 
point of physical incompetence. This evi
dence cannot support the conclusion that 
all or nearly all persons over 40 who have 
not been subjected to the strain of police 
work are unable to become police officers. 

The State also introduced statistical evi
dence for the purpose of showing that BUb
stantially all persons hired at or beyond 
age 40 could not be effective police 'Offi
cers. 'twderick J. Bartell is a director of a 
management consultant firm that does re
search concerning law enfol't'ement and 
criminal justice agencies. Bartell coordi
nated a study of the New York Rousing 
Authority Police Department and the New 
York City Police DIlpartment. The data 
for this study was collected in 1980, and a 
report was issued in 19B1. [Defendants' 

Exhibit 11, hereinafter referred to as DX 
11.) 

The most pertinent section of the report 
was concerned with the relationship be
tween age and the level of performance 
achieved by New York City Police Officel'll. 
(DX 11, pp. 31, et seq.) The officers whose 
performances were studied were all patrol
men. The work product of superior offi· 
cers and officers on special assignments 
was not considered. [DX 11, p. 9.) 

The performance of police officers was 
evaluated in terms of number of arrests. 
Number of arrests was chosen as the indic
ator of officer-effectiveness, because the 
authority to make arrests is what distin
guishes police work from other occupa
tions. [DX 11, p. 31.) In a population of 
16,536 male patrol officers, 139,000 arrests 
were made. This works out to an average 
of B.4 arrests per officer per year. The 
Bartell study revealed that the mean num· 
ber of arrests made by officers hired be
tween ages 21 and 25 was 8.7. This is 
slightly higher than the average for all 
officers. The mean for those hired be
tween ages 26 and 30 was 7.7. The figure 
for 31 to 35-year-old hirees was 6.B. These 
figures show that, as we move from one 
five-year age bracket to the next, the num
ber of arrests per year will decrease by 
about one. Officers hired after age 25 fall 
below the 8.4 overall average. [DX 11, pp. 
4()-.41.) 

Bartell also studied the relationship be
tween arrests per year and an officer's 
chronological age. The mean number of 
arrests per year was highest (about 12.5) 
for officers between the ages of 31 and 35. 
Next highest were the officers in the 26-30 
and 36-40 age brackets. Tbe mean for 
both brackets was between 10 and 11 ar
rests per year, with the 26-30 group per
forming slightly better. (DX ll, p. 4.S.] 
Arreet totals dropped off significantly in 
the five-year age brackets beyond the 86-
40 group. In the five five-year age brack
ets between the ages of 41 and 65, the 
mean number of arrests ranged from about 
7.5 for the 41-45 bracket to 3.5 for officers 
between the agea of 61 and 65. 
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The relationship between job tenure and of crime differs from one shift to another. 
arrests per year was also studied. Officers Deputy Commissioner McMahon noted that 
with between four nnd nine years of experi- the shift from 4 p.m. to 12 a.m. has the 
ence apparently made significantly more highest level of criminal activity. He also 
mests than officers in any of the other noted that officers with more tenure can 
age brackets. The aver.lge fDr officers successfully bid upon the "safer" shifts. 
with between 13 and 15 years (In the force [Tr. IV, p. 68.) This would reduce an older 
was about 8.5 per ycar. The tenure group officer's probability of apprehension and 
with the highest figure was tile 4-6-year detection. An officer first appointed at 
group, whose average number of arrests age 40 would not have the seniority to 
was slightly more than 13. [DX 11, p. 44.) successfully bid upon the most Bought-af

The court believes that the probative val
ue ;)f the Bartell study is severely limited 
by the narrowness of its focus. The study 
was effective in showing a link between 
age and arrests, but there was other evi
dence in the case which showed that arrest
ing suspected criminals constitutes only a 
very small portion of a police officer's daily 
routine. Mr. Bart.ell conceded that less 
than 1 percent of the time a police officer 
spends on patrol duty is spent on criminal 
events worthy of the officer's attention. 
This factor is called "probability of appre
hension and detection." The rest of an 
officer's time is spent doing other things, 
which Bartell's report concededly did not 
address. 

Bartell also agreed that making arrests 
was not the only effe<:tive way of handling 
a volatile situation. Diffusing such inci
dents by calming down the participants 
might not result in an arrent, but it would 
be an effective means of bringing an inci
dent under contro1.7 However, effective 
police work of this nature was not meas
ured in the Bartell study. [Tr. IV, pp. 
159-175.] Mr. Bartell explained that 
breaking down arrests into felony and mis
demeanor categories partially compensated 
for this defect in the report. There is a 
negative correlation between age increase 
and the number of felony arrests. How
ever, this does not resolve tlfe problem 
inherent in the study's narrow focus. 

The report also did not measure the ef
fect that precinct location and work shift 
had upon the arrest figures. The incidence 

7. Deputy Commissioner McMahon testified lhat 
skill In dlffuslll& a tense sit.llltlon is the most 
effective and desirable means of control Ar-

ter work shifts. 

I will not speculate upon what a more 
complete analysis would show. However, 
this analysis does not persuade me that 
individuals hired after age 40 could not 
perform the duties of A police officer safely 
and effectively. 

The medical evidence in this case is rele
vant to both of the alternative prongs in 
the second element of the BFOQ test. I 
find that, by itself and in combination with 
the statistical and other expert testimony, 
the medical evidence does not sllow that all 
or substantially all persons over age 40 
cannot perform the duties of a police offi
cer safely and effectively. 

Much of the medical evidence related to 
the degree of accuracy with which the ex
istence of heart disease can be recognized. 
However, there was also considerable testi
mony concerning the ability of persons 
over age 40 to do police work. The physi
cal requirements for the job include speed, 
muscle strength, power, limited body flit, 
and good health. [Tr. II, pp. 122-23.) The 
peak years for these physical requirements 
are the twenties or early thirties in most 
individuals. 

However, the evidence showed that a 
significnnt percentage of persons over age 
40 could perform ,lit the level of the aver
age person in his. or her twenties. For 
example, \.he average maximum oxygen up
take level for men between the ages of 20 
and 29 is about 39.1 milliliters per kilogram 
per minute [ml/kg-min.). Dr. Michael Pol
lock, Director of Cardiac Rehabilitation and 

rests might not result when such methods are 
used. [Tr. IV, pp. 69-70,] 
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the Schuman Perfonnance Laborntory at 
the University of Wisconsin, participated in 
a study which measured the correlation 
between age And fitness. Dr. Pollock WIlS 
a most credible witness. He testified that 
about 45 percent of the males between the 
ages of 30 and 39 could Achieve the 39.1 
mllkg-min level for oxygen uptake. Thir
ty-five percen~ of the persons between ages 
40 And 49 and 20 percent of those between 
Ages 50 and 59 could mAteh the 99.1 figure. 
With respect to body fat, the avernge male 
in his twenties had a level oC 20.1 percent. 
About 85 percent of the males in Uleir 
forties attained the avernge for men 20 
years younger. About 80 percent of the 
males in their fifties had body fat levels 
equivalent to the 20.1 percent avernge for 
men in their twenties. ['1'r. II, pp. 47-52j 
PX 25.) 

Persons over age 40 also compared fa
vornbly with younger men in terms of 
strength.s Dr. Pollock noted that strength 
declines somewhat with age but that the 
decline is very slight before age 44. The 
decline is more perceptible beyond age 44. 
but about 85 percent of Ule persons in the 
4&-49 age category have strength equal to 
that of the avernge man in his twenties. 
Between 15 and 20 percent of all men in 
their ftfties are as strong as the t1vernge 
man in his twenties. ['1'r. n, pp. 63-64.) 

Age is a factor in physical conditkning 
which cannot be controlled. However. the 
evidence did not indicate that it is a factor 
which debilitr.tes all or substantially all per
sons over age 40 to Ule point of being 
unable to do police work. Factors Buch IlS 
heredity differ widely among individuals 
and mayor may not be advantageous. 
Other factors, such IlS diet, discipline, exer
cille. and life style, have great impact uPl/n 
health apd are controllable. Dr. Polloek 
testified that if a 40-year-cld man whose 
physical charncteristics were similar to 
those of an average man in his twenties 
were hired IlS a police officer, he could 
probably continue to perfonn the job at age 
50. This assumes that this individual 

.. On the subject of ~ngth. DI'. PoUock was 
raen1ng to a study conducted by Hcnry J. Mon. 

would continue to take care of himself. 
['1'r. II, p. 69.] 

The court recognizes that this particular 
testimony is somewhat speCUlative. How
ever, mnny individuals appointed IlS young 
men remain police officers well beyond age 
40. A police department hIlS very little 
control over the way officers hired in their 
twenties maintain their physical condition
ing when, IlS veternns, they reach their 
forties. [Tr. V, pp. 1()()"'{)3.] This is some
times the result of provisions in collective 
bargaining agreements. On ll-ae other 
hand, the physical condition of an individu
al appointed at nge 40 would be subject to 
scrutiny at the time of appointment and 
during a probationary period thereafter. It 
is rellSonnble to infer that if persons over 
age 40 can remain police officers afwr 
severn 1 years of being relatively unsuper
vised in matters of physical conditioning, 
then fit persons over age 40 can become 
police officers and perform officers' duties 
for a considernble length of time. I find 
that the defendants have failed to prove 
that all or 8ubstantially all persons over 
age 40 callnot perform the duties of II 

police officer safely and effectively. 

An employer can also establish the 
BFOQ defense if it is able to prove that 
disqualifying physical traits are pi'esent in 
persons over age 40 and cannot be identi· 
fied prncticably and reliably by means oth
er than automatic exclusion bllSed upon 
age. The parties' medical evidence on this 
point was almost entirely directed at the 
degree of certainty with which latent heart 
disease can be identified and the ability to 
predict the occurrence of a heart attack 
within five or six years. 

Dr. Samuel M. Fox III is a cardiologist 
who testified for the plaintiff-intervenor 
EEOC. His testimony WIlS most credible 
and persuasive. He noted that there are 
certain factors which, if present, increase 
the probability that an individwtl has or 
will later have coronary artery disease. 
The presence of this disellSe in prospective 
officers is of particular concern, becaW!e it 

toye lUld Donald E. Lamphlear [PX 261. Thr: 
~ngth measured was grip and arm SIreIJI!b. 
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is a leading cause of death and appears to below 10 percent, a successful stress test 
be mote common in police officers than in will have a negative predictive value of 97 
the population generally. percent. This means that there is only a 

The "risk factora" include cigarette three percent post· test probability j;hat the 
smoking, high blood pressur:e, blood choles. peraon has coronary artery diseasEI or will 
wrol, angina, family history, obesity, disbe- develop it within six yeara. In the case of 
tea mellitus, sex, and age. [Tr. I, pp. 20, a person having a 20 percent pretest proba-
40, 129.] Sex, age, and family history are bility, the stress test will have a 90 percent 
the only risk factors which can never be negative predictive value. [Tr. I, pp. 60-
controlled. Women are less susceptible to 61.J 
coronary artery disease than men, and the Dr. Walter ZimdahJ is a cardiolonist who 
risk of the disease increases with age. [Tr. testified for the defendants. Dr. Zimdahl 
I, p. 110.] Family history is not controlla· suggested that all peraons 35 yeara old and 
ble, but it is not always a clear indicator. over should be given a stress test if they 
Family members who previously had coro- desire to become police officera. rrr. VI, 
I1llry artery disease might have had it in pp. 23-28.) He agreed with Dr. FO.J('s gen· 
part because of tobacco use or obesity, eral conclusion that the stress tEst is a 
factors which need not affect all family useful device for identifying the eltistence 
members. Use of cigarettes nearly dou· of coronary artery disease and pl't~cting 
bles s person's chances of getting coronary its onset in the near future. [Tr. VI, pp. 
artery disease. [Tr. I, p. ISO, 44.) 17-18.] Dr. Zimdahl would adminulter the 

Dr. Fox testified that the existence or test to every applicant over age s5, where
Iawr onset of coronary artery disease can as Dr. Fox would administer it only to 
be predicted upon an analysis of the risk those who have a pretest probabil\ity be
factors. All of the risk factors are easily yond the 8-10 percent range. 
detectable by routine medical procedures Dr. Zimdahl noted that coronary artery 
DO more invasive than drawing a small disease can appear very 8uddenly-often in 
blood sample. Dr. Fox stated that the pre- the form of a fatal heart attack in peraons 
dict.ive value of the risk factor analysis is who had previously been free of sym;ptoms. 
"highly useful, and particularly effective in Still, he testified that 80 percent of all 
screening personnel for service in various symptomatic males over age 40 whcl have 
occupations." [Tr. I, pp. 21-22.] each of the five most important risk fae-

Dr. Fox qualified his testimony about tors do not have coronary artery wsease. 
risk factor analysis with the observation Dr. Zimdahl listed hypertension, blood cho
that it lacks some additional information an lesterolleve, electro-cardiographic changes, 
examiner would like to have. This nddi- cigarette smoking, and heredity as thl! five 
tional infonnation can be obtained as a most critical flak factors. 
result of a symptom limited exercise stress Evidently, the risk of coronary IIlrtery 
test. The stress test involves an examina- disease increases with age, although aige is 
tion of an individual during and after exer- only a secondary risk factor. [Tr. VI, p. 
cising at a level beyond which he cannot 54.] However, the evidence also shlOws 
go. This test is non-invasive. [Tr. I, p. 28.] that an analysis'!)f the risk factora can IglV'e 

Dr. Fox testified that it is unnecessary to a very useru.: estimate of whether or not an 
administer the stress test to persons whose individual has the disease. The risk fRl:tor 
pretest likelihood of having coronary artery analysis is not invasive or impractical to 
disease is less than 8-10 percent. He said administer. 
that a low reading after the risk factor On the basis of a risk factor analysis, (lOe 
analysis would "make more sophisticated is able to determine whether more sophillti
studies unnecesaary." [Tr. I, p. 57.] He cated testing is required. The evidence 
went (In to state that if a person's pretest showed that a candidate can take a stress 
probability for coronary artery diDease was test and afterwards be more than 90 pe'r-
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cent certain that he or she is frec of coro
nary artery disease. The cost of this test 
is about $215.00. but not all candidates 
would need to take it. A stress test is such 
a useful indicator of cardiovascular fitness 
that anyone (even if under age 40) who 
fails it should not become a police officer. 
rrr. VI, pp. 23-24.] 

Physically unqllalified persons over age 
40 can be identifil d with enough certainty 
that it cannot be snid that age 40 at the 
time of hiring is a Bl~OQ for the job of 
police officer. The defendants have there
fore failed to carry their burden of estab
lishing this defense. It is true that the 
work of n police officer can be very strenu
ous nt times, However. the evidence in 
this case shows thnt a significant I}.!l\ount 
of persons over age 40 can handle the 
rigors of police work. and those who cannot 
handle it can.be identified with reasonable 
certainty. 

In E.E.D.C. v. Los Angeles County, 706 
F.2d 1089. cerL denied, - U.S. -. 104 
S.Ct. 984, 79 L.Ed.2d 220 (1984), the court 
held that age 35 at hire is not a BFOQ for 
deputy sheriffs. In that case, the trial 
judge found no difference in the evidence 
between age 85 and age 40. See 526 
F.Supp. H85, 1139 n. 4. A similar result 
WIlJ3 reached in E.E.D.C. v. County of Alle
gheny, 705 F.2d 679, where the court held 
that persons above age 85 could not be 
prevented from writing the police examina
tion. However, a different result was 
reached in E.E.D.C. v. Missouri State 
Highway Patrol, 555 F.Supp.97 (W.O. Mo. 
1982), which upheld an age 35 hi:..ng limit 
for highway patrol applicants. 

In Mahoney v. Trabucco, supra, the 
plaintiff at the district court level success
fully challenged a statute which man!\ated 
retirement at age 50 for m£mbers of the 
MllJ3sachusetta State Police. The plnintiff 
was an officer who had worked as a tele
communications specialist since 1.969. The 
only medical evidence in the ca.se was the 
testimony of the ,defendant's medical ex
perts. One expert testified that substan
tinily all persons over age 50 were unable 
to perform the job of police officer safely 

lind effectively. Another testified that suf
ferers of asymptomatic coronary nrtcry 
disease could be identified wit.h only 1 por· 
cent accuracy. 574 F.Supp. at 960. 

The plnintiff did not call any experts of 
his own to rebut this testimony. Accord· 
ingly, the district court stated thnt it would 
find thnt age less than 50 is a BFOQ for 
the general duties of n police officer. Id. 
However, the court specifically noLed thot 
ita finding was only "a judgment on the 
evidence presented at trial" and that "indi· 
vidual cases nrc likely to turn on the medi· 
cal evidence presented at trial." Id. at 960 
n.1. 

The plaintiff in Mahotley prevailed at 
trial only because the district court accept· 
ed an interpretation of the AOEA which 
distinguished between the duties ot police
men generally and the plaintiff's particular 
job IlJ3signment. The court noted that the 
plaintiff's particular job was very light. 
For that reason, the district court enjoined 
the defendants from applying the age 50 
retirement mandate against the p\aintifi. 

The United States Court of Appi)als {or 
the First Circuit reversed. The court held 
that it was error to focus upon specific job 
requirements rather than the geneml 
duties of uniformed officers. The First 
Circuit's opinion is devoted almost entirely 
to that issue. It was noted that the plain
tiff could have been, renssigned to more 
strenuous duties nt arty time. Upon decid· 
ing that the correct view of the AnEA 
required focusing upon the duties of pol;.ce 
officers generally, the Court of Appeals 
was constrained to accept the uncontradict
ed testimony of the defendants' medical 
experts that sllbstantially all persons over 
age 60 could not handle a police officer's 
duties. 

The instant case is vllJ3t1y different. 
Here, the plaintiffs did not employ the 
risky strategy of preferring to rely upon a 
particular statutory interpretation instead 
of producing their own medical e~ 
On the contrary, the plaintiffs in this (de 

offered persuasive evidence that a signifi
cant number of persons over age 40 could 
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become poli\\e officers and perfonn regular 
police work ,effectively. 

In another recent case, the United States 
Court of Ap)'>eals for the Fourth Circuit 
reversed a dilltrict court's finding that age 
60 was not t.1 :O'.FOQ for the job of fIrefight
er in the Ci\'y of Baltimore. Johnson v. 
Mayor and Ci,ly 0/ Baltimore, 731 F.2d 
209 (4th Cir.19l1.4). That case also involved 
a maximum nge: J)f retirement, unlike the 
instant rase whld) involves age at hire. 
Interestingly, the F4\Urth Circuit noted (al
beit in an equal prot.e.ction context, discuss
ing their decillion in J1rritt v. Gnsell, su
pra) that it would be Irrational to treat a 
4o-year old applicant ftlr a police officer 
appointment different thun all police of
ficers 40 years old or old\~r. 731 F.2d at 
214 n. 16. 

The court ill aware of the ft.'ct that public 
safety is an important elemlint in police 
work. Arbitrary age limits blicome more 
justifIable as the likelihood of hu.nn and the 
degree of harm likely to result increase. 
Aaron v. Davis, 414 F.Supp. at 461. The 
evidence here did not indicate that hiring 
persons over 40 would put the public or 
other police officers at an appreciably 
greater risk. Persons with coronary artery 
disease can be identified or cleared with 
great certainty, and tht! consequence of a 
mistake was not shown to be at all likely to 
result in hann to the public. Many persons 
over age 40 are patrolmen doing the same 
work new appointees do, !Iond at no unac
ceptable risk to the public. 

This case Is dilltingUishable from Tamia
m~ where a maximum hiring age of 35 for 
intercity bus drivers was upheld. There 
was evidence in that case that work done 
by newly appointed drivers was far more 
atrenuouB than the work done by veterans. 
Veteran drivera testified that they could 
not do the more strenuous jobs and that 
nearly everyone opted out of those assign
ments when his seniority pennitted. 681 
F.2d at 288. The same is not true here. 
PersOIlJl over age 40 are doing patrol work 
safely and etieetively. 

The nature nf police work Is also differ
ent. Persons operating vehiclea carrying 

59-730 0 - 86 - 4 

many passengers continually have the safe
ty of many people in their hands. A very 
slight physical defect of any kind could 
easily cause serious hann to many persons. 
Police work can be very strenuous, but the 
nature of the work does not require abso
lute certainty in screening applicants. See 
E.E.O.C, v. Los Angeles County, 526 
F.Supp. 1186; cf. Johnson v. Mayor and 
City Council 0/ Baltimore, 615 F.Supp. 
1287 (D.Md.l981); Aaron v. Davis, 414 
F.Supp. 468. The court finds that unfit 
applicants can be'screened out with enough 
certainty to accommodate the public's need 
for a safe and efficient police department. 

[5) An employer's desire to have the 
most cost-effective work force cannot justi
fy age discrimination where age is not a 
BFOQ. Although it is reasonable to be
lieve that persons hired younger will work 
longer and therefore be a better "invest
ment", "economic considerutions ... can
not be the basis of a BFOQ." Smallwood 
v. United Air Lines, inc., 661 F.2d 303 (4th 
Cir.1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 1007, 102 
S.Ct. 2299, 73 L.Ed.2d 1802 (1982). 

[6] For the foregoing reasons, I con
clude that age 40 at hire is not a BFOQ. 
Section 58(1)(a) is therefore contrary to the 
ADEA. Accordingly, the defendants nre 
hereby enjoined from enforcing section 
68(1)(a). 

The court notes that this order does not 
require lowering the standards for prospec
tive police officers. These standards are 
not questioned. Today's order means only 
that the defendants cannot disqualify a 
candidate solely because of his or her age. 
I! a candidate is unfit, his or her em.ploy. 
ment IIpp~cation can and ought to be re
jected. Today's order works no change in 
the applicable physical standards; it only 
means that older persons cannot be fore
closed from competing under those stan
dards for positiollJl in municipal police de
partments. Moreover, nothing in this deci
sion and order prevents the imposition of 
an entry level age limit at BOrne age great
er than 40. 
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III. VALIDITY OF S~CTlON 58(1)(a) 
UNDER STATE LAW 

Some of the plaintiffs claim that section 
58(lXa) is invalid under applicable New 
York State law. This argument was reject
ed in Sica v. Courtty 0/ Nassau, CIV--81-
8497. supra. where Judge Pratt held that a 
New York court would uphold the statute 
under state law. In Figueroa v. Bron· 
stein, 38 N.Y.2d 533 (1976), the New York 
State Court of Appeals upheld a provision 
which aet at 32 the rnrudmum age for ap
pointment as a correctional officer. In 
Knllpp v. Monroe County Civil Service 
Commission, 77 A.D.2d 817, 437 N.Y.S.2d 
136 (4th Dept.1980), the court held that 
section 58(lXa) does not violate the federal 
or state constitutions or the age discrimina· 
tion provisions of the Human Rights Law 
(N.Y.Exec. Law § 296 6\1bd. 3-a). Accord· 
ingly, I hold that the pendent state law 
clnima in this case must be dismissed. 

IV. CONCLUSION 
Section 58(IXa) discriminates against in· 

dividuals on the basis of age. The statute 
does not violate the equal protection clause 
of the fourteenth amendment or any provi. 
sion of State law. 

However, section 58(lXa) violates the 
rights of the plaintiffs in this case who are 
over 40 years old and have standing to 
assert a claim under the ADEA. Plaintiffs 
Koch, Smith, and Walker in CIV--80--874C 
are in this ClI.tegory, the latter two having 
reached age 40 during the pendency of this 
action. 

[7] The other plaintiffs in OIV--80--874C 
and the persons who were permitted to 
intervene in that action have not reached 
age 40 and did not have staniling to assert 
claims under the ADEA. Their only viable 
claima were the equal protection and state 
Inw clnima, which are dismissed for the 
reasons previously stated. 

Thus, the complnint in CIV-80-S74C 
must be dismissed as to plnintiffs Hahn, 
O'Sullivan, Craig, Hodge, and Bowers. 
The <:omplnints in intervention in ClV--8G-

874C, except that of the EEOC, must also 
be dismissed. 

The complaints in CIV--8G-796C, CIV-80-
797C, and CIV--8G-1184C must be dis· 
missed. The plaintiffs in those cases have 
not reached age 40. Of course, persons 
less than 40 years old will necessarily bene
fit from the result reached in this lawsuit. 

Accordingly, in ClV--80--874C, the Clerk 
shall enter judgment in favor of plaintiffs 
Koch, Smith, and Walker, al'ld plaintiff·in. 
tervenor EEOC. As to all others, the com
plaints shall be dismissed. The Clerk shall 
also enter judgments dismissing the com
plaints in OIV--8G-79flC, CIV--8G-797C, and 
CIV--8G-1184C. 

So ordered. 

CITY OF HARRISBURG and Stephen 
R. Reed, as Mayor and Individually, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 
INTERNATIONAL SURPLUS LINES 

INSURANCE COMPANY and 
Woolf/Strite A8soclates, Ine., Defendants. 

Clv. A. No. 84-1113. 

United States District Court, 
M.D. Pennsylvania. 

Oct. 31, 1984. 

City and mayor brought action to re
cover under "claims·made" public officials 
and employees lisbility insurance policy the 
<:ost of attorney fees which they incurred in 
defending a liable and wrongful use of clvil 
proceedings action brought against the 
mayor. Upon defendants' motion to dis
miss, the District Court, Caldwell, J., held 
that: (1) a "claima·macb" public offICials 
and employees liability insurance policy 
which <:overed "lawfully elected" city of1j. 
clals did not cover the mayol"elect; thus, 
insurer was not required to defend hOOI 
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Mr. MAR'l'INEZ. With that, we are hereby adjourned. 
[Whereupon, at 11:46 a.m., the committee was adjourned.] 
[Additional material submitted for the record follows:] 

S'rA'r~, OF MICHIGAN, DEPARTMENT OF S'1'A'1'E POLICE, 
East Lansing, MI, March 11, 1988, 

Hon. MM'1'HEW J. RINALDO, 
House Office Building, Washington, DC. 

DEAR REPRESENTA'I'IVE RINALDO: It has come to my attention that you are one of 
the primary sponsors of HR 1435 which would amend the Age Discrimination and 
Employment Act of 1967. 

'fhe Michigan Department of State Police supports the concept of the bill; that is, 
it is the responsibility of the states, based upon bona fide occupational qualifica
tions, to set the age criteria for hiring and for retirement of its fire fighters and law 
enforcement olTIcers. 

We have discussed the bona fide occupational qualifications, as they relate to re
tirement age, with numerous medical experts. These experts have explained to us 
that medical science and technology has not advanced to the point where we can 
rely exclusively on individual testing to measure the physical ability of a police olTI
cer. We feel that the demands and stresses of our profession are so strenuous and 
the necessity to perform physical tasks so great that we cannot leave to chance the 
physical condition of our officers to perform their critical job functions. 

Therefore, we fully support this federal legislation as it leaves to the state the 
important decision of determining retirement age for fire fighters and law enforce
ment omcers. 

Sincerely, 

Mr. ERIC JENSEN, 

GERALD HOUGH, Director. 

STATE OF INDIANA, 
GoV. RonEwr D. ORR, 

GOVERNon's OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE FOR MANDATORY 
RE'I'IUEMENT AGE OF PUBLIC SA}'ETY O"FICERS, 

February 28, 198fl. 

House Subcommittee on Education and Labor, Washington, DC. 
DEAR SIR: The Governor's Oversight Committee for tht~ Determination of Manda

tory Retirement Age of Public Safety Officers respectfully requests to go on record 
in support of E,ll. 1435. 

The passage of this bill would relieve the financial burden to the various pension 
funds placed upon them in defending EEO c.;mplaints ml well as help raise the 
morale of' public safety officers. 'fhis particular bill is favored by both management 
and labor 1Il that it allows for upward mobility and continued confidence in the abil
ity of the individuals in command, ensures public safety and allows stability among 
the various public sufety pension funds. 

I urge passage of H.R. 1435 by the committee and action on the same by the full 
House. I further urge immediate consideration be given to S. 62, S. 698 and S. 1240, 
which deal with the same subject matter, if they receivla favorable action in the 
Senate and pass to the House. 

Sincerely, 
Hon SMALL, Chairman. 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF DONALD O. CHESWORTH, SUPERINTENDENT, NEW YORK 
STATE POLICE 

Passage of HR 1435 is of critical importance for law enforcement employers, both 
to ensure the public safety as well as to permit the effective administration of law 
enforcement. The amendment in vital to enable law enforcement agencies to pro
vide the most effective and efficient law enforcement services to the public. In addi
tion, the amendment is necessary to put an end to needless and costly taxpayer 
funded litigation which has plagued law enforcement across this nation since 1978 
and mol'S particularly since 1983 when the Supreme Court held that the ADEA ap
plies to the states and local governments. 

The goals of the ADEA are most laudable and appropriate. Age discrimination in 
employment is clearly unacceptable and should properly be unlawful. The Congres-
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siona] findings which accompany the ADEA mudl~ clour the ills this Icgislation is 
designed to cure. However. through collective bargaining and legislativo recognition 
thut law enforcement is a profession which should be compensated with early pen
sion beneiits. most if not alllt\w enforcement oflieN's ch'al'ly do not C0ll1l1 within the 
Hlnbit of ills that the ADEA wns designed to nddl'css. Caw cltfOl'cenl()nt omeors huvc 
substantial pension bonofits <lftcr twenty or twenty-livo yCL\l's of Sll!'vico. FurthcI'. 
Inw enforcement officers uI'e generally very re-employable in other CUI'eCI'S af'tm' I'e· 
tircment. 

'rhe bona tide occupationnl qualificution (BI<'OQ) exception. 2!) USC § 628(1)\U. was 
designed to permit specific occupations such as public sntety to retaill ugt! l'cquire' 
menta that nre rl'asonably necessary to their business. 'rhis justification simply hus 
not been accepted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) as 
applying to law enforcement. To dute. we know of /10 instance where EEOC has ac
cepted the evidence presented by law l1l1fOl'cemcnt thut age indeed is u BFOQ fOl' 
luwenforcement, 

Luw entorcement LlCroSS tht' nation is generally subject to 11 statutory entry age 
(usually age au 01' less) and a mandutol'Y retirement uge (age 55 for New YOl'k State 
Troopers, the FBI and muny other police agencies). '1'he United Stutes Supreme 
Court hus long held that such stututes arc constitutional. Massachusetts Board of' 
Retil'(?1/Wlit v, MUrgin, ,127 U.S. :l07 (lH76), These ugencies recognize thut lawen. 
forcmnent is usunlLy a career employment profession in which tho ollicor begins em
ployment in his 01' her twenties und retires in his or hel' forties or fifties. 'rhus. 
undt'r most systems an officer hus twenty years of service Or moro lind retires at n 
pension usually lit onc·half to three-quarters of the officers' sulary. Usually these 
pensions have been achieved through the collective barguining process t\l1d ure es
sentiully linked to the mandatory retirement age. The establishment of u maximum 
entry level age (ulso. C1 function of the retir('ment uge) permits an officer to attain 
the requisite service years for retirement. 

We know that usually live to seven yeure 01' service as a police office I' is requit'ed 
before un officer is truly experienced. Usually. the next eight to t.welve years of 
servicl' fire thl' most productive of the officers' cal·eel'. After that officer's productivi. 
ty often declines. 

The establishment of a mandatory retirement age and or II pl'nsion system which 
allows l'etil'emelt' at half pay after twenty yeal'S of service is u recognition that 
polle(' onicers often "burn out" after twenty yeurs of service Md that police officers 
should be compensuted lor their uniqul'. dangerous und stressful service by eligibil. 
ity for an "eady" pension. . 

We huvl' a l'esponaibility to provide the best law enforcement services available to 
the public. We believe that the stutes ure in the best position to determine what the 
appropriate lIge of their law enforcement onicors should be. Congress. it should be 
noted. has uppurently agreed that younger police officers provide a better lawen· 
tOl'cement service and hus exempted its law enforcement officers and tire lighters 
ft'om the ADEA. and has upPI'oved mandatory retirement of FBI ngents at age 55, 

Caw enforcement is best served by youngel' men and women. Our records are 1'1.'. 
plete with reports of heroic efforts of our Troopers to save the lives of people in 
burning cars or buildings or to rescuo tl'Upped victims from submerged venicles and 
other similar emergency situations. We can, of course. nevel' predict when these un· 
fortunate circumstances will occllr. but we cun say, /:IS a matter of informed profes
sional judgml'nt that younger officers are more likely-and able-to perform these 
strenuous emergency tasks, 

In response to a questionnuii'e. nearly half ('12%) of our officers l'esponded that 
al'l'esting nnd apprehending cl'iminuls was the most physicaUy demanding task that 
they perrOt'med on a regular basis, Our officers repOlted to us that many of these 
defendants urI.' intoxicated. under the influence of drugs or mentally ill. 'rhese de· 
fendants pose a threat to the public as well as the officer. In 1980 4,700 police offi· 
eel'S nationwide were assaulted and eleven murdered in the line of duty, The aver
age age of the defendunts ttrl'ested on n nationwide busis is twenty-eight. 

No one can deny the aging process and its effect on the ability of a law enforce· 
ment officer to perform his or her duties. Younger. more vigorous officers possess 
more stamina than older officers. The public is belter served by a law enforcement 
agency which is made up of younger officers. This was noted by the Senate Report 
in passing legislation setting mandatory retirement ages for certain Federnlluw en
forcement officers and fire fighters, PL 9:3-:l50 2 U,S. Cong, & Adm, News 3699 
(l!)74J. 

A further I'eport to Congress dated July 25. 1977 submitted by the Committee on 
Educntion and Labor concerning u further Amendment of the ADEA noted: 
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"While it is the primary pm'pose of this legislation to limit mandatory retirement 
and other employment discrimination for non-federal employees aged ,10-49 ... it is 
not intended that the bill prohibit mandatory retirement or other employment prac
tices where age is a bona fide occupational qualification teasonably necessary to 
normal operation of a particular activity .... It is recognized that certain mental 
and physical capacities may decline with age and in some jobs with unusually high 
demands, age may be considered a factor in hiring and retaining workers. For exam
ple, Jobs such as some of those in air traffic control and law enforcement and fire 
fighting have very strict physical requirements on which the public safety depends." 
(Emphasis supplied.) Former FBI Director Clarence M. Kelley in tesifying; before 
the Subcommittee on Compensation and Employee Benefits Committee on Post 
Office and Civil Service on September 29, 1977 noted: 

"The officer faced with an armed 01' otherwise dangerous assailant is not con
cerned with 'minutes.' Unless physically and psychologically able to meet the de
mands of the situation the officer or others may lose their lives. Likewise, even more 
commonplace duties fre<l,uently make extraordinary demands upon physical and 
psychological capabilities. ' 

"Long hours of surveillance in often hostile environments or the ri~ors of a hos
tage negotiation over many hours cannot be measured in pounds lifted. ' 

State police officers like FBI officers must be able to meet the challenges that face 
them on a moments notice. In the words of former Director Kelley speaking in sup
port of 11 retirement plan for FBI agents stated: 

"For both the welfare of the individual and the safety of the public which counts 
on agents being able to adequately perform their duties-which may often include 
decisions affecting human life and personal property-we must strive to insure re
tirement before vigor and physical ability begin to ebb." 

The New York State Police has conducted un in depth teview and analysis of 
work performance of Troopers as effected by age. We have found that age does 
greatly effect the ability of the police officer to perform his or her duties. Our study 
has demonstrated: that as age increased-shooting scores decreased; use of and 
length of sick leave increases with age; driving skills decrease; disubility \'etirement 
increases; work levels decrease; number of al'1'ests and investigations decrease; and 
driver reaction time incl'eases. 

The great majority of New York State Police Officers "self tetire" at an eady age 
with the average retirement at age of 47. A questionnaire that wus sent to all our 
retired police officers indicated that the vast majority of them felt that they could 
no langeI' physically do the job at age 53. The active officers' response to a question
naire indicated a strong support for the present mandatory retirement provisions. 

Police work is a twenty four hour a day business. Afternoon and night tours of 
duty and short swings (return to duty after an eight hour break) take their toll. We 
know that the police profession is an extremely stressful one and that police "bum 
out" is a difficult problem for police administrators. 

We also know that this stress and othel' factors caUse the police officer to be a 
leading candidate for a heart attack. One study has found that the life expectancy 
of a police officer is only eight years after retirement. There is an enormous in
crease in the likelihood at age 55 of being the victim of a heart attack, especially for 
police officers. Howevel', no one that we are aware of, has been able to predict with 
a sufficient degree of accuracy which individual officers are at risk to suffer a heart 
attack. 

Further, most people when entering the police profession do so with the hope that 
they will be able to work themselves up the career ladder. Mandatory retirement 
helps ensure that there are sufficient openings to keep the promotional aspirations 
of young officers alive. This, in tUrn, helps with motivation and morale, and thus 
helps improve the quality of police services. 

Maximum entry level uges are required to ensure that officers begin their service 
when they are young enough to attain twenty years of service prior to retirement. 
We also know that younger officers are more trainable and adapt better to the para
military structure which characterizes most law enforcement agencies. 

Perhaps there are some 40, 50, or 60 year old individuals who could meet the 
physical fitness requirements necessary to become a police officer. However, when 
the high cost of training including acquiring the experience necessary to become an 
effective police officer and disability pensions (our disability retirements increase 
greatly as age increases) nre considered, it makes little sense to eliminate the statu
tory maximum entry level ages. 

Under the "BFOQ defense" test as it is presently being interpreted by EEOC, we 
believe it improbable that any law enforcement employet will be able to prove the 
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applicability of this defense to an age discrimination claim ogaiust n muximum 
entry level age requirement. 

EEOC has commenced a number of lawsuits ~round the country asserting that 
statuh)l'ily established maximum entry level ages und mundatory retirement ages 
violate the Age Discrimination Employment Act. These litigations are extremely 
costly und time consuming, '1'0 date the litigutions have been largely a "bottle of the 
experts," 'l'he litigations have consumed lengthy periods of time und have had dif
fering results. Recently the Second Circuit Court of Appeals has upheld a finding of 
age discrimination by Judge Curtin, U.S. District Court Judge, Western District of 
New York, with respect to entry level age. 

The Court noted, however, that euch locality had the oppormnity to relitigate the 
issue and commented "It seem a somewhat anomalous for the lawfulness of malli
mum age limits on police hiring to depend on the particular evidence presented at 
various court trials throughout the Country." 770 F2d 12, 15. 

Absent the possoge of legislation to exempt iow enforcoment employers from the 
age discrimination provisions of the ADEA we anticipate that litigation on this 
issue will continue for many yeurs to COme with no clear judicial resolution of this 
issue. 'rhis issue we urge is cleurly most appropriately determined by legiillation. 

Accordingly, r strongly urge your suppor~ of HR 1435 to resolve this issue and 
permit State legislatures to establish reasollable maximum entry level ages and 
mandatory retirement ages /'01' state and local law enrol'cement omeers, 
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league of California Cities 

Tho Honorable flatthew G. 11a.'tinez 
Chairman 

Sacramento, CA 
1·larch 5, 1986 

House Subcommittee on Employment Opportun it i es 
A518 HOB Annex I 
Washington, DC 20515 

Dear Congressman Martin0z: 

The League of California Cities is an association of all the 
state's 441 incorporated c1ties. All the cities are members of 
this associal:ion Which was formed by Mayor James Phelan of San 
Franci sco in 1898. 

We are pl eased to have thi s opportunity to express our 
wholehearted support of HR 1435. The oven/helming majority of 
cities in California wil'i'lJil(ffrectly assisted by the approval of 
this narrowly drawn legislation to permit state and local 
governments to retire police and firefighters at an age below 70 
and to impose a maximum entry level age on applicants for these 
public safety member positions. We agree that the Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA) should continue to protect 
police and firefighters with respect to all other forms of age 
discrimination, i.e., promotions, transfer~, compensation, fringe 
benefits, incluMlng pensions, and al1 othe'l' privileges and 
conditions of employment. 

An examination of ~~a purposes for which t~e ADEA was enacted in 
the light of trulY civil rights issues makes it abundantly clear 
that the reasons for the Act no more apl'/Y to state and local law 
enforcement and flreflghting personnel than to those federal 
firefighting and law enforcement officers Congress saw fit to 
exempt from the AOEA, or to the 60-year old airline pilots and bus 
drivers e~cluded from the below 70 mandatol-y retirement limits by 
EEOC. The CongreSSional statement of findings and purposes, 29 
U.S.C. Section 621, declares that: 

"(l) In the face of rising productivity and affluence, older 
workers fi nd themselves di sadvantaged i n th~i r efforts to 
retain employment, and especial1y to regain employment When 
displaced from their jobs;" 

"(2) the setting of arbitrary age limits regardless of 
potential for job performance has become a common practice, 
and certain otherwise desirable practices may work to the 
disadvantage of older persons:" 

CONFERENCE REgiSTRATION OFFICE 
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"(3) the incidence of unemployment, especially long-term 
unemployment with resultant deterioration of skill, morale, 
and employer acceptability is, relative to the younger ages, 
high among older workors; their numbers are great and growing; 
and thai r employment probl ems grave;" 

"(4) the existence in industries affecting commerce, or . 
arbitrary discrimination in employment because of age, burdens 
commerce and the free flow of goods in commerce." 

First, older pol ice and firefighters have not found themselves 
disadvant.qnd in their efforts to retain employment or, 
especially, to regain employment when displaced from jobs. It is 
a matter of common knowledge that police and firefighter pension 
systems provide substantially higher benefits at nn earlier age 
because of the physical demands on those performing firefighting 
and law ehforcement functions. It is seriously questioned Whether 
public safety officers in and beyond the middle years can meet 
these demands. It is a fact that increased age is generally 
accompanied with higher risks, morEl incidents of job-related 
disabil ity retirements and additional workers compensation costs. 
In Cal ifornia we not only have substantially higher pension 
benefits at an early retirement age for publ ic safety members, but 
disability, deat~ and survivor benefits are available on the first 
day of employment. In addition, full salary in lieu of lflsser 
weekly workers' compensation beMfits is provided for any 
service--connected injury or disease. These benefits are not 
shared by miscellaneous employees--all those other than pol ice and 
firefighters. Nor is there any upper age 1 imit for retirement of 
miscellaneous employees. When the California Legislature, prior 
to the Supreme Court Baltimore dec I si on, without ob,jecti on from 
any employers, removed the upper age limit of 70 for miscellaneous 
employees, it also refused to eliminate the mandatory ages of 60 
and 65 for safety personnel. 

Second, publ ie agencies always have had an early retirement age 
for pollce and firefighters. It is not a recent trend nor is it 
an arbitrary age limit regardless of potential for jol 
performance. As one of our appellate courts recently so noted in 
a handicap discrimination case: 

"firefighting involves not only a close relationship to the 
public interElst and welfare, but also requires unique physical 
skil 1 s and technical knowl edge. Fi ref! gh ~ers must possess the 
physical abilities to climb ladders under' dangerous 
conditions, carrying hoses or other heavy equipment necessary 
to ext i ngui sh fl ames and the phys i cal abil ity necessary to 
safely carry persons from burning structures. During the 
course of their responsibilities, firefighters are called upon 
to perform many demanding tasks to avert physical harm to 
themselves--ahd to the public." Johnson v. Civil Service 
Commission of the cit¥....9.Lsaj Diego, 84 Daily Journal D.A.R. 
ror8'\C~larch 23, 1984 
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The court could have added that these strenuous duties often must 
be carried on for many hours under conditions of great stress. 
The physical demands 0n law enforcement personnel are equally 
great although diff'.ring in kind. We believe it is clear that the 
duties of public Hfety personnel are such that age is definitely 
a qual ification for job performance. 

Third, the incidents of unemployment, especial1y long term, WhOa 
high among older workers, as noted by the ADEA, has been 
non-exi stent inCa 1 i fornia among pol ice and fi refighters even 
during our most racent recession or bacausa of Proposition 13. If 
there were layoffs because of drastic budget cuts, the reductions 
in publ ic services generally were made in departments other than 
thosa involved with public safety. As a matter of fact, in the 
last two fiscal years, many of our local agencies h.ve increased 
the number of law enforcement officers while continuing to hold 
the line on other governmental services. The same taxpayers who 
I'esent and resist most governmental expenditures support and 
encourage increased fi refighti ng and poll ce protecti on servi ces 
and additional compensation and fringe benefits for police and 
fi refighters. 

Finally, as to the finding of arbitrary age discrimination in 
employment in industries affecting the flow of commerce, the focus 
in on ~rivate business, not firefighting or law enforcement 
actlv',ties. 

We .gree with the U.S. Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit, that 
Cc,ngress itself has established a bona fide occupational 
q~al1flcation (BFOQ) for law enforcement. and fireflghting 
per'sonnel by subjecting federal police and firefight ing employess 
to early retirement. In Johnson v. flayor and City Council of 
Baltimore, the court said: 

"The same Congress that extended the ADEA to the states and 
their political subdivisions reinvigorated the requirement 
mandating retirement as a general matter at 55 for federal 
poli ce and fl refight i ng employees." 

"Where Congress Itself has deemed age to be a bona fide 
occupati ana 1 qual Hi cali on for federal fi refighters, we 
perceive no justification for ignoring the congressional 
mandate in ascertaining a reasonable federal standard by which 
to measure flrefighting in the City of Baltimore •••• 

"Both federal and city fire fighters are engaged in extremely 
stressful and hazardous activities designed to promote public 
safety. Absent a detel'lIIlnation that age, specifically no more 
than 55 as a general rule, is a bona fide occupational 
qualification for firefighters, we would be compelled to 
conclude that Congress, in authorizing the automatic 
retirement of federal police and firefighting personnel, 
adopted an occupational qualification that is not, or might 
nat be, bona fide, A court snollid not I ightly make such a 
determination as to congressional purpose." 
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Again, we know that the physical demands on police are no less 
strenuous than on firefighters. 

While the Supreme court reached a different conclusion in the 
Baltimore case than the Circuit Court, it nevertheless had the 
candor to note: 

"As with the voluntary retirement scheme, one goal of the 1974 
amendment was to maintain "relativaly young, vigorous, and 
effective 1aw enforcement and firefighting workforces .•• 

"Congress undoubtedly sought in Significant part to maintain a 
youthful workforce and took steps through the civil service 
ret i rement pravi s ions to make early reti rement both attract i ve 
and financial rewarding." Johnsjln vs. Mayor and City Council 
of BaltimQ!:£, 86 LEd. 2d 286, 295. 

This is precisely why California and other states established 
early retirement for safety personnel and made it attractive and 
rewarding. 

Most cities in California are members of tho Public tmployees 
Retirement System (359). The law was amended in 1939 to permit 
cities and other local entities to join the actuarially sound 
state retirement system. The PERS law permits retirement of 
safety personnel at ages 50 or 55 and, prior to September 1985 and 
the aaltimore Decision, required retirement at ages 60 or 65, 
depending on the retirement formLlla. Hast safety personnel in 
PERS have the so-called CIlP formula with permissive retirement at 
age 50 of Z percent of final compensation for each year of service 
and retirement required at age 60. A less costly formula is 2 
percent at age 55 with \'etirement required at 65. As indicated 
earl iel', there is no mandatory retirement age for all ather 
employees and the benefHs are substantially less. We changed our 
law in 1985 on1y after Baltimore and after constant harassment by 
EEOC. ---

Many, and perhaps mast, pubi ic safety retirements in Cal i fornia in 
the last 4 or 5 years have been disabil ity and voluntary service 
retirements well in advance of the mandatory 60 or 65 retirement 
reqUirements. The IIOEA and Baltimota have simply provided a 
Windfall for a few highly paTdiiilcfliTgh ranking pol ice and fire 
officials who came up through the ranks knowing and expecting 
early retirement .with its greater benefits. 

Why the problem, then, if we have so fOli mandatory retirements? 
Fi rs t ,our state 1 ali whi ch for 1 ong-establl shed poll cy reasons 
required retirement of safety personnel at ages 60 or 65 depending 
on benefit formulas, Second, EEOC has, during the last three 
years, vigorously pursued its investigation and enforcemer.t 
po: icies against 1 lterally h~ndreds of PERS contract agencies even 
when there have been no complainant retirees. Even without 
complainant retirees, EEOC has followed up its "letters of 
violation" liith "Conciliation agreements" when there has been 
nothing to concil iate. We have attached copies of the typical 
1etters of investigation (wlth questionnaire) and letters of 
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violation. Granted EEOC has an enforcement responsibil ity, the 
mandatory retirement age for PERS cities was in a state law 
administered by the State Public Employees' Retirement System. 
E(OC should have pursued its enforcement responsibil ities against 
the Legislature of the State of California and PERS rather than 
against hundreds of cities and other local entities that are 
powerless to change that law. lie are confident that if ~EOC in 
other areas of the United States had been as active under the same 
circumstances as in Cal ifornia, that the demands for H.R. 1435 
would be overwhelming, We know, and have been advlsed,t11at£here 
is a substantially similar problem in Oregon, Washington. and 
other states, and we hope that your Committee will have heard from 
these and other $tates during the time testimony may be submitted 
on !l.R. 1435. Unfortunately, a significant amount of EEOC budget 
is SffTlbeTri'g used to pursue litigation against cities arising 
out of our former state 1aw. 

flany state and local law enforcement ann firef'ghting agencies 
a1so fix a maximum entry level age from 31 to 36. It is apparent 
that the increasing level of tecl.nical skills and physical 
capabll ities required of firefighters and pol ice require a major 
Investment by public agencies to place a police officer on the 
street or a firefighter at the scene of a fire. Two years ago, 
Police Chief Gates of the City of Los Angeles adVised that it 
required an expendit\lre of S7l,OOO per recruit to take a police 
trainee through the probation period. If reth'cment at half pay 
after 20 or 25 years is permitted, It makes 1 ittle sense to train 
older applicants who wlll lack the physical ability to perform all 
the functions of the position within a period of a few years. 
Whether half-pay levels fo;" retirement are reached at ages 40, 50, 
or 55, the phYSical demands of the job and the stress situations 
frequently encauntered require younger personnel. 

Host small department, (less than 200\ do not have enough 
administrative positions to accommodate older police or 
firefighters no longer capable of active front-line police 
pratection or firefighting. To meet budget demands, the high 
costs of these two departments which generally take over half a 
municipal budget have been reduced by "civil ianizing" many of the 
positions. The "light duty" assignments that are nvaflable are 
genCl'ally occupied by those Who have suffered some disability and 
are not capable of performing all the duties of the position. 

We have read where EEOC has a very 1 imited budget and yet in using 
a substantial amount of It on this single issue less is available 
for discriminatory practices involving race, colot', sex, religi~n, 
and national origin. Not only has an enormous amount of staff 
time and publ ic funds been expended on responding to EEOC 
investigation charges and demands for conciliation agt-eements, but 
the time and funds expended could have been directed to more 
productive public use. ~,!l.! ... J.11.~ is needed now not only to treat 
state and local police and flreflghtet's as Congress has federal 
law enforcement and flreflghtlng personnel, but to enable EEOC to 
direct its scarce funds to more fundamental civil rights 
Violations. 
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Finally, we cannot help but note that H.R. 1435 Is a 
labor-management measure. It has the support of firefighter and 
police unions and associations and it has tho support of public 
employers and their associations. 

Sincerely, 

'-1~ 7h-~.:1(..(' 
Pat Russel1 
President 

OB/KM/wg 
kate.pub 

Enclosures 

cC: Congressman Matthew J. Rinaldo 
Congressman \/111 i am J. Hughes 
Senator Don Nickles 
Senator Bill Brad10y 
Senator J. Danforth Quayle 

" -) 

/ ~!!;;4...~ ~ 
okBenning£OVen' 
Execut i ve 01 rector 
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EEOC 

3255 WILSHIRE BLVD" UTH FLOOR 
LOS ANGELES. CALIFORNIA ;0010 

Charge C 092832443 

The f.qual E;'ploytncnt Opportnn! ty Commission i. re'ponuible for the administration 
and enforc."""t of the Age Discrimination in EIaplo"...nc Act of 1967, aa lUIIended, 
29 U.S.C. 621, eC seq~ (ADU)_ The ADEA. protects worker. aged 40 to 70 fro ... 
diBcdmlnAtion in auch matters .8 hir~n~. dischatlt". compenut10n, and otber 
terea, condi tion8, or privilege. of employment. 

Thi. 1. to advi.e you that the Cnmmission baa scheduled an investigation of you~ 
City to decere.1ne compliance with tbe ADU. The revie .. will be conducted un~er 
the .uthority of Section 7 of the ADEA and 29 C.1!.R_ Section 1627. 

In order. to facilitate thi. inve8cigatioa,. pl.ase sead the information requeated 
on the att.ched questionnaire to thi. office within 30 vork. day.. Please call me 
at (213) 688-3483 if you have lilly que.tioWl concerning this proce ••• 

Sincerely, 

Equal Opportunity Specia.l1a~ (Age) 
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REQUEST FOR 1NFORMATION 

The questions should be ans""red .. to all employees e .. ployed by the City 
or noy of It. agencies. 

I. Docs the ctty employ employees who are required to retire before the, 
, reach the age of 701 

2. If so, 

PI~a.e Hat every job classification that 1& subject to llandatory 
retl rell><!nt before the age of 70. 

I 

State the d~te that retire .. ent before the age of 70 UAS first required 
for each such job classification. 

Slale the age at which employees In each such job category .re required 
to r"ll reo 

.;.,.... ..'" .. " . ',' '" 
3. If any of the job classifications Identified by you 1n your ansver'tO 

quesllon number 2 Is subject to ... ndatory retirelllent before the age of 
70 under a State or local law, please Identify the job classification 
together with the applicable State or local l.w(~). 

4. Do~s the City have a contract with the California State Public E .. ployee's 
Retirement S~stem to 8dmi~i8ter Its retirement progr~1 

5. f'or each job category listed In your response to question number 2, 
pro~ld" the follow1ng lnfonutlon for each employee tbat hi!.. retired 
.Jnce Hay, 1980: 

(.) NalDei 

(b) Job Title on the date of retirement; 

(cl LaH known ho ... address; 

(d) Last knolm home telephone number; 

(e) Dllte of reti rementj 

t en Date of bl r-th. 

b. for e.lch job category l1st"d In your rcapon'lle to question number 2, 
provld~ the follow1ng. inforlllation for each ell\ployel\ "ho is currently 
b.t~c~n the ages of 59 and 70: 

(a) No ... ; 

(b) Job Title on the dat" of retirement; 

(c) Last known ho~ address; 

(d) Last knoun home tel"ph~ne number; 

(e) Date that be/she ulII be required to retire; 

(f) DaLe oC birth. 

7. lio~ lllay .mployees nre currently e .. ployed by ehe City? 

a. S~l'ar"tely f"r ench 
number 2, 5t~te the 
~mploy"d In that job 
of 70. 

job category ~ iseed in your answer to question 
r".son(.) lor the requirement that employees 

cllte'lot)' must retire before they reach the age 
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../7 
-7' ,l(/· ~> 

/' ~ /' UNITED ~ ES GOV~NME t 
EQUAL EMPLOYM~tI OPPO t;N1 MMISSION 

" /' 

GOBIERNO OE LOS EST ADOS UNIDOS 
COMIStON DB IGUAlOAO DE O?-OR1'Ut-UOAO EN EL EMP\.EO 

1M P,EPJ,.'t REFER 1Q 

Charge Number: 092832345 

Equal Employment Opportunity Cocmlssion 
3255 \Illshire Boulevard, 9th Floor (Age) 
Los Angeles, CalHorni. 90010 --"dl.c--,--~-, I Charging 

and 

Hayor 
Ci ty of San Clemente 
100 Avenlda Presidio 
San Clemente, CsIlforni. 

~ 1ft\\ Ir~ <4\ 
9 ~\.\k\ .. ';~.! ' .. 1 

~ 9 \9S4 r "_I 

r;. J r.. ! San Clemo"'. 
'" t\I1 ~\'IloIan'~.lS ..:!.~ 

92672 (~~\~ " 
\/ 

Attention: George A. Carnval ho (u i<>\ 

Party 

City Manager Respondent 

LETTER OF VIOLATION 

1 issue on beh.lf of the Com_Jssion, the following findings as to Bubj<ct 
respondent's compliance with the Age Discrim!nation in Employment Act of 
1967, •• omAnded (ADEA). 

The Commission has determined that the. above-named respondent has discr1m
inated against Its protected age group (PAG) employees by requiring that Safety 
Employees retire before the age of Seventy (70), in violation of Section 4(a)0) 
.nd (2) of the APEA. 

Section 7(b) of the Act requires that before instituting any action, the 
Commission shall attempt to eliminate the discriminatory practice or prac
tice. alleged, ond to effect voluntary compliance with the requi rements of 
the Act through intonD} ltle~hods of cl/nc11intion, conference, and persunsion. 
S.ction 7(0)(2) of the Act provide. that the statute of limitations period 
which is app]Jcable to Commission enforcement will be tolled for lOP to one 
yeat: nfte ... conciliation is begun. 

This determination will serve 85 notification that the Com" ,sion is prepared 
to cOmmence conciliation in accordance with 57(b). Th. ~eriod .luting ..,hich 
the statute of limitations is tolled, a. provided J' ,7Ce)(?) ..• b<gins upon 
issuance of this letter. 

----------------------------------------------.------~~ 
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Charge Numberl 092832345' 
Page a 

It 1& the policy of the CommissIon to notify the person(s) aggrieved of the 
violations IOhlch are the subject of this determination of their hld.pondenc 
right of action under the ADM. lIoweve,-, "t' plan to wi thhold Bueh lIetion fo~ 
at least 10 days In order 1;0 proylde you with M opportunity to discuss this 
mAtter further. Equal Opportunity Speeldtat Fred Brown will contact you 
shortly to lIrrange a meeting concerning th1,1 matter. 

ON BEHALF OF THE COMMISSION: 

Enclosure: AOEA 
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UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT 
EaUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION w ____ ~ ____ ~ ______________________________________ ~~ __ ~ __ -------

OOO/EANO uE LOS ESTAOOS UN/DOS l2$5 WllSHIR~ elVO., 911< FLOOR 
COM/S/ON DE /OUA~OAO OE OPOATUN/OAO EN EL EMP~EO LOS ANOElES, CALIFORNIA 00010 

CONCILIATION ACREEMENT 

tn the !Mtter of: 

u. S. ~QUAL £HnOYHENT OPPORTUNIn COIlHISSION, 

Charga 110. i 

vs. 

An ~nv.st~g.tion having been made under the Age Discrimination in Employment 
Act (ADEA) by the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (the Conllnlssion) 
nnd • Letter of Yiol~tion h.vLng been issued, the parties do resolve allJ CUII
cUi.te this !Mtter As follo\.ls: 

1. CENERAL PROVISIONS 

I. It 1. understood that this Agreeme!lt doe~ not constitute nn ndmisslull by 
resp~ndent of any violation of ADE .... 

2. The Commiasion hereby ",aives. releases and COVf:nonts not to sue tc!;pont.iunt 
\.lith respoct to any mutter of speeLH" rul1.f con.ilLtrted 1n thls AgruU"'ollL; 
provided, hO\.lcver, that the Commi •• ion reserves all rlshts to proeo"u IIltl, 
respect to !Mtters like and rehted to toese matters but not euv"rud In 
this Agreement and to seeure relief all behalf of augria_eu persons not Ollvu,.",1 
by the terms of this Agreement. 

3. Nothing in this Agreement sh.ll be construed to predudu the Com1s~iun ,,,"I/ .. r 
any QssrieY(!d indivIuuals from bringing suit to unforcu this Agrr.!tJI1Icllt. ill 
the event that r&spondenc Eails to perform thu prolnistls and rt!prl!stJucat lVI\u 
contained herdll. 

4. The r.opondent agrees tho' it shall.eooply \.lith all requirements· of tho AU/i,\. 



90 

Condliatlon Agreement ~ Page 2 

4. The Respondent Bsreos that it shall comply lIith all requ~remeat5 of the ADEA. 

S. Tho Partio!l ngree thnt thero Bhall be no diacriminntion or ret.Hation of 
any kind against any person because of oPl,osicion to nny practice deciared 
unln.,ful under the ADllA, or because of the rUing of a cnargoi sivins of 
testimony or assistance; or participation in nny manner in any laVegUcation, 
proceeding, or hear~ng under tho IIDEA. 

6. Th. respondent agre •• thnt tho Commission ""':I reviell compllnn •• lIith thin 
AgrcelIlllnt. A9 a part of such reviell tho Commission may reqUire written 
reports governing compliance, ""'Y inspect che pre",i.e. at reaBonable times, 
interv.l.ell employees, and examine Bnd copy relevant documents. 

PERMANENT RELIEf' 

7, a. City Policy: 

The City of nllr~~s to "unounce as n City 
policy that it does not require 4n employee to retire prior to ~he .ge of 
Seventy (70). 1n the ~vent th!1t Public Employees Retirement System (l'ERS) 
requires a safetY,elllployee to retire at aSe Sixty (60) or G1xt~f1v. (65), 
thl! Clty lIill offer continued - employmen~ in the s.m. position. 
Tho above agre.ment docs not preclude a safety employee IIho lIishe. to 
voluntArily retire nt age sixty (60) or earlier from dolng so. 

b. A~llrioved IndiVidual Relief: 

Respondent asreeS to reinstate ___________________ _ 
to the posLtion of --:--:--:_:-:-:-_____ _ 
nnd to pay ------ the gr:'ss Ilmount of 
1n one installo,.rtt '01\\111.1\ .1101l conatlcute full and complete snt"1"::s"'f-,,""c:"t1"'o:"n:-o~t 
any and all claim. for employment or othenJ1s" IIhith sh~/he may hllVe (\~nil\"L 
respondene. Payment will be completed by the week .ndie,s _______ _ 
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ConciUation Agreement - Pase 3 

a. rh~ respondent agreco that it shall forward to Jesus Estrada-Melendez, 
District Director, snt1sfnctory nn9urnnce(s) thnt it llas compUed with the 
term. of thi9 Agreement by ___________________ _ 

S IGNATUtteS 

1 have read the foregOing Agreement and accept and agree to its praVio!ono. 

SigM~ure of Reopondent Pata 

Approved on Behalf of the Commission: 

JESUS ESTRAOA-HELENDEZ, Director Date 
Los AIIaeles District Office 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE NATIONAL LEAGUE OF CITIES 

The National League of Cities (NLC), the nation's largest and most representative 
municipal organization, represents 16,000 cities through direct membership and 
membership in 49 affiliated state municipal leagues. On March 9, NLC's Board of 
Directors adopted policy calling for the enactment of legislation to exempt state and 
local public safety employees from the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 
1967 (ADEA). 

The ADEA prohibits age-based discrimination against workers between the ages 
of 40 and 70 and was extended to state and local employees by Congress in 1974. 
NLC strongly supports the basic objective of the ADEA: The prohibition of age-based 
discrimination in employment practices. However, we believe that the ADEA should 
be amended to recognize the unique conditions of employment as a police officer or 
firefighter. The ADEA includes a provision exempting employees from its protec
tions if the employer establishes that "age is a bona fide occupational qualification 
reasonably necessary to the normal operation of the particular business." 29 U.S.C. 
Section 623(0(1). This so-called BFOQ provision (which, on its face, would appear to 
cover public safety employees) has been applied inconsistently by the courts and reg
ulatory agencies and, as a consequence, cities cannot readily use the provision for 
public safety purposes. 

Mandatory early retirement for public safety employees is generally supported by 
both employees and employers. Because of the physically demanding and stressful 
nature of law enforcement and firefighting work, it is necessary for both health and 
public safety reasons. Additionally, a clear national policy defining the circum
stances in which early retirement can be required for public safety employees 
should be established to enhance the ability of ci ties to develop long range plans for 
financing payroll and retirement costs. 

There are many reasons why state and local employees engaged in public safety 
activities should be exempt from the ADEA, including the physically stressful char
actel' of the work and the difficulties involved in developing reliable, safe, and cost
efficient tests of an individual's physical fitness. In the absence of clear standards 
governing the circumstances in which a mandatory retirement age of less than 70 
years of age can be used for police officers and firefighters, the ADEA will hamper 
the provision of basic public safety and fire protection services. 

EXISTING RETIREMF:NT PRACTICES FOR PUBLIC SAFETY EMPLOYEES 

States and localities have generally established compensation plans which provide 
high salaries and generous retirement benefits at an early age and are intended to 
reflect the risks and skills involved in fighting fires and crime. These plans are pri
marily financed by tax revenues and, as a consequence, states and localities must 
develop long-term plans to meet these financial obligations, including plans for fi
nancing the cost:; of pension benefits for retirees and salaries for public safety em
ployees. Neither immediate nor long-term financial obligations can be readily deter
mined if a uniform and predictable retirement age for firefighters and police officers 
cannot be established. 

Retirement plans and benefits 
In 1982, an estimated $1.555 billion was distributed to retired police officers and 

firefighters by pension systems of limited applicability (i.e., systems established 
solely for police officers andlor firefighters) as retirement benefits. Employee-Retire
ment Systems of State and Local Governments, 1982 Census of Governments, U.S. 
Dep't of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, Table 6. The total sum paid to retired 
police officers and firefighters in pension benefits is many times that amount when 
benefits received by police officers and firefighters each year from retirement sys
tems of general applicability are taken into account. According to the Census 
Bureau, full time police officers and firefighters employed by states and localities 
nationwide numbered 853,000 and earned $21.048 billion in 1984, Public Employ
ment in 1984, U.S. Dep't of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, Tables 3 and 4. Thus, 
the amount of state and local government revenues allocated to salaries and retire
ment benefits for state and local public safety personnel is substantial. 

In numerous cases, firefighters and police officers are members of small separate 
retirement systems and retire at a relatively early age under these systems. Pension 
Task Force Report on Public Employee Retirement Systems, House Committee on 
Education and Labor, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. (March 15, 1978) at 103. For example, the 
number of retirement systems which specifically apply to public safety personnel is 
1685, according to the Bureau of the Census. Employee-Retirement Systems of State 
and Local Government, 1982 Census of Governments, U.S. Department of Com-
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merce, Bureau of the Census, Table 7. This number does not even include the larger 
retirement systems of general applicability wplch cover other public employees as 
well as public safety personnel. 

The 1685 retirement systems which cover only public safety personnel have 
338,254 public safety employees as members and assets of $18.104 billion. There are 
675 systems covering firefighters, 802 covering police officers, and 208 which cover 
beth firefighters and police officers. The fact that these systems are small (and 
therefore not broad-based) makes the establishment of clear standards for compulso
ry retirement all the more important. 

The systems are usually small, having on the average only 201 members, and, as 
a result, increases in the payments to individual beneficiaries will have a major 
effect on the overall condition of the system and the ability to meet obligations to 
retirees. For example, if a 62-year old firefighter suffers a heart attack and is enti
tled to disability pay for the rest of his or her life, the cost to the city will be in 
excess of the normal cost of retirement. 

State laws 
Some 33 states require early retirement for police officers and/or firefigthers by 

state law. In many cases, these compulsory retirement requirements are part of 
laws establishing pension rights for police officers or firefighters and underscore a 
direct linkage between retirement age and retirement benefits. For example, in 
California, firefighters may be involuntarily retired at age 60 after 20 years of serv
ice and are entitled to 50 percent of the salary received in the year prior to retire
ment. Cal. Government Code Section 50870. In New Jersey, police officers and fire
fighters are required by state law to retire at age 65. N.J. Rev. Stat. Section 17:4-
6.14. 

Massachusetts' state law requires that police officers retire at 65 and provides 
pension benefits of 60 percent of the highest annual rate of compensation plus one 
percent of that compensation for every year worked in excess of 20 (but not to 
exceed 72 percent of the final year's pay). Mass. Gen. Laws Ann. ch. 32, Section 
83A(d). In Wyoming, the mandatory retirement age for police officers is 60 percent 
and retirement benefits are calculated by multiplying 2.5 percent of the average 
salary during the five highest paid years times the number of years of service (but 
not to exceed 62.5 percent of the average salary during the five highest paid years). 
WYO. STAT. Section 15-5-307. Other states with similar laws which apply to city 
public safety personnel include Wisconsin and Minnesota. 

In these states, cities are caught hetween a rock and a hard place, with the state 
setting one set of rules and the Federal Government setting another set of rules. In 
many cases, it is impossible to comply with both sets of requirements. 

Retirement ages 
A recent survey of 100 large cities show that 83 percent used a mandatory retire

ment age of 50 to 55. Flynn and Silver, "Police Selection" at 47. Assuming that this 
pattern also applies to fire departments. then, by applying the relevant percentage 
(i.e., 83 percent) to the total number of police and fire retirE'ment systems (i.e., 1685), 
it can be estimated that 1399 of those systems are not in compliance with the 
ADEA. Section 12(a) (29 U.S.C. Section 631(a)) defines the persons covered by the 
ADEA as "individuals who are at least 40 years of age but less than 70 years of 
age" and clearly covers any person who is rE'quired to retire at age 50 or 55. 

Generally, public safety personnel ate allowed to retire at age 50 or 55 after 20 
years of service and, in some cases, after 20 years of service regardless of age. Pen
sion Task Force Report on Public Employee Retirement Systems (Pension Task 
Force Report), House Committee on Education and Labor, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. 
(March 15, 1978) at 105. Virtually all other state and local employees are not eligi
ble for a pension until a much later age (e.g., at age 65 for members of large munici
pal retirement systems). Id. 

In order to operate a city police or fire department, a city must have the financial 
resources to compensate its police officers and firefighters properly, both while they 
are active members of the police or fire force and when they are retired. These are 
concurrent and related obligations. In other words, salaries and retirement benefits, 
including the number of employees and retirees eligible for each type of payment at 
any given time, must be determinable in order to run a city. 

A mandatory retirement age for public safet}' employees clearly establishes the 
maximum number of years during which a polIce officer or a firefighter will be a 
salaried employee; it also establishes, with some degree of certainty, the date on 
which the city must begin making retirement payments. A mandatory retirement 
age also enables the city to determine the number of new police officers and fire-
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fighters which it must hire in a given year in order to replace retiring public safety 
personnel and maintain the active force at the necessary level. 

For example, if the mandatory retirement age for firefighters in a particular year 
is 55 and the city has 100 active firefighters who are 54 years of age this year, earn 
an average annual salary of $30,000, and have an average life expectancy of 70, two 
very important factors are readily determinable. First, the city will need to hire 100 
new firefighters in 1987 to maintain current staffing levels and, assuming a retire
ment system that provides retirees with 60 percent of the final year's salary, the 
city will be obligated to pay those retirees the equivalent of $27 million in 1986 dol
lars (.60 X $30,000 = $18,000; $18,000 X 15 years =$270,000 per retired firefighter; 
$270,000 X 100 retired firetighters=$27,000,000l in retirement benefits. That fact is 
essential in determining how much money should be set aside to finance its retire
ment system. 

If, on the other hand, the city is precluded from setting and enforcing a mandato
ry retirement age, as is effectively the case under the recent Supreme Court inter
pretations of the BFOQ provisions of the ADEA, it must assume that the retirement 
age is 70 and plan accordingly. The result will be widespread uncertainty, particu
larly where voluntary retirement is permitted and encouraged (retirement at an 
early age is authorized by state or local law or a collective bargaining agreement in 
virtually all cases). There will be uncertainty as to the number of firefighters which 
a city hire in a particular year because the number of vacancies caused by retire
ment will not be determinable. 

Method for calculation of retirement benefits 
The pension benefits paid to police officers and firefighters tend to be high be

cause of the method used in calculation pension benefits. For example, nearly 33 
percent of the police and fire pension plans tie retirement benefits directly to the 
employee's rate of pay for his or her final day of work or for the final year of em
ployment; an additional 36 percent use the average pay for the final two to five 
years of work as the basis for calculating retirement benefits. Pension Task Force 
Report at 114. Moreover, the formula for calculating retirement benefits is normally 
based on a relatively large multiplier. For 35 percent of the systems, benefits are 
determined by mUltiplying the compensation base times 50 to 60 percent. Id. 

In 53 percent of the systems, retirement benefits are calculated by mUltiplying 
the number of years of service times a specified percentage. Id. A single rate (i.e., 
the same rate is used for each year of service) is used for 17 percent of the systems 
and a variable rate (i.e., the rate applicable to the earlier years of service may be 
higher or lower than the rate applicable to later years) for 36 percent of the sys
tems. Id. The benefit formulas used for police and fire retirement plans tend to be 
more favorable for retirees than those used for federal civil service retirees. For ex
ample, 70 percent of the police and fire retirement systems which use the single 
rate benefit systems use a multiplier of 2.5 percent or more while only 25 percent of 
similar federal retirement systems use a multiplier of that magnitude. Id. Thus, 
pension costs may be increased by allowing the deferral of retirement to a later 
date, thereby establishing a higher base salary than originally anticipated when the 
city planned on the employee retiring at an earlier retirement date and a lower 
salary. 

ROI,E OF THE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION 

The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) has authority under the 
ADEA to promulgate rules and regulations implementing the provisions of the 
ADEA, including the authority to "establish such reasonable exemptions to and 
from any or all provisions of [the ADEA]." 29 U.S.C. Section 628. See also Section 2 
of Reorg. Plan No.1 of Feb. 23, 1978, 43 Fed. Reg. 19807, as provided by section 1-
101 of Ex. Or. No. 12106 of Dec. 28, 1978, 44 Fed. Reg. 1053. 

The regulations issued by EEOC in 1981 provide no guidance to states and local
ities as to the circumstances in which a mandatory retirement age of less than 70 
years of age can be established and enforced as a BFOQ under section 4(D(1) of the 
ADEA. Furthermore, EEOC's regulations are designed to require case-by-case adju
dication of the validity of any mandatory retirement age which is less than 70, in
cluding retirement ages for police officers and firefighters: 

Whether occupational qualifications will be deemed to be "bona fide" to a specific 
job and "reasonably necessary to the normal operation of the particular business," 
will be determined on the basis of all the pertinent facts surrounding each particular 
situation. 29 C.F.R. Section 1625.6(a) (emphasis added). 
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That EEOC has interpreted section 4(fl of the ADEA as providing for case-by-case 
litigation on a standard less basis of every case involving an effort by state or local 
government to establish a mandatory early retirement age for public safety employ
ees as a BFOQ is underscored by the following provision of the regulations: 

An employer asserting a BFOQ defense has the burden of proving that (l) the age 
limit is reasonably necessary to the essence of the business, and either (2) that all or 
substantially all individuals excluded from the job involved are in fact disqualified, 
or (3) that some of the individuals so excluded possess a disqualifying trait that 
cannot be ascertained except by reference to age. If the employer's objective in Cl$

serting a BFOQ is the goal of public safety, the employer must provide that the chal
lenged practice does indeed effectuate that goal and that there is no acceptable alter
native which would better advance it or equally advance it with less discriminatory 
impact. 29 C.F.R. Section 1625.6(b) (emphasis added). 

The regulations provide no further guidance as to the circumstances in which a 
BFOQ can be established under the ADEA despite the fact that Congress authorized 
the use of BFOQ's "reasonably necessary to the normal operation of a particular 
business." EEOC's failure to promulgate regulations defining permissible BFOQ's 
has adversely affected the "normal operation" of city police and fire departments by 
creating uncertainty and confusion as to the circumstances in which mandatory 
early retirement ages can be utilized and underscores the need for a change in the 
underlying statute. 

ROLE OF THE COURTS 

The courts have not done any better than the EEOC, failing to develop readily 
applicable and understandable standards under section 4(f)(ll of the ADEA which 
define the circumstances in which age may be used as a "bona fide occupational 
qualification reasonably necessary to the normal operation of the particular busi
ness." 29 U.S.C. Section 623(f)(l). As a result, the "standards" for the utilization of 
age as a BFOQ are being established on a case-by-case basis. See EEOC v. St Paul, 
500 F. Supp. 1135 (D.C. Minn. 1980) (mandatory retirement age of 65 for uniformed 
employees of fire department is not a BFOQ); Adams v. James, 526 F. Supp. 80 (M.D. 
Ala. 1981) (mandatory retirement age of 60 for state troopers is not a BFOQ); Orzel. 
v. Wauwatosa Fire Dep't, 697 F.2d 743 (7th Cir. 1983) (mandatory retirement age of 
55 for firefighters is not a BFOQ); Campbell v. Connalie, 542 F. Supp. 275 (N.D. N.Y. 
1982) (mandatory retirement age of 55 for state police is not a BFOQ); EEOC v. Min
neapolis, 537 F. Supp. 750 (D.C. Minn. 1982) (mandatory retirement age of 65 for 
police captains is not a BFOQ). But see EEOC v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 
596 F.2d 1333 (M.D. Pa. 1984) (mandatory retirement age of 60 for state policemen is 
a BFOQ); Morgan v. Dep't of Offender Rehabilitation. 305 S.E. 2d 130 (1983) (manda
tory retirement age of 65 for state correctional officers is a BFOQ); Mahoney v. Tra
bucco. 738 F.2d 35 (lst Cir. 198'1) (mandatory retirement age of 50 for state police is 
a BFOQ); EEOC v. Missouri State Highway Patrol, 748 F.2d 447 (8th Cir. 1984) (ma
datory retirement age of 60 for state troopers is a BFOQ). 

If Congress does not exempt public safety employees from the ADEA. lawsuits 
may well be necessary in each case in which a state or local government establishes 
a mandatory early retirement age for public safety personnel. Two recent Supreme 
Court decisions interpreting the BFOQ provision of' the ADEA have added to the 
confusion and further restricted the circumstances in which mandatory early retire
ment ages can be established for police officers and firefighers. In fact, prior to 
these Supreme Court decisions, many city officials believed that mandatory early 
retirement rules for public safety employees could be established under the ADEA's 
BFOQ provision. 

In Western Air Lines, Inc. v. Criswell, 105 S.Ct. 2743 (1985), the Supreme Court 
established rules for the courts to use in applying the BFOQ exception in cases in 
which the employer claims that an early retirement age is justified by fuctors such 
as safety. At issue in the case was whether an airline could establish a mandatory 
retirement age for flight engineers of 60 without making arl individualized determi
nation of the employee's fitness to work as a flight engineer beyond that age. 

In Johnson v. Mayor and City Council of Baltimore. 105 S.Ct. 2717 (1985), a relat
ed case decided on the same day which involved a mandatory retirement age of 55 
for firefighters, the Supreme Court ruled that a federal statute mandating the re
tirement of' federal firefighters at the age of 55 was not relevant in determining 
whether a mandatory retirement age of 55 for city firefighters was valid under the 
BFOQ exception to the ADEA. 

Instead, the Supreme Court ruled 9 to 0 in an opinion by Justice Thurgood Mar
shall, that it would be "remiss, in light of Congress' indisputable intent to permit 
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deviations from the mandate of the ADEA only in light of a particularized, factual 
showing ... to permit nonfederal employers to circumvent this plan by mere cita
tion to an unrelated statutory provision that is not even mentioned in the ADEA." 

Instead, the Supreme Court ruled in the Baltimore case that the relevant stand
ards for determining whether the BFOQ exception is a valid defense are set forth in 
the Western Airlines case and cannot be derived by analogy from a federal statute 
establishing a mandatory retirement age for similarly situated federal employees. 

In the Western Airlines case, the defendant airline sought a ruling that age could 
be used as a BFOQ if the employer could establish "'a rational basis in fact' for 
believing that identification of those persons lacking suitable qualifications cannot 
occur on an individualized basis." If this standard had been adopted by the Court, 
an employer would not have been required to make an individualized showing of the 
employee's lack of fitness to continue working. 

In an 8 to 0 ruling, the Supreme Court, in an opinion written by Justice Paul 
Stevens, ratified a strict standaYd developed by the lower courts for determining the 
validity of an early retirement age under the BFOQ exception, relying primarily on 
a 1976 ruling by the Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit in the Usery v. Tamiami 
Trail Tours, Inc., 531 F.2d 224 (5th Cir. 1976), case. Under the standard established 
by the Supreme Court in the Western Airlines case, an ~!mployer must base an early 
retirement age on one of two specified safety-related grounds. 

First, the employer may establish a mandatory early retirement age if there was 
a "factual basis for believing, that all or substantially all [persons over a maximum 
age] would be unable to perform safely and efficiently the duties of the job in
volved." Second, an employer may use age as a BFOQ if it can be established that 
"age was a legitimate proxy for the safety-related job qualifications by proving that 
it is 'impossible or impractical' to deal with the older employees on an individual
ized basis." 

In either case, the question is one which must be resolved by a jury. According to 
the Supreme Court, "Congress expressly decided that problems involving age dis
crimination in employment should be resolved on a 'case-by-case basis' by proof to a 
jury." 

In other words, the employer must convince a jury that medical testing is imprac
tical or that there is a "substantial basis of believing that all or nearly all employ
ees above an age lack the qualifications required for the position." The Supreme 
Court's rulings in the Baltimore and Wl?stern Airlines cases mean that mandatory 
early retirement ages will be overturned unless one of the two tests established in 
the Western Airlines case is met to the satisfaction of a jury. 

In each of these cases-as well as countless other cases-litigation will be neces
sary to determine whether or not the mandatory retirement age qualifies as a 
BFOQ under the ADEA. In fact, there are already numerous lawsuits pending 
which were brought against state and local governments by EEOC and other parties 
concerning the validity under the ADEA of mandatory early retirement ages for 
public safety personnel. See Exhibit A. 

CONCLUSION 

NLC strongly urges the enactment of legislation exempting state and local public 
safety employees from the ADEA. Congress has determined that federal firefighters 
and police officers may be required to retire at age 55. 5 U.S.C. Section 8335(b). 
Similarly, it requires air traffic controllers to retire by the age of 56. 5 U.S.C. Sec
tion 8335(a). The case for state and local authority to establish similar requirements 
for police officers and firefighters is no less compelling. 

Legislation to exempt public safety employees from the ADEA is supported by 
both employer and employee groups. It is essential that Congress act immediately to 
eliminate the problems the ADEA is causing for the operation of police and fire de
partments and for police officers and firefighters. We urge immediate action on leg
islation which is I1Urrowly crafted and limited to the public safety issue and are op
posed to any effort to broaden the legislation to include other provisions. 

EXHIBIT A.-PARTIAL LIST OF ADEA LAWSUITS FILED BY EEOC 

EEOC v. City of Allen Park, No. 79-72986 (W.D. Mich., filed July 25, 1979) (man
datory retirement age of 57 for municipal police officers and firefighters). 

EEOC v. Janesville and State of Wisconsin, No. 79-481 (W.D. Wisc., filed Oct. 19, 
1979) (mandatory retirement age of 65 for "protective occupations"). 
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EEOC v. Marathon County Sheriff's Dep't and State of Wisconsin, No. 79-599 
(W.D. Wis., filed Dec. 11, 1979) (state law mandating retirement at age 55 for state 
and local police officers). 

EEOC v. City of St Paul and State of Minnesota, No. 3-79-630 (D. Minn., filed 
Dec. 18, 1979) (state law mandating retirement for all firefighters at age 65). 

EEOC v. State of Louisiana and Louisiana State University, No. 80-0280 (E.D. La., 
filed March 28, 1980) (state law mandating retirement at age 65 of state employees 
engaged in public safety occupations). 

EEOC v. City of Clintonville, No. 80-C-708 (E.D. Wisc., filed Aug. 1, 1980) (manda
tory retirement age of 57 for the city's police chief). 

EEOC v. City of Ecorse, No. 80-7-3383 (E.D. Mich., filed Sept. 4, 1980) (mandatory 
retirement age of 60 for municipal fire chief). 

EEOC v. City of Fort Smith, No. FS-C-80-2158 (W.D. Ark., filed Sept. 17, 1980) 
(mandatory retirement age of 62 for city's assistant fire chief and fire captain). 

EEOC v. County of Dane, No. 80-C-578 (W.D. Wisc., filed Nov. 3, 1980) (mandatory 
retirement age of 60 for county law enforcement personnel). 

EEOC v. City of Altoona, No. 80-418 (W.D. Pa., filed March 18, 1981) (state law 
mandating retirement of oldest firefighters first in any economically necessary per
sonnel cutbacl;;). 

EEOC v. City of Hamtramck, No. 81-71353 (E.D. Mich., filed April 29, 1981) (man
datory retirement after 30 years of service for chief of city's fire department). 

EEOC v. City of Lansing, No. G81-281 <W.D. Mich., filed May 28, 1981) (mandato
ry retirement age of 60 for municipal firefighters). 

EEOC v. State of Wyoming, No. C81-0180 (D. Wyo., filed Jul)- 9, 1981) (state law 
mandating retirement at age 65 for any state or local employee who is a member of 
the state retirement system). 

EEOC v. City of Riverview, No. 81-72427 (E.D. Mich., filed July 16, 1981) (manda
tory retirement age of 50 for police officers after 25 years of service). 

EEOC v. Town of Chesterton, No. H-81-398 (N.D. Ind., filed July 7, 1981) (manda
tory retirement age of 60 for law enforcement personnel). 

EEOC v. City of Highland Park, No. 81-27260 (E.D. Mich., filed August 8, 1981) 
(mandatory retirement age for city police chief). 

EEOC v. City of Houston, No. H-81-2485 (S.D. Tex., filed Sept. 25, 1981) (mandato
ry retirement age of 65 for all fire department personnel). 

EEOC v. State of Michigan, No. G81-756-CA5 (W.D. Mich., filed Sept. 3, 1981) 
(state law mandating retirement of state police officers at age 56). 

EEOC v. City of Minneapolis and Minnesota Police Relief Association, No. 4-81-
660 (D. Minn., filed Oct. 9, 1981) (mandatory retirement age of 65 for police captain). 

EEOC v. Missouri State Highway Patrol, No. 82-4129-CV-C-5 (W.D. Mo., filed 
July 7, 1982) (mandatory retirement age of 60 for state troopers). 

EEOC v. City of Newcastle and Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, No. 82-1881 
(W.D. Pa., filed Sept. 9, 1982) (state law requiring that the oldest firefighters be re
tired first if there is a reduction in force). 

EEOC v. City of Portland, No. 83-50 (D. Ore., filed Jan. 13, 1983) (mandatory re
tirement age of 65 for police captains). 

EEOC v. Pennsylvania State Police, No. 83-0321 (M.D. Pa., filed May 9, 1983) 
(state law mandating retirement at age 60 for state police officers). 

EEOC v. City of Knoxville, No. 3-83-364 (KD. Tenn., filed June 13, 1983) (manda
tory retirement age of 60 for police officers and firefighters after 25 years of serv
ice). 

EEOC v. Indiana Dep't of Natural Resources, No. IP83-858-C (S.D. Ind., filed June 
27, 1983) (state law mandating retirement of state conservation law enforcement 
personnel at age 60). 

EEOC v. California Office of State Marshall, No. 5-83-8156-LKK (E.D. Cal., filed 
July 28, 1984) (mandatory retirement age of 65 for state fire marshals). 

EEOC v. City of New Castle, No. 83-1899 (W.D. Pa., filed Aug. 11, 1983) (mandato
ry retirement age of 65 for police officers). 

EEOC v. California Public Employees Retirement System, No. 83-943-MLS (E.D. 
Cal., filed Aug. 22, 1983) (state law mandating retirement of municipal public safety 
personnel at age 60). 

EEOC v. Indiana State Police, No. IP-83-1207··C (S.D. Ind., filed Aug. 29, 1983) 
(state law mandating retirement of state police officers at age 55). 

EEOC v. Mississippi State Tax Commission, No. J83-0717(B) (D.D. Miss., filed 
Sept. 9, 1983) (mandatory retirement age of 65 for revenue inspectors and enforce
ment officers). 

Crevier v. City of East Providence, No. 83-0470-S (D. R.I.I, intervenor motion filed 
on Sept. 28, 1983) (mandatory retirement age of 65 for police department personnel). 
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EEOC v. City of Pittsburgh, No. 83-2712 (W.D. Pa., filed Oct. 27, 1983) (mandatory 
retirement age of 65 for police officers). 

EEOC v. Port of Portland, No. 83-1821 (D. Ore., filed Nov. 29, 1983) (mandatory 
retirement age of 60 for firefighters). 

EEOC v, State of New York, No. 84-CV-12 (N.D. N.Y., filed Dec. 12, 1983) (manda
tory retirement age of 55 or 60 depending on rank for state police). 

EEOC v. State of Florida, No. 84-7039-WS (N.D. Fla., filed Feb. 6, 1984) (mandato
ry retirement age of 62 for state highway patrol officers). 

EEOC v. BOl'Ougl. uf Coraopolis, No. 84-736 (W.D. Pa., filed March 26, J.984) (state 
law mandating the retirement of the oldest firefighters during a reduction in force/. 

EEOC v. Sayad, No. 84-0894-C(3) (E.D. Mo., filed April 18, 1984) (mandatory re
tirement age of 65 for St. Louis police officers). 

EEOC v. County of Los Angeles, No. 84-3181-KN (MCX) (mandatory retirement 
age of 60 for public safety personnel). 

EEOC v. New Mexican State Police, No. 84-797-BB (D. N. Mex., filed May 21, 
1984) (state law mandating the retirement of state police personnel at age (2). 

EEOC v. New York City Housing Authority, No. 84-CIV-4547 (S.D. N.Y" filed 
June 27, 1984) (mandatory retirement age of 63 after 20 years of service for housing 
authority police). 

EEOC v. Commonwealth of Massachusetts, No. 84-2595-MA (D. Mass., filed Aug. 
22, 1984) (mandatory retirement age of 65 for municipal firefighters). 

EEOC v. Commonwealth of Kentucky, No. CA-8'1-62 (B.D. Ky., filed Aug. 29, 1984) 
(state law mandating the retirement of state police officers at age 55). 

EEOC v. City of St. Lout's, No. 84-2063-C(5) (E.D. Mo" filed Aug. 29, 1984) (manda
tory retirement age of 60 for firefighters). 

EEOC v. City of Yon/lers, No. 84-CIV-6831 (S.D. N.Y" filed Sept. 21, 1984) (manda
tory retirement age of 64 for police and firefighters). 

Hon. MA'l'THEW G, MARTINEZ, 

NATIONAL GOVERNORS' ASSOCIATION, 
Hall of the States, Washington, DC, March 10, 1986. 

Chairman, Subcommittee on Employment Opportunities, 
Washington, DC. 

DEAR MR. CHAIRMAN: At the 1983 annual meeting of the National Governors' As
sociation, the Governors adopted policy urging changes in the Age Discrimination in 
Employment Act to permit state and local governments to establish hiring and re
tirement criteria consistent with the public safety. A copy of the policy is enclosed. 
HR 1435, on which a March 12 Subcommittee hearing has been set, will take care of 
the problem we identified. 

NGA strongly opposes discrimination of any kind. However, we believe just as 
firmly that state and local governments must do all they can to assure the safety of 
the public. To this end, many states have established requirements affecting the re
tirement and entry ages of firefighters and law enforcement personnel. According 
to research undertaken by the staff of the sponsors, Mr. Hughes and Mr. Rinaldo, at 
least thirty-two states established such restrictions. 

The Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 makes it unlawful for an em
ployer to discriminate against any employee or potential employee between the ages 
of 40 and 70 on the basis of age, except "where age is a bona fide occupational quali
fication reasonably necessary to the normal operation of the particular business, or 
where the differentiation is based on reasonable factors other than age." In 1974, 
the definition of "employer" was extended to include state and local governments. 
However, federal law enforcement officers were excluded from coverage, and man
datory retirement requirements are in effect for federal firefighters, traffic control
lers, the FBI, the Secret SerVice, and federal prison employees, 

The current situation has spawned costly lawsuits at the state and local level, 
adding to the expenses in~urred by those states which are reviewing their occupa
tional qualifications standards to comply with the federal requirements. One state, 
West Vi.rginia, reported that it had already spent almost $80,000 on the job stand
ards review and in the meantime had paid more than $60,000 to settle lawsuits 
stemming from the ADEA. Government jurisdictions in twenty-one other states face 
similar lawsuits. 

We believe that the rationale for exempting federal public safety officials from 
the ADEA is equally perSUasive in support of an exemption of state and local public 
safety employees, Moreover, we believe that the federal government should avoid 
dictating the employment dt~cisions of the states, even if it were willing to apply the 
same standards to its own workers. 
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HR 1435 strikes an excellent balance between the imperative of eliminating em
ployment discrimination and the need to ensure the public safety. I urge the Sub
committee to favorably report HR 1435 at the earliest possible time. 

Sincerely 
RAYMOND C. SCHEPPACH, Executive Director. 

Enclosure. 

A-11.-RETIREMEN'l' AND HIRING PROVISIONS AFFECTING STATE PUBLIC SAFETY 
OF~'ICIALS 

The SupHlme Court recently held in EEOC v. Wyoming that the federal Age Dis
crimination in Employment Act covers state and local governments as a valid e:.er
cise of Congress' commerce power. This 5-4 decision invalidated those states' stat
utes which require certain law enforcement officers to retire at age 55. In so ruling, 
the Court also rendered invalid state and municipal statutes which make retirement 
prior to age 70 mandatory for their law enforcement and lor fire fighting officials. 
The decision also has implications for states and municipalities which set maximum 
hiring ages for certain types of employment. 

The National Governor's Association believes that federal policy in this area is 
inconsistent because it exempts certain federal law enforcement officials while man
dating state compliance. The Association believes, further, that establishing employ
ment criteria and selecting employees are traditional functions of state government 
which should be limited only by constitutional requirements. Finally, the Associa
tion believes that tl:e public has the right to expect that both its federal and state 
law enforcement officers are capable of adequately performing their duties to insure 
protection of the public safety. Safeguarding this right may require the use of sys
tems which could include retirement to those officials at under 70 years of age and 
use of maximum hiring age requirements. 

The National Governors' Association urges adoption of legislation which exempts 
state law enforcement officials from the provisions of the Age Discrimination in Em
ployment Act, thereby permitting states to establish hiring and retireQ1ent criteria 
consistent with public health and safety. 

Adopted August 1983. 

Hon. MA'l"l'HEW J. RINALDO, 

STATE OF ILLINOIS, 
DEPARTMENT OF STATE POLICE, 

Springfield, IL, March 6: 1986. 

U.S. Congressman, House Aging Committee, Washington, DC. 
DEAR CONGRESSMAN RINALDO: I would like to take this opportunity to advise you 

that the Illinois Department of State Pdice supports HR 1435. The Department sup
ports not only this particular piece of legislation, but also supports any other efforts 
to exclude or exempt police agencies from the Age Discrimination in Employment 
Act of 1976. 

This legislation is necessary to help ensure the safety of the public in general and 
police officers in particular. We must all be confident that police officers are capable 
of performing the strenuous and stressful tasks with which they are often chal
lenged. It this department should be forced to comply with the Age Discrimination 
in Employment Act of 1967, such a standard of safety would be compromised. 

Additionally, to not exclude state law enforcement officers from the Act would be 
inconsistent with the exemption of certain police officers on the federal level. Con
sistent application of safety principles as discussed above requires the exemption of 
all law enforcement officers from the Act, 

For these reasons, BR 1435 contains provisions which must become law. Your con
sideration and support of this legislation is appreciated. 

Very truly yours, 
JAMES B. ZAGEL, Director. 

(By) JAMES A. FINLEY, Deputy Superintendent/Legislative Liaison. 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CHIEFS OF POLICE 

The International Association of Chiefs of Police (IACPl would like to thank 
Chairman Martinez and the members of the Subcommittee on Employment Oppor
tunities for providing us with the opportunity to submit our views on the proposed 
amendments to the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA1. Because our 
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main concern is with H.R. 1435, the public safety officers amendment, we have re
stricted our comments to that measure. 

The IACP is a voluntary professional organization established in 1893. It is com
prised of chiefs of police and other law enforcement personnel from all sections of 
the United States and more than sixty nations. Command personnel within the 
United States constitute over seventy-five percent of the more than 13,500 members. 
Throughout its existence, the IACP has striven to achieve proper, conscientious and 
resolute law enforcement. Ia all of its activities, the IACP has been constantly de
voted to the steady advancement of the Nation's best welfare and well-being. We 
address this subcommittee on behalf of the vast majority of our members who be
lieve that the public's safety can be better protected if State and local governments 
have the authority to control age requirements for their own law enforcement per
sonnel. 

Let me first commend Representatives Hughes and Rinaldo for their efforts in in
troducing H.R. 1435. We believe that when Congress amended the ADEA in 1978, 
extending its application to the States, it did not intend for law enforcement agen
cies to be affected. Unfortunately, these agencies have been affected. 

Congress was well aware ofthe demands placed on law enforcement officers when 
it authorized mandatory retirement of Federal law enforcement officers. Its intent, 
as indicated in legislative history, was "based on the nature of the work involved 
and the determination that (Jaw enforcement and fire fighting agencies) should be 
composed, insofar as possible of young men and women physically capable of meet
ing the vigorous demands of occupations which are far more' taxing physically than 
most in the Federal service. They are occupations calling for the strength and stam
ina of the young, rather than the middle aged." (So Rep. No. 93-948, 93d Congo 2nd 
Sess. (1974) reprinte'd in 1974 in U.S. Code Congo and Ad. News 3699, 3701.) 

Congress attempted to achieve the goal of a younger, more active and mOl'e vigi
lant law enforceme'nt and fil'efighting work force first by encouraging older officers 
to retire early. This was done through an attractive pension program. Congress soon 
learned. however. that this was only pat'tially effective. In many cases the most 
ale'rt and agressive employees found desirable jobs outside of Government and re
tired in their early fifties. Those who were less vigorous and less capeble and there
fore unable to find other employment tended to stay within the Federal service 
until much late'r in the'ir lives. State and local law enforcement agencies are faced 
with this same problem if they attempt to encourage, rather than mandate, early 
retirement. 

In Equal Employment Opportunity Commission V. W:vomillg. the U.S. Supreme 
Court held that the ADEA doe'S in fact apply to to State and local governments. 
Prio!' to that time most law enforcement agencies had established retirement sched
ules demanding the retire'ment of personnel somewhere between the ages of 50 to 
75. Mmlt also had policies setting a maximum hiring age. Subsequent to Wyoming 
many of these agencies have be'en forced to abandon these policies. 

Clearly, when Congress e'xtended the ADEA to State and local governments in 
1978, it did not intend to hamper Stat~ and local law enforcement agencies. The act 
contains an exce'ptioll, recognized in Wyoming allowing e,nployers: 

(1) To take any action otherwise prohibited under subsections (a), (b), (c), or (e) of 
this section where age is a bona fide occupational qualification reasonably necessary 
to the normal operation of the particular business, 01' where the differentiation is 
based on ,,:,'usonable factors other than age. 29 U.S.C. § 623(f)(1) 

This is commonly termed the BFOQ exception. Congress apparently believed that 
compulsory retirement in law enforcement agencies would fall within the BFOQ. In 
the legislative history of the 197R amendments it stated: 

The committee intends to make clear that under this legislation an employer 
would not be required to retain anyone who is not qualified to perform a particular 
job. For e'xample, in certain types of particularly arduous law enforcement activity, 
the'l'e may be a factual basis for believing that substantially all employees above a 
specified age' would be unable to continue to perform safely and efficiently the 
duties of their particular jobs, and it may be impossible 01' impractical to determine 
through medical e'xaminations, periodic reviews of current job performance and 
other obje'ctive tests the employee'S' capacity or ability to continue to perform the 
jobs safely and efficiently. 

Accordingly, the committee adopted an amendment to make it clear that where 
these two conditions are satisfied and where such a bona Iide occupational qualifica
tion has therefore been e'stablished, an employer may lawfully require mandatorr 
retirement at that specified age. The committee also expressed its concern that liti
gation should not be the sole means of determining the validity of a bona fide occu
pational qualification. Although the Secretary is pre'sently empowered to issue advi-
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sory opinions on the applicability of BFOQ exception, the committee recommended 
that the Secretary examine the feasibility of issuing guidelines to aid employers in 
determining the applicability of section ,!(tX!) to their particular situations. 

S. Rep. No. 94-493, 95th Congo 2nd Sess. (1978) reprinted in 1978 in U.S. Code 
Congo and Ad. News, 513-14. 

Unfortunately, although Congress' intellt is clear in the legislative history, it was 
not explicitly stated in the statute. Since the statute appears clear and unambig
uous on its face, courts have not looked at the legislative history, Consequently, law 
enforcement has been tl'eated as any other occupation by the courts. 

What has resulted is that law enforcement agencies have had to justify their 
hiring and retirement policies on a case-by-case basis. This is an expensive and time 
consuming duplication of effort. Furthermore, conflicting judicial holdings have cre
ated a nightmare of chaos and confusion in State and local law enforcement agen
cies. While some agencies have had the resoUrces needed to successfully prove that 
their age limits are a BFOQ, other similar agencies have not. 

Police work is often active, physical and stressful. An officer's duties may involve 
handling verbal and physical resistance from suspects such as violent drunks or 
fleeing suspects. Apprehending a suspect may necessitate a chase during which the 
officer must drive at high speeds, maneuvering his vehicle through tramc. He may 
also become involved ill a foot chase. III addition officers may be called upon to 
carry citizens to safety at an accident scen\) or to push a disabled vehicle or one that 
is stuck in the snow. 

Even officers assigned to desk jobs may become involved in these situations. Any 
officer may be called out in an emergency. Furthermore, most officers are assigned 
a fully equipped law enforcement vehicle which is used in travelling to and from 
work. All officers, regardless of rank or assignment are required to handle any situ
ation they encounter while in their vehicles-violations of traffic laws, someone 
committing a felony in their presence, (I life threatening situation, et cetera. 

It is a logical and necessary part of a successful law E'nforcement personnel pro
gram that officers not be past the age of effective physical reaction and perform
ance. An officer may place both his life and the lives of others in considerable 
danger if he is unable to react quickly, physically and appropriately. No amount of 
lltness training can compensate for the natural decline in physical ability that 
comes with age. 

Aerobic capacity, which refers to an individual's abililty to utilize oxygen, depends 
on the efficiency of the individual's lungs and cardiovascular system. This is very 
important in physical activity such as chasing a suspect or pushing a car. A reduc
tion in ae.·obic capacity means that the oxygen supply is insuflicient, which in turn 
reduces the ability of the muscles to work without fatigue. When the oxygen supply 
is insufficient an individual's muscles utilize an emergency reserve, a special metab
olism by which the muscles generate their own energy, Using this emergency re
serve, however. generates only limited muscuJar function, rapidly induces fatigues. 
and requires more time to recover from the exertion. 

Generally, an individual loses about ten percent of his aerobic capacity each 
decade after age twenty: thus, by age sixty, he will have lost approximately thirty
five to forty percent. Although sustained exercise for twenty to thirty minutes, 
three times per week at sixty percent of maximum aerobic capabity, can increase an 
individual's capacity, the maximum increase is ten percent. Moreover, interruptions 
in training such as those caused by illness l'esult in a loss of whatever benefit was 
gained by exercise, 

Thus, as individuals age, physiological changes affect their ability to perform. The 
body's ability to make efficient use of oxygen declines, with a resulting decline in 
physical stamina. In addition, muscle strength, an isometric fUnction, which is in
volved in pushing, pulling, and carrying, declines as a person ages. In addition, the 
aging process affects an individual's reaction time, hearing, and vision. This mani
fests itself, for example, in an individual's inabililty to adapt to sudden changes in 
lighting, such as the glare from headlights. 

Coronary heart disease offers another potential problem for older law enforce
ment officers. Although I.\ge does not cause coronary heart disease, data reveals an 
increase in the number of initial discoveries of coronary heart disease as age in
creases. The average number of discoveries for the general popUlation for persons 
thirty to thirty-nine is four per thousand. It is ten per thousand by age fifty and 
twenty per thousand by age sixty-a rate five times higher than that for persons 
thirty to thirty-nine. Latent coronary heart disease presents the danger that, in 
times of stress, such as sudden exertion in cold weather or during a confrontation, 
an officer's adrenaline response may push him into total body coUapde from fatigue 
or may cause a heart attack. 

I 
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There is no single test or battery of tests that safely measures an officer's ability 
to perform his duties and that identifies, with reasonable accuracy, the presence of 
coronary artery disease. Laboratory tests cannot recreate safely the stressful, some
times lil'e-threatening, situations in which law enforcement officers work. Officers 
will know that a test cannot be truly life-threatening. Some tests that might be 
used, such as pushing a cal' on a very ~old day, carry unacceptably high risks of 
physical harm to the oft1cers being tested. Preparation of' the individual to be exam
ined can also affect the reliability of testing. For example, persons who take their 
blood pressure medication shortly before an examination may show a satisfactory 
blood pressure level on the day of the examination even though they have not been 
taking the medication regularly. 

If departments are denied the right to set their own ~'qe requirements, there will 
be economic costs. All governmental bodies provide pH.lions for public safety offi
cers who retire, with increased pensions going to officers disabled in the line of 
duty. Keeping officers on after their age has made it more difficult and hazardous 
for them to perform increases the chance that thA officer will be injured while on 
duty. Physical traumas that can be absorbed by younger officers may be major prob
lems for older omcers. State and local governments, many of which are struggling 
to remain solvent, cannot afford to bear the extra cost of paying disability pensions 
to officers who should have been retired earlier. Supreme Court Justice Powell was 
correct when he wrote in his concurrence in E.E.O.C. v. W.yoming: "I also believe, 
contrary to the popular view, that the burdens imposed on the national economy by 
legislative prohibitions against mandatory retirement on account of age exceed the 
potential benefits." 

In the experience of a majority of public safety agencies, early retirement is 
viewed as t\ positive reward and is initially an incentive for employment. An early 
retirement with a very favorable pension is perceived by new employees as compen
sation for the rigors and demands of this stressful occupation. An officer's growth in 
an organization and his plans l'ot' the futUre hinge on the stability of retirement at a 
predetermined point in his life. 

As officers approach the age of compulsory retirement or have completed the 
maximum number of years of service, they begin to fear leaving the security of the 
workplace they have gone to for twenty-five years or so. Early retirement and the 
job opportunities made available by it, which were once attractive, lose their appeal 
when weighed against the uncertainty of leaving. Yet it was precisely those things 
that made their careers as rewarding as they could be. 

In Vance v. Bradley, 440 U.S. 93 (1979>, the United States Supreme Court upheld 
legislation which permitted Foreign Service personnel to be retired at age 60. It rec
ognized a legitimate and substantial Government interest in recruiting! training 
and assuring the professional competence, as well as the mental and phy<::cal reli
ability, of the corps of public servants who hold positions critical to our foreign rela
tions. This interest was furthered by the compulsory retirement of employees, the 
Court held, because it created predictable promotion opportunities and thus spurred 
morale and stimulated superior performance in the ranks. 

Another factor that should be considered by this subcommittee is the impact on 
minority groups and women, if compulsory retirement is not permitted. Affirmative 
action goals established by the States will, to some extent, be nullified. Currently, 
the typical public safety pension plan mandates retirement at age 55. If officers 
must now be retained to age 70, fewer retirements will occur over the next fifteen 
years. With fewer retirements, a law enforcement agency's authorized strength will 
not be depleted to the point which has historically allowed for the start of one or 
two recruit classes per year. In one State, law enforcement agencies currently oper
ating under a consent decree, recruit training classes are made up of at least 33 1/3 

percent minorities and women. Clearly, the progress that has been made in the area 
of affirmative action will come to a halt. Furthermore, those minorities and women 
who are already in place in a public safety organization will not be denied the op
portUnity to advance to positions of higher responsibility, sinco fewer such positions 
will be available. In light of the above-stated facts, the IACP urges Congress to pass 
H.R. 1435. Only by exempting law enforcement from the A DEA will we be able to 
continue to provide our Nation's citi1,enry with the most qualified individuals to ful
fill the mission of guarding the public safety. 

Thank you for giving our views your consideration. 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE NATIONAL SHERIFFS' ASSOCIATION 

The National Sheriff's (NSA) is on record as supporting amendments to the Age 
Discrimination Act of 1967 which would allow the states and local units of govern
ment to determine for themselves the issue of age in the hiring and retirement for 
law enforcement officers. 

We endorse the legislation on this issue as proposed by Congressmen Hughes and 
Rinaldo and co-sponsored by numerous other Members including: Volkmer, Lungren 
and Rangel. We thank each one of these Congressmen for their concern about the 
problems faced by law enforcement on this issue. We look for their continued sup
port until this problem is remedied. 

While the NSA strongly opposes age discrimination, we believe that states and 
local units of government should be allowed to determine age requirements for their 
own public safety officers. The court decisions have made this increasingly difficult. 
That is why we look to Congress to enact this legislation. 

Let's examine the reasons that H.R. 1435 is needed: 

DIFFERENT STANDARDS FOR FEDERAL V. STATE AND LOCAL LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICIALS 

The federal government has legally set a different mandatory retirement age for 
its law enforcement personnel from that of other federal employees because of the 
very different duties of public safety officers. However, the state and local units of 
gO\.ernment are not permitted this same flexibility. This is arbitrary in our view 
and ul11'easonable as there is no distinction between the duties and responsibilities 
of the federal law enforcement officer and the local officer that justify the difference 
in treatment. 

PERFORMANCE ABILITIES AND AFFECTS OF AGE 

The job of the law enforcement officer Is different than that of other kinds of em
ployees. He is called upon to perform rigorous physical tasks to protect the life and 
property of citizens. In his capacity as a law enforcement officer, he needs to have 
this physical ability to apprehend a fleeing person or restrain a violent individual. 
Let us remember, the reason an officer is called is due to the fact that there is trou
ble. That trouble frequently requires the use of physical force. 

While we recognize that a standard based upon age alone may exclude some indi
viduals who could satisfactorily perform physically strenuous work, in our opinion, 
it is currently the most viable standard available to Us. 

A STATES RIGHTS ISSUE 

Federal protections against age discrimination interfere with state and local gov
ernments' ability to prescribe reasonable qualifications for their own public safety 
officers. There is a valid argument for allowing different jurisdictions to select the 
age of hiring and retirement based upon the differing crime problems in various 
parts of the country. In a rural area, a deputy sheriff may not face the same dan
gers or physical demands that an officer assigned to patrol in a major city would. 

We urge the Members of this Committee to take a balanced look at this issue
weighing the rights of the elderly alongside the right of every citizen to have the 

C; best protection that our society can offer them. 
Without the protection of this federal legislation, actions by states to enforce man

datory requirement will continue to be struck down by the courts. Elimination of 
mandatory retirement would inevitably result in a cadre of law enforcement officers 
who are physically unable to perform their public safety duties. 

Attached you will find a copy of the Resolution passed by the Membership of the 
National Sheriffs' Association urging Congress to pass this legislation. 

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, we thank you for the opportunity 
to submit written testimony on this important issue. 

RESOLUTION-AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT LEGISLATION 

Whereas, The National Sheriffs' Association is concerned about the Supreme 
Court decision in EEOC v. Wyoming (29 USC 623 (F) 1), striking down the rights of 
individual states to determine mandatory hiring and retirement ages for law en
forcement officers, and 

Whereas, the Congress has exempted the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the 
Armed Forces, and the Foreign Service from inclusion in the Age Discrimination in 
Employment Act, and 
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Whereas, the same rationale of public safety exist for state and local law enforce
ment officers to be excluded from restrictions of the Age Discrimination in Employ
ment Act; 

Now therefore be it resolved, That the National Sheriffs' Association in conven
tion assembled urges Congress to pass legislation which will return to the states the 
power to determine mandatory appointment and retirement ages for law enforce
ment officers. 

Adopted by General Session June 20, 1984. 

59-730 (108) 
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